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Chairman’s Statement

EREHE

Chairman £
Shi Kancheng  #e{fAk

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of China New City Commercial Development Limited (“China
New City” or “the Company”) and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”),
| am pleased to present the results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2014 (“the year under review”).

REVIEW OF RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December 2014, revenue of the Group was
approximately RMB209 million, representing a decrease of about 76.2%
from 2013. Gross profit was about RMB109 million, representing a
decrease of about 70.6% as compared to 2013. Profit attributable to
owners of the parent was approximately RMB477 million, representing an
increase of 30.7% when compared with 2013, while earnings per share
amounted to RMB0.32 with an increase of 10.3% over the year of 2013.
The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2014.
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MARKET AND BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2014, regulatory controls were implemented in the domestic real estate
market, amid ever changing market conditions, the Group persevered its
business principles of prudence and stability.

1. Contracted sales of property development

During the year under review, the Group had one project newly
launched for sale in the second half of 2014 and three projects
launched for subsequent sales. The new project was Jiarun Mansion
in International Office Center (“IOC”) project located in Qianjiang
Century City in Hangzhou while the three projects available for
subsequent sale were Zhong An Times Square (Phase ), Zhong An
Times Square (Phase Il) and Hidden Dragon Bay in Xiaoshan, their
total sales basically within our expectation. Contracted sales revenue
for the whole year of 2014 was approximately RMB235 million,
representing an increase of 168% from 2013; contracted sales
area for the year was about 21,534 square meter (“sg. m.”), or an
increase of 123% over 2013; average price of contracted sales was
around RMB10,913 per sg. m..

2. Property operation (property rental and
hotel operations)

The total area of properties currently under our operation is 208,000
sg. m.. In 2014, total operating income or rental income amounted
to approximately RMB138 million (2013: RMB138 million), which
was comparable with the figure in 2013.

3. Investment properties

As at 31 December 2014, the fair value of the investment properties
of the Group amounted to approximately RMB3,773 million with a
gross floor area (“GFA”) of approximately 227,841 sqg. m..
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PROSPECTS, DEVELOPMENT
STRATEGIES AND OUTLOOK

Looking ahead in 2015, the economy of China will continue to face
challenges, the global market conditions will continue to be uncertain, and
all the economic reform and structural adjustments currently in progress
are expected to be favourable for economic development. The policy of
urbanization presents a continuous growth potential for the real estate
industry. As risks and opportunities co-exist in the market at any moment,
we should look for opportunities out of risky moments. We trust that as
long as our products are suitable for the market and offer values beyond
their prices, the demand in the market will still be robust. The Group will
continue to maintain short term prudent and long term optimistic views.
We will actively seize opportunities in the market to achieve sustainable
development for the Group and bring a satisfactory return for the
shareholders (“Shareholders”) of the Company.

1. New team brought in, new systems
innovated

At the beginning of 2015, the Group has brought in a new team of
management. The new members of the team have rich experiences,
and have down to earth practical and operational experience in
commercial properties. The new team will bring in new ideas and
a new atmosphere. Currently, the new team is innovating new
management models and formulating development strategies. We
expect there will be great achievements under the leadership of the
new team.

2. Expansion of IOC project

Qianjiang Century City is located in an excellent geographical
location on the south bank of Qiantang River between Hangzhou
Xiaoshan International Airport and Hangzhou Express Rail Station,
and there is a subway directly connecting Xiaoshan International
Airport and Hangzhou Express Rail Station. With similar functions
as those of Honggiao hub in Shanghai, Qianjiang Century City
will be the future international business centre of Hangzhou. The
Group has acquired 160 mu land at a superb plot along the river
of Hangzhou Qianjiang Century City, which is also adjacent to
Hangzhou Olympic Sports Stadium for the creation of an integrated
commercial complex of approximately 800,000 sg. m.. The GFA
already constructed as at 31 December 2014 was 320,000 sq.
m., the Group has planned to further enlarge the land reserve in
Hangzhou Qianjiang Century City, and seek to increase the size of
|IOC project to around 1,250,000 sqg. m.. IOC project will become the
flagship integrated commercial complex of the Group as well as one
of the landmark integrated commercial complexes in Hangzhou.

2014 Annual Report
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3. To develop a group of 020 (Online to
Offline) integrated commercial complexes
at city, town and community level

As the government of China is proposing the development strategies
of new urbanization, the Group grasps that development opportunity
and timing to enter into the property development market of new
cities and towns in China with large potential. We intend to first go
to the eastern region, and then penetrate into the central region, and
to develop a group of O20 integrated commercial complexes at city,
town and community level, create the “China New City Commercial
City” brand, build an intelligent life integrating internet technologies
and business operation, focus on both the economic benefits and
social benefits, and explore a new model.

4. Prudent and diversified financial strategies

The Group will insist on its prudent financial strategies, cut
finance costs, optimize the debt structure, and maintain stable
and adequate cash flow to provide strong finance backup for the
business development of the Group. Meanwhile, by gradually setting
up an efficient investor relation management system, the Group will
develop long term interactive and good relationship with the capital
market and the media, ensure good transparency and corporate
governance level of the Group, promote the understanding,
recognition and support of the Group by the general public, and
strengthen the foundation of Shareholders.

Looking forward, the Group is committed to becoming one of the
most competitive commercial property developers in the Yangtze
River Delta region, realizing diversification and synergies in terms of
business and product mix, ensuring the sustainable development
of the Group, hence maximizing values and generating satisfactory
return for the Shareholders.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

At last, on behalf of the board (“Board”) of directors of the Company, |
would like to express my sincere gratitude to the support and trust of the
Shareholders and business partners as well as the dedicated efforts of all
the staff of the Group.

Shi Kancheng
Chairman

The PRC, 24 March 2015
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Investment Properties

REW=

As at 31 December 2014 72014412 431 H

Percentage
of interest
Existing use at GFA attributable to Lease term
31 December 2014 (sg. m.) the Group of land
Address H2014 5 EEEE FAEEENG g 1 0k
bk 12831 BNERBAE (FHK) HEBENEIL QR
1. Basement 1 to Level 15, Guomao Building, Shops and portion 12,225 81% Medium (Note)
No. 93 Shixin Road, Chengxiang Town, of it is vacant, b EA (BEE)
Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang and serviced
Province, the PRC apartments
FEDI AN T ER LB MRET O O35 MM nEE kR
BEEREMEIEEE15E BAAE
2. A retail shop unit on L1, Shanghai La Vie, No. Shop 341 90% Medium
433 Chang Le Road, Xuhui District, Shanghai, A7
the PRC
P DETIRER R 433 5% LR gEE A
F1E 1 [ERH
3. Portion of Level 1, the whole of Level 2 to Shops and portion of 5,913 90% Medium
Level 4, Integrated Service Center, East it is vacant A Hp
Xiaoran Road and Jinjiagiao Road, Xiaoshan
District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, the
PRC
FEUHIEMMNTRLULERAREEERE ®ENHH=
BARERBROE1BHEOME2EE4[E
4, Retail shop units of Level 1 to Level 5 in Shops and portion of 60,014 90% Medium
Block 2 to Block 5 of Highlong Plaza, Shanyin it is vacant FhHA
Road and Gongren Road, Xiaoshan District,
Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, the PRC
FEANTEMMNTRLRILBEMTARIE HHAHnze
BESE2REFESRIE1EESENEE
5. Office units in Block 2 of Highlong Plaza, Office and portion of 24,491 90% Medium
Shanyin Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, it is vacant m HA
Zhejiang Province, the PRC
FECIHIEMMTRLE LRKRERESSE HAENMHE
2RI AIBE L
6. Serviced apartment units in Block 3 and 4 of  Serviced apartments 21,094 90% Medium
Highlong Plaza, Shanyin Road and Gongren R R

Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang
Province, the PRC

FEINT A HN TR LR L BB T ARRE
BESEISRREIRZBERAE
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Investment Properties

REMF

As at 31 December 2014 72014412 A31 H

Percentage
of interest
Existing use at GFA attributable to Lease term
31 December 2014 (sg. m.) the Group of land

Address R2014 5 EEEE FEEENG g 1 0F
b3k 1231 BNREAZE (FHK) EEHEIE HBHR
7. Retail shop units of Level 1 to Level 2 (Phase Shops and portion of 10,885 90% Medium

1) and the whole block of No.43 commercial it is vacant =ap=ic

building (Phase 2), Landscape Garden,

Shushan Road and Panshui Road, Xiaoshan

District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, the

PRC

FEMNTANTR LR S LEMEKEL HEASnEE

IKFBEA BIEE 1 £ 5 2 [E R 3 e 58 2 HAHE IR 43

SR8
8. Retail shop units of Hidden Dragon Bay, Shops and portion of 24,328 92.5% Medium

Wenxing Village, Wenyan Town Xiaoshan it is vacant R HA

District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, the

PRC

FEUINIE MM TR REEREEENEE [BENSO=E

s
9. Blocks 2, 3, 4, and 6 of Hangzhou Vacant 68,550 100% Medium

International Office Centre, Ningwei Town, R EA

Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang
Province, the PRC

BT AN TR EERENMNERER =B
DRN2 3 4 K61
Total 485t 227,841

Note: Medium is defined as the term of land use rights granted remaining unexpired atthe  [fisT : REIE R AR FFERE - BHH L AEES
end of the financial year is less than 50 years but not less than 10 years. i Al A E R A NA 50 0 (BN 104 ©

REFETTEERRARAR —E-NFEFH 9



Major Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

FEBRRN SHENTEYE

% of interest

attributable
to the Group
Project City/District Location Project Type Actual/Expected completion dates 158
EEER st/ B BRI NERENE BB /BHRIAS EERENEAM
Zhejiang Province
HIg
1 Hidden Dragon Bay Xiaoshan, Hangzhou Centre of new districtin Tier 2 ¢ty Retall/office Apri 2013 92.5%
BEe fiM/&il il Eé/ e 2013545
2 Phase A, International Office Xiaoshan, Hangzhou Tier 2 city with high growth potential - Commercial Plot A3 expected to complete in 2015, 100%
Centre fiM,/& “RRER [ and Plot A1 and A2 expected to complete
BRHLRLAS in December 2017
ASEREH 01 FRT - RATRIA ERES
RoOITF12A%T
3 Phase B &C, Intenational Office ~ Xiaoshan, Hangzhou Tier 2 city with high growth potential - Commercial To be determined 100%
Centre i/ —ERkR i T
BRHARLBCH
4 Hangzhou Qiandao Lake Run Zhou  Qiandao Lake, Hangzhou  Tier 2 city with high growth potential - Hotel QOctober 2015 100%
Resort Hotel /T8 “RRER BE 015F 107
MATEBNEREE
5 Commercial portion of the Xiaoshan, Hangzhou Town centre of Tier 2 city Retal To be determined 90%/65.8%
Chaoyang Communty Site M /B ZRARRL i (7
HEHBMANEETH
Subtotal for Hangzhou
fuMnst
6 Zhong An Times Square Yuyao, Ningho Town centre of Tier 2 city Commercial/hotel November 2015 90%
(Phase | B /48 ZERERD A%/ s 15511 £
RRBERESH
7 Zhong An Times Square Yuyao, Ningbo Town centre of Tier 2 city Office/hotel November 2015 98%
(Phase I} B/ ZBHERD LR/ 155118
RRBERESZH
8 Cixi Ningbo Land Cixi, Ningbo Tier 2 city with high growth potential - Office/commercial March 2017 90%
BRI BN/ % REER ng /R 017437
Subtotal for Ningbo
BRG
Subtotal for Zhejiang
TN

10 ChinaNew City Commercial Development Limited 2014 Annual Report



Major Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

BIERER RHENTEYE
Land Bank (sq.m.)
THREE(THR)
Development Phases
Site Area Project Total GFA* RRRA
(sq.m,) GFA* (sq.m.) Held for future
HEEE EH Address @REFE"  Completed for sale® Under development 2 development?®
(FAX) g it (FA%) RIHE" CE G RlARERC
89,173 241,69 Wenxing Road, Wenyan Town, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang 143,067 143,067
Province
HraninsLEREERAR
92,610 798,795 Qlanjiang Gentury Town, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Znejiang 798,795 328,367 470428
Province
HramfmRLESI LN
207,390 1,098,065 Qlanjiang Century Town, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Znejiang 1,098,065 1,098,065
Province
FLANTRILES TR
119,328 46,628 Southwest of Qiandaohu Town, Chunan, Hangzhou, Zhejang Province 46,628 46,628
LANNTER TS HEER
46,703 199,224 Shushan Town, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province 199,224 199,224
FIAMNTRLERLEE
2,384,407 2,285,119 471,434 245,852 1,568,493
65,159 305,473 Xinjtan North Road, Yuyao, Zhejiang Province 305,473 305,473
IHTAARTITRLH
71,519 322,935 Xinjian North Road, Yuyao, Zhejiang Province 322,935 322,935
IHTAARTITRLH
49,804 143,559 Longshan New Town, Binghai District, Cidong, Cixi 143,059 143,559
Zhejiang Province
AR EER BRI
711,967 711,967 - 171,967
3,156,374 3,057,746 471,434 1,017,819 1,568,493

hEEFm T EEERAREAR —E-—mEsg 11



Major Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

FERRR RHENTEYE

% of interest

attributable
to the Group
Project City/District Location Project Type Actual/Expected completion dates 558
EEER 1 /8 BRI NEREME BB /BHRIAS EERENEAM
Anhui Province
e
9 \/G Hotl Huaibei, Anhui Centre of new dlistrict in Tier 3 ¢ty Hotel To be determined 100.0%
e 78/ =G BE e
Subtotal of Anhui
RN
Jiangsu Province
&Y
10 JiaRun Square Suzhou,Jiangsu Tier 2 city with high growth potential - Commercial December 2016 45%
3 T8/E e BE 216512/
Subtotal of Jiangsu
LA
Total
&3t
* including those with land use right and contractual interests
= including those with construction being completed but not sold and delivered

# Total GFA = D+@+O®

* BIECIS T AR REA G AR 2 T
** BEEBRTERHERXNHEEDS

# BEEAE=D+Q+0
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Major Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

BERER SHENTEYE
Land Bank (sq.m.)
THREE(THR)
Development Phases
Site Area Project Total GFA* RRRA
(sq.m,) GFA* (sq.m.) Held for future
HEEE EH Address @REFE"  Completed for sale® Under development 2 development?®
(FAR) ARSEE it (FA%) RIHE" EEGE RHARAER
60,768 67,061 Renmin Road, Xiangshan District, Huaibei, Anhui Province 67,061 67,061
ZHAELTALR AR
67,061 67,061 67,061
21367 261,301 Suzhou Indlustrial Park, Jiangsu Province 261,301 251,391
THEHINIZEE
251,301 251,301 251,301
3,474,826 3,376,198 471,434 1,336,271 1,568,493

REFETTEERRARAR —ZE-mEgF®R 13
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

In light of the new opportunities arising from urbanization, during the year
under review, the Group has entered into town urbanization non-binding
memorandums of understanding (“MOU”) for the proposed cooperation
in relation to the moderization of the agricultural industry in Tonglu
County and Taizhou, the introduction of Japanese agricultural industry
knowledge and techniques into the PRC, supply of agricultural products,
the provision of elderly management services in new towns in the PRC,
and the development of land in Lubu Town, Yuyao, Zhejiang Province, the
PRC and provision of related assistance in the planning of the development
thereof. The Group also signed a cooperation agreement with China
Development Bank in relation to the investment in, and the financing of
the urbanization and development of new towns in Zhejiang Province, the
PRC. All these efforts are made to capture the business and development
opportunities arising from the continued urbanization of towns and
counties in the PRC, particularly in relation to those towns and counties
the lands of which are to be developed by the Group. Further details of
these projects are set out in the prospectus (“Prospectus”) of the Company
dated 17 June 2014.

Sales review

For the year under review, the recognized sales of properties (sold and
delivered) was approximately RMB87 million (2013: RMB787 million).

For the year under review, the recognized sales area of properties was
approximately 8,598 sg. m. and the recognized average sales price was
RMB10,101 per sq. m..

Development of major projects

Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province
Hidden Dragon Bay

It is an integrated commercial complex located in Wenyan Town, Xiaoshan
District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang province with a total GFA of approximately
241,695 sqg. m. This project includes leisure mansions, serviced
apartments, large-scale shopping malls, street shops and car parking
spaces. Construction of the project was completed in April 2013.
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International Office Center (“IOC”)

IOC is a large-scale integrated commercial complex located in Qianjiang
Century City, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang province with a total
GFA under development of Plot A of approximately 800,000 sg. m. which
consists of Plots A1, A2 and A3. IOC Plot A includes a hotel, offices, a
shopping mall, serviced apartments and underground car parking spaces.
The GFA of the serviced apartments, shopping mall and underground
car parking spaces in Plot A3 is approximately 328,367 sg. m., which
construction project will be completed in 2015. 10C Plot A1 and A2 are
expected to be completed in December 2017.

Hangzhou Qiandao Lake Run Zhou Resort Hotel

It is a hotel project located in the southwest of Qiandaohu Town, Chunan
County, Hangzhou, Zhejiang province, with estimated total GFA of 37,028
sg. m.. The hotel will be built adjacent to Thousand-Islet Lake Passengers
Port which enjoys a beautiful lake view and natural habitat. As at 31
December 2014, the construction project was still under way, the project
is expected to be completed in October 2015.

Yuyao, Zhejiang province
Zhong An Times Square

It is a large-scale integrated commercial project located in Yuyao, Zhejiang
province with estimated total GFA of approximately 628,408 sg. m.. This
project includes a hotel, office buildings, retail units, residential apartments
and underground car parking spaces. The construction project of this
project is still in progress and is expected to be completed around
November 2015.

Jiangsu province

Jia Run Square

It is a large-scale integrated commercial project located in Suzhou, Jiangsu
province, next to Jinji Lake. This project includes offices, shopping mall,
serviced apartments and a hotel with estimated total GFA of approximately

251,391 sg. m.. Construction of the project is expected to be completed
in December 2016.
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2014 Contracted sales 2014 FNERHE
HZE2014F12A31HILFE  A£ENARIEE
MiE# 521,534 F 77K (20134 : 9,653 F 752K)
AREEWAAENARE235FTT(2013F : AR
¥ 0.881870)  TEHEE MAREEEFBOT ¢

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the contracted sales area of the
Group was approximately 21,534 sqg. m. (2013: 9,653 sg. m.), contracted
sales revenue was approximately RMB235 million (2013: RMB88 million),
details of the contracted sales of the major projects are as below:

Contracted Contracted
sales area sales revenue
ERHEER EREERA
(sq. m.) (RMB million)
(FFHKR) (AR#EHET)

Hangzhou, Zhejiang province T E N AT
Hidden Dragon Bay i 12,879 103
Jiarun Mansion =ENE 8,655 116
Others HA - 16
Total st 21,534 235

It is expected that the GFA available for sale or lease or operation in 2015

BEERIR 2015 F AN E R E R L EREEAL

is approximately 1,080,718 sqg. m., with details as below: #1,080,718 F 75K » FFIBMAT -
GFA available
for sale/lease/
operation Usage
e/ R
e/ /g8
HEREEE
(sq.m)
(FF5)
Hangzhou, Zhejiang province International Office Center Plot A3 319,712 For sale/leasing
HOT BT BRI A D AS IR e/ HE
Hidden Dragon Bay 98,016 For sale
Hangzhou Qiandao Lake Run Zhou Resort Hotel 37,028 For operation
MHTFEREREE L8
Commercial portion of the Chaoyang Commercial Site 34,053 For sale
BERLELYH &
Yuyao, Zhejiang province Zhong An Times Square 543,088 For sale
HTE RIS RERRES e
Huaibei, Anhui province \C Hotel 48,821 For operation
ZHEELT RFEEE =
Total #B&t 1,080,718

PR MR EERARAT
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Hotel operation

Holiday Inn Hangzhou Xiaoshan of the Group is adjacent to Highlong Plaza
in Xiaoshan district, Hangzhou, Zhejiang province. In 2014, it recorded a
revenue of approximately RMB47,613,000 which was slightly down by
14.7% from RMB55,815,000 in 2013. The hotel occupancy rate was about
46.6% (2013: 49.8%).

Leasing business

The current leasing income of the Group mainly comes from Highlong
Plaza. The plaza comprises offices, a shopping mall, a hotel, serviced
apartments and underground parking spaces. Revenue from leasing
business for the year of 2014 was approximately RMB90,072,000,
representing an increase of about 10.0% from RMB81,916,000 for the
year of 2013, the occupancy rate amounted to approximately 85%.

Financial Analysis

Revenue

Consolidated revenue of the Group was RMB208,853,000 for the year of
2014, representing a decrease of 76.2% from RMB875,842,000 for the
year of 2013. This was mainly due to the decrease in the revenue from
sales of properties.

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the revenue from sales of
properties amounted to RMB86,851,000, representing a decrease of
89.0% from RMB787,267,000 for the year of 2013. The decrease was
primarily due to the decrease in the recognition of sales of properties
delivered in the year.

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the revenue from property
leasing recorded an increase of 10.0% to RMB90,072,000 (2013:
RMB81,916,000). The revenue from hotel operation was RMB47,613,000
in 2014 representing a decrease of 14.7% as compared to previous year
of RMB55,815,000.
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Gross profit

Gross profit of the Group was RMB108,614,000 for the year of 2014,
representing a decrease of 70.6% from RMB368,848,000 for the year of
2013. This was mainly due to the decrease in the revenue.

Gross profit margin for the year of 2014 was 52.0% (2013: 42.1%). The
increase was mainly due to the increased proportion in revenue from the
property leasing and hotel operation segments whose gross profit margins
are higher than that for sales of properties.

Other income and gains

For the year of 2014, other income and gains amounted to
RMB35,377,000, representing an increase of 1.5 times from last year. The
increase was mainly due to other interest income of RMB29,769,000 from
interest-bearing loans to a joint venture.

Selling and distribution costs

For the year under review, selling and distribution expenses amounted to
RMB35,955,000, representing an increase of 9.5% as compared to that
from last year. The increase was primarily due to increase in advertising
and promotional expenses.

Administrative expenses

For the year of 2014, administrative expenses amounted to
RMB111,811,000 (2013: RMB69,114,000), representing an increase of
RMB42,697,000 or 61.8% from last year. The increase was mainly due
to the non-recurring listing expenses of RMB 27,120,000 incurred for the
listing (“Listing”) of shares of the Company on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and increase in
staff costs.

Finance costs

For the year of 2014, finance costs was RMB30,047,000 (2013: nil), arising
from the interest on bank and other borrowings for completed properties
held for sale which could no longer be capitalized.
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Earnings

For the year under review, the profit attributable to owners of the parent
amounted to RMB476,504,000 (2013: RMB364,623,000), representing an
increase of 30.7% compared to last year. This was mainly due to fair value
gain upon transfer to investment properties of RMB656,784,000 (2013:
RMB256,292,000). The after-tax fair value gain upon transfer to investment
properties was RMB492,588,000 (2013: RMB192,219,000).

Land reserve

During the year of 2014, the Group made the following land acquisitions:

1. On 3 March 2014, the Group acquired the entire equity interest of
Cixi Zhong An Real Estate Co, Ltd.* (3E R % B % B A7) which
held the parcels of land for commercial purpose in Longsan New
City, Cidong Binhai District of Cixi, Ningbo (“Cixi Ningbo Land”) with
a site area of 49,804 sg. m. at a consideration of RMB50,000,000,
from Zhong An Group Co, Ltd.* (RE&EEEBR2AF]), a member
of the remaining Zhong An Group (i.e. Zhong An Group, excluding
the Group) (the “Remaining Zhong An Group”), as a part of the
Reorganisation.

2. On 20 March 2014, the Group entered into a land acquisition
agreement with Anhui Zhong An Real Estate Development Co.
Ltd.* (ZRRZEHEFZEAR A F]), a member of the Remaining
Zhong An Group, in respect of the acquisition of the land on which
the planned hotel under construction within the Vancouver City
project (the “VC Hotel”) is situated together with the buildings under
construction at a consideration of RMB234,000,000, as part of
the Reorganisation. The VC Hotel is located in Huaibei City, Anhui
Province with a site area of 60,768 sq. m..

3. On 3 April 2014, the Group acquired the commercial portion of a
parcel of land situated at Chaoyang Community, Shushan Street,
Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, the PRC (the
“Chaoyang Community Site”) at a price of RMB220,917,000. The
Chaoyang Community Site with a total site area of 10,541 sqg. m. will
be developed for commercial purpose.
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4. On 28 May 2014, the Group acquired a parcel of land situated
at southwest of Qiandaohu Town, Chunan County, Hangzhou,
Zhejiang Province, the PRC (the “Qiandaohu Lake Land”) at a
price of approximately RMB5,746,000. The site is in proximity to
the tourist attraction Hangzhou Qiandao Lake and will form part
of the Hangzhou Qiandao Lake Run Zhou Resort Hotel project.
The Qiandaohu Lake Land with a total site area of 6,805 sq. m. is
designated for commercial development.

As at 31 December 2014, the property development projects owned
by the Group included 8 completed projects and units in 2 completed
buildings, 5 projects under development and 5 projects held for
future development. The total GFA of land reserves of the Group was
approximately 3,540,000 sg. m..

Material Acquisitions and Disposal of
Subsidiaries and Associated Companies

To rationalize the current structure of the Group for the Listing, the
Company underwent Reorganisation of the business comprising the
Group, pursuant to which the Company became the holding company of
the subsidiaries of the Company now comprising the Group. Details of the
Reorganisation have been set out in the prospectus of the Company dated
17 June 2014.

Save for the Reorganisation, during the year under review, there was
no other material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries or associated
companies of the Company.

Capital Structure

Cash position and fund available

As at 31 December 2014, the total cash and bank balances of the
Group were RMB863,667,000 (31 December 2013: RMB323,158,000),
comprising cash and cash equivalents of RMB723,909,000 (31 December
2013: RMB223,993,000) and restricted cash of RMB139,758,000 (31
December 2013: RMB99,165,000).

As at 31 December 2014, the Group’s undrawn borrowing facilities were
approximately RMB808,000,000.

As at 31 December 2014, the Group’s available financial resources
amounted to approximately RMB1,671,667,000.
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Borrowings

As at 31 December 2014, the Group’s bank borrowings amounted
to RMBS3,878,529,000 (31 December 2013: RMB2,434,568,000),
comprising bank loans of RMB3,277,529,000 (31 December 2013:
RMB1,833,568,000) and other loans of RMB601,000,000 (31 December
2013: RMB601,000,000).

The maturity profile of borrowings were as follows:

R2014F12A31H  AEERITEREAR
#3,878,529,0007C (2013412 A31H : AR
2,434,568,0007C ) ' BIERITER AR
3,277,529,0007t (20135 12A31H: A R ¥
1,833,568,000 7T ) K H th B 5k A K 601,000,000
Jt(2013%12 A31H : AR 601,000,0007T) °

BREERZMBEREIINT

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2014 2013

20145 R 20134

12A31H 12H31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AREETTT

Within 1 year or on demand —FANIEEK 1,638,031 100,000
Over 1 year but within 2 years LR —FELRAME - 1,537,070
Over 2 years but within 5 years ZRMEELRAF 997,498 97,498
Over 5 years HELA L 1,243,000 700,000
3,878,529 2,434,568

The current ratio as at 31 December 2014 was 0.96 (31 December 2013:
0.8).

The gearing ratio (as measured by net debt to total equity) as at 31
December 2014 was 67.6% (31 December 2013: 83.1%).
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Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2014, the Group’s bank borrowings of
RMB3,828,529,000 (31 December 2013: RMB2,384,568,000) were
secured by the Group’s pledge of assets as follows:
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As at As at

31 December 31 December

2014 2013

2014 F R2013 4

12831 H 12H31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMT T ARETTT

Investment properties LEME 2,093,991 1,576,589
Properties under development R 776,066 215,246
Completed properties held for sale BIEHED R T 390,283 382,416
Property and equipment L EYNE 153,682 31,472
Pledged cash KRR ¢ 95,750 95,750
3,509,772 2,301,473

Foreign exchange risk

The Group conducts its business primarily in Renminbi. Certain bank
deposits and borrowings were denominated in Hong Kong dollars and
United States dollars. Other than those disclosed, the Group does not
have any material exposures to foreign exchange fluctuations. The Group
did not use foreign exchange hedging instruments to hedge foreign
exchange risks for the year ended 31 December 2014.

Interest rate risks

The interest rates for the Group’s borrowings were floating and fixed.
Upward fluctuations in interest rates will increase the cost of borrowings.
The Group does not adopt any interest rate swaps to hedge its interest rate
risk.

Cost of borrowings

For the year of 2014, the total cost of borrowings of the Group was
RMB300,993,000 (2013: RMB180,392,000), representing an increase of
66.9% when compared with 2013. The increase was mainly attributable to
higher average balance of borrowings.
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Guarantees and contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2014, the Group’s contingent liabilities amounted to
RMB169,633,000 (31 December 2013: RMB382,930,000), which were
mainly the guarantees provided by the Group in favour of certain banks for
the grant of mortgage loans to purchasers of the Group’s properties.

Commitments

As at 31 December 2014, the Group’s commitments for property
development expenditures amounted to RMB1,303,094,000 (31
December 2013: RMB888,605,000).

Human Resources and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 December 2014, the Group employed 619 staff (2013: 552).
For the year ended 31 December 2014, the staff costs of the Group was
RMB44,568,000 (2013: RMB32,010,000), representing an increase of
39.2%, mainly due to the increased headcounts and average salary during
the year under review.

The employees’ remuneration policy was determined by reference to
factors such as remuneration information in respect of the local market,
the overall remuneration standard in the industry, inflation level, corporate
operating efficiency and performance of the employees. The Group
conducts performance appraisal once every year for its employees,
the results of which are applied in annual salary review and promotion
assessment. The Group’s employees are considered for the entitlement
of annual bonus according to certain performance conditions and
appraisal results. The Group also provides continuous learning and training
programmes to its employees to enhance their skills and knowledge, so as
to maintain and enhance their competitiveness.

Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2014 (2013: Nil).
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Annual General Meeting (“AGM”)

The AGM of the Company will be held on Wednesday, 20 May 2015.
Notice of AGM will be published on the websites of the Company
(www.chinanewcity.com.cn) and the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk),
and will be despatched to the Shareholders within the prescribed time
and in such manner as required under the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

Audit Committee

The Company has set up an audit committee (“Audit Committee”) and
adopted the terms of reference which complied with the code provisions of
the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules (“CG Code”). The chairman of the Audit Committee is Mr. Ng Sze
Yuen, Terry. The other members are Mr. Xu Chengfa and Mr. Yim Chun
Leung. The Audit Committee is comprised of all of the three independent
non-executive Directors.

The audit committee of the Company had reviewed the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2014, and reviewed with the management of the Group
regarding the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group,
and discussed with them the internal controls and financial reporting
matters.

Use of net proceeds from Listing

The net proceeds from the Company’s initial public offering (after
deducting the underwriting fees and related expenses) amounted to
approximately HK$550.8 million, which are intended to be applied in the
manner as disclosed in the supplemental prospectus (“Supplemental
Prospectus”) of the Company dated 30 June 2014.
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Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding the Directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules.

The Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors and all Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the required standards set
out in the Model Code since 10 July 2014, being the date of the listing of
the Company’s shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (“Listing
Date”), and up to the date of this report.

Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
to the knowledge of the directors, they confirm that the Company has
maintained at least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital held
by the public for the year ended 31 December 2014 and as at the date of
this report.

Compliance with the Corporate Governance
Code

The Board has adopted the code provisions of the CG Code. The Board
has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance practices and is
satisfied that the Company has complied with the code provisions set out
in the CG Code for the period from the Listing Date and up to the date of
this report.

Closure of Register of Members

For determination of the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, the
transfer books and register of members will be closed from Monday, 18
May 2015 to Wednesday, 20 May 2015 (both days inclusive) during which
period no transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. In order to
qualify for attending and voting at the AGM, all transfers accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong
Kong branch registrar and transfer office, Tricor Investor Services Limited
at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 15 May 2015.
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Corporate Governance Report

The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company is committed to
maintaining good corporate governance in safeguarding the interests of
the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) and enhancing
Shareholders’ value.

(A) CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

Since the Listing Date and up to 31 December 2014, the Company
has complied with the code provisions in the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

The Board will review the management structure of the Group
from time to time and will adopt appropriate measures as may
be desirable for future development of the operating activities or
business of the Group.

(B) DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding the
Directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting than
the required standard set out in the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors have
confirmed that they have complied with the required standard set
out in the Model Code and the Company’s code of conduct since
the Listing Date and up to 31 December 2014.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 December 2014 and up to the date of this report, the
Directors were as follows:

Executive directors

Mr. Zhou Minghai (appointed on 29 January 2015)
Mr. Shi Guoliang (appointed on 29 January 2015)
Ms. Jin Ni

Mr. Li Chu

Ms. Tang Yiyan

Non-executive director
Mr. Shi Kancheng

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry

Mr. Xu Chengfa

Mr. Yim Chun Leung

Since the Listing Date and up to 31 December 2014, the Board
has at all times met the requirements of rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2)
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors with at least one independent
non-executive Director possessing appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management
expertise.

The three independent non-executive Directors represent one-third
of the Board, the proportion of which is required by Rule 3.10A of the
Listing Rules. The Board believes there is sufficient independence
element in the Board to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders.

Since the Listing Date and up to 31 December 2014, the Board
meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy, the operational
and financial performance of the Group. The Directors can
attend meetings in person or through other electronic means of
communication in accordance with the articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles”).

New City Commercial Development Limited 2014 Annual Report
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Since the Listing Date and up to 31 December 2014, a total of
2 Board meetings were held. The individual attendance of the
Directors is tabulated as follows:

Corporate Governance Report
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B T BEE2014F128318 » 81748 #H2
REERGH SEFMEANLEERNT ¢

Number of attendance/
Number of meetings

HERE,EERRE
Mr Shi Kancheng BERAX 55 2/2
Ms. Jin Ni SR L 2/2
Mr. Li Chu b 2/2
Ms. Tang Yiyan BElafkz L 2/2
Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry RETkaE 2/2
Mr. Xu Chengfa APKEE L 2/2
Mr. Yim Chun Leung ERIRSD A& 2/2

The Board operates and exercises its power in accordance with
the Articles. The Board focuses on overall corporate strategies
and policies with emphasis on the business growth and financial
performance of the Group. In addition, the Board has also
specifically resolved that all transactions/contracts/other matters
of the Group that are subject to the disclosure requirement in
accordance with the Listing Rules should be approved by the Board
in advance.

The Board has delegated to the senior management to deal with
day-to-day operations and reviewed those arrangements on a
periodic basis. The senior management frequently reports back to
the Board and obtains prior approval from the Board before making
decisions for key matters or entering into any commitments on
behalf of the Company.

The Company has received from each of its independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board considers
that all the independent non-executive Directors are independent
in accordance with the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. The Directors had taken external trainings in the form
of seminars and courses provided by educational institutions and
professional bodies.
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The Company had arranged liability insurance for Directors and
senior management officers of the Company with appropriate
coverage in respect of legal action against the Directors arising from
their duties performed.

Save as disclosed in the section of “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management” in this annual report of the Company,
there are no relationships (including financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationships) among members of the Board.

Appointment, re-election and removal of
Directors

The Articles provide that any Director appointed by the Board to
fill a casual vacancy in the Board or as an additional member of
the Board shall hold office only until the first general meeting of the
members of Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at
such meeting.

In accordance with the Articles, at each AGM, one third of the
Directors for the time being, shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director (including those appointed for a specific
term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. The
members of the Company may, at any general meetings convened
and held in accordance with the Articles, remove a Director by
ordinary resolution at any time before the expiration of his period
of office notwithstanding anything contrary in the Articles or in any
agreement between the Company and such Director and may by
ordinary resolution elect another person in his/her stead.

Board Committees

The Board has established four committees and has delegated
various responsibilities to the committees, including the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), the
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”), the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”) and the corporate governance
committee (the “Corporate Governance Committee”) of the
Company. All the Board committees perform their distinct roles
in accordance with their respective terms of reference which are
available for inspection by the Shareholders on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange. The Board Committees are
provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and,
upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.

New City Commercial Development Limited 2014 Annual Report
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Directors’ emolument

The emolument payable to Directors is determined by the Board
with reference to recommendations given by the Remuneration
Committee to the Board taking into account the Directors’ duties
and responsibilities.

(D) CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

(E)

OFFICER/PRESIDENT

As at the date of this report, the role of the Chairman was performed
by Mr. Shi Kancheng. Mr. Zhou Minghai was appointed as Co-
Chairman with effect from 29 January 2015. Ms. Jin Ni ceased to
act as the president of the Group with effect from 29 January 2015,
and Mr. Shi Guoliang was appointed as president of the Group with
effect from 29 January 2015.

The Chairman had held a meeting with all independent non-
executive Directors in the absence of executive Directors. No
specific or other issues had been raised or discussed as it had
been concluded that all issues which would be discussed had been
properly dealt with in the meetings of the Board.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The non-executive Director, Mr. Shi Kancheng, has been appointed
for a term of 3 years commencing on 31 May 2014.

The director’s fee specified in the service contract of Mr. Shi
Kancheng is RMB200,000 per year.

The independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry,
Mr. Xu Chengfa and Mr. Yim Chun Leung, have been appointed for
a term of 3 years commencing on 31 May 2014.

The director’s fee specified in the service contract of each of Mr.
Ng Sze Yuen, Terry, Mr. Xu Chengfa and Mr. Yim Chun Leung are
RMB200,000 per year.

All non-executive Director and independent non-executive Directors
possess extensive academic, professional and/or industry expertise
and management experience and have provided their professional
advice to the Board.
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(F) REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Mr. Xu Chengfa
and the members are Mr. Yim Chun Leung and Ms. Tang Yiyan.

The

Company has adopted written terms of reference for

the Remuneration Committee. The role and function of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company include the following:

(@)

38  China New City Commercial Development Limited

to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment,
and make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive Directors;

to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives;

to review and approve the compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management in connection with any loss
or termination of their office or appointment to ensure that
such compensation is determined in accordance with relevant
contractual terms and that such compensation is otherwise
fair and not excessive;

to review and approve compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that such arrangements are determined in accordance with
relevant contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and
appropriate;

to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates is
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration; and

to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time

commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group.

2014 Annual Report
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Two meetings of the Remuneration Committee were held during
the Year. The Remuneration Committee had reviewed the terms
of remuneration packages of the executive Directors, namely Mr.

Zhou Minghai and Mr. Shi Guoliang, for the signing of their contracts

during the Year. The individual attendance of the members was
tabulated as follows:
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FAFHEZESRITTMAEE - HHER
SEEENAFEZEWNTESF (AERE
FEAE R BRI R ST A ) B AR M 6 1R R A B
WERL - FREMERNHFRBT -

Number attendance/
Number of meetings

HERE ERRE
Mr. Xu Chengfa AP E S 2/2
Mr. Yim Chun Leung ERSE Se A 2/2
Ms Tang Yiyan Eaf At 2/2

(G) NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The chairman of the Nomination Committee is Mr. Xu Chengfa and
the members are Mr. Yim Chun Leung and Ms. Jin Ni.

The Company has adopted written terms of reference for the

Nomination Committee. The role and function of the Nomination
Committee are as follows:

(@)

to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of perspectives)
of the Board at least annually and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members of
the Board and select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorship;

to review the board diversity policy of the Company (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) and the progress on achieving the
objectives set for implementing the Board Diversity Policy,
and to make disclosure of its review results in the corporate
governance report of the Company’s annual report;

to assess the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors;

to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to, among others, the appointment or re-appointment
of directors and succession planning for directors (in
particular, the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company);
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® to give full consideration to, among others, the skills and
expertise required from members of the Board and the
relevant requirements of the Listing Rules with regard to
Directors and such like in the discharge of the Nomination
Committee’s duties;

(@  in respect of any proposed service contracts to be entered
into by any members of the Group with its director or
proposed director, which require the prior approval of the
Shareholders at general meeting under Rule 13.68 of the
Listing Rules, to review and provide recommendations to
the Shareholders (other than shareholders who are directors
with a material interest in the relevant service contracts and
their respective associates) as to whether the terms of the
service contracts are fair and reasonable and whether such
service contracts are in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole, and to advise Shareholders on how
to vote;

(h)  to ensure that on appointment to the Board, non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
receive a formal letter of appointment setting out what is
expected of them in terms of time commitment, committee
service and involvement outside meetings of the Board;

(i) to conduct exit interviews with any Director upon their
resignation in order to ascertain the reasons for his/her
departure; and

() to consider other matters, as defined or assigned by the
Board from time to time.

The nomination procedures are as follow: candidates for directorship
are selected by the Nomination Committee subject to the review and
approval of the Board in accordance with the Articles. Pursuant to
the Board Diversity Policy adopted by the Board, when reviewing
the composition of the Board and considering the nomination of
new Directors, the Nomination Committee will take into account the
skills, regional and industry experience, background, race, gender
and other qualities of potential candidates and also business needs
of the Company.

Based on the review by the Nomination Committee, the Nomination
Committee considers that the Company has achieved the
measurable objectives set for implementing the Board Diversity
Policy for the year under review.

Two meetings of the Nomination Committee were held during the
Year.

New City Commercial Development Limited 2014 Annual Report

H HEFRB)EZRKEMANKEE
RFEZ - ARk ETRRIEE RN
BRETANEBABITREZEZES
BEAE

@ R kR ETHRAFEI68IHKESR
FERGRRIENRESHZHARE
EEREERENREREER M
BR(BZRREEERIHEEEH
RIS A RME AN - MEMERRER
AN) BL% T IRTE & RHRRE A &
AR - REEREARRARERK
RRBENRARRBIREEERR
mie2 &

() BRECEZEFFNTES (BB
VHRTEF) MR EREMELE
ARERM EPAFTRHEAEZZE
X BRIERE E2RZEER
BERLZEEEREHAIMITIE

() BRBEARREFBEMNERILRK
FREBERRE - &

() EERWTEERZKNETER-

REEANT - EFANBRERZE K
2 AERERERBAXFANMAREZ LI
o IRTEE - RIBEERRNCEERZ
TEBE - R EERAREEEHES
MIEAE  REEZBEHEREEARNK
e ERITEER  BR Bk R
Hit@iE - URARBNEBHR -

REREZEG2EN  REZEERR
REBFE  ARAEEIREREERZ
THEBE MBI A &R -

b

FARBZEGHEIT2RER

= ©

b=



Corporate Governance Report

EEERRSE

The individual attendance of the members of the Nomination SRZEEeXENENERENT :
Committee was tabulated as follows:

Number of attendance/
Number of meetings

HERE SRR
Mr. Xu Chengfa APKE S 2/2
Mr. Yim Chun Leung ERIRSD A& 2/2
Ms. Jin Ni SRt 2/2

(H) DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING (H EEREERERE
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Since the Listing Date and up till 31 December 2014, the Directors are B LHTHEE2014F12A31H  EEH5=

provided with quarterly updates on the Company’s performance and EESEMBANRRERAMIHEFEER -

position to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge NREUNELEEE/LNEFETHE - K

their duties. All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous AR EESL2EBETERE - ¥F

professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge W IR SRR MR RE o KA T RE

and skills. The Company updates Directors on the latest development HIRM ETRBIA R E M E A EE H TR &

regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements RN UBREEFETERHNDNES

from time and time, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness REH WIRAEYURIFAEEAERNE

of good corporate governance practices. o

According to the records provided by the Directors, a summary of BEZEERENLE  REBEFA  EFHR

training received by Directors during the year under review is as follows: EHEIIEBENT

Name of Directors Type of continuous professional development

EEMR HESERRERER

Executive Directors BITES

Ms. Jin Ni SR E B

Mr. Li Chu el B

Ms. Tang Yiyan Elafrt B

Non-executive Director FHITES

Mr. Shi Kancheng FEARAX 55 A B

Independent Non-executive BFHTES

Directors

Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry RtyeAE A/B

Mr. Xu Chengfa BN A AB

Mr. Yim Chun Leung ERSE Se A A/B

Notes: Fff3E

A attending briefing sessions and/or seminars relating to matters in financial, ~ A:  HEBEREHE  EARRCEETHHENENE LK
legal and corporate governance g

B: reading seminar materials and updates relating to the latest development of B :  BIEAM LTREI R EtEREE R TR ERE 2
the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements HEBERKEMEAR
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The audit fee of the Group in respect of audit services provided
by the Independent Auditors, Ermst & Young, for the Year was
RMB950,000 (2013: nil).

During the Year, the Independent Auditors was also engaged to
review the interim results of the Company at a fee of RMB250,000
(2013: nil) and other non-audit services with a total fee of
RMB595,000 (2013: 485,000).

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The chairman of the Audit Committee is Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry
and the members are Mr. Xu Chengfa and Mr. Yim Chun Leung. All
members of the Audit Committee are independent non-executive
Directors.

The role and functions of the Audit Committee include the following:
(@)  to consider, and to make recommendation to the Board on
the appointment, reappointment and removal of the external
auditor, and to approve the remuneration and other terms

of engagement of the external auditor, and any questions of
resignation or dismissal of the external auditor;

to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards;
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to discuss with the external auditors before the audit
commences, the nature and scope of the audit and reporting
obligations and ensure co-ordination where more than one
audit firm is involved;

to develop and implement policy on engaging an
external auditor to supply non-audit services. The Audit
Committee should report to the Board, identify and make
recommendations where action or improvement is needed.
The Audit Committee should also review the non-audit
services provided by the external auditor on an annual basis,
to ensure that the independence of such external auditor will
not be affected;

to monitor integrity, accuracy and fairness of the Company’s
financial statements and annual report and accounts, half-year
report and, if prepared for publication, quarterly reports, and
to review significant financial reporting judgments contained in
them;

to review, in draft form, the Company’s annual report and
accounts, half-year report and, if prepared for publication,
quarterly report. The Audit Committee should focus
particularly on the following aspects before submission of
reports to the Board:

i. any changes in accounting policies and practices;

ii. major judgmental areas;

. significant adjustments resulting from audit;

iv.  the going concern assumptions and any qualifications;

V. compliance with accounting standards;

vi. ~ compliance with the Listing Rules and other legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting;

vi.  the fairness and reasonableness of any connected
transaction and the impact of such transaction on the
profitability of the Group;

vii. ~ whether all relevant items have been adequately
disclosed in the Group’s financial statements and
whether the disclosures give a fair view of the Group’s
financial conditions;

ix. any significant or unusual items that are, or may need to
be, reflected in such reports and accounts; and

X. the cashflow position of the Group;

PR MR EERARAT

Corporate Governance Report

EEERRSE

FEONEE A BARD FA SRR B T VEDART - £
Hitim TIEEE  BENRBREPHRE
T MER—FINERBEMARZT
ZH TR - BRE RS

FhAMNISAZ B A 1 (I A% BR TS il FE B
B A TART - BREZBGREME
RRBARBHITE R Z R EIRR
EXERBETRHES B%EZES
& & F AT SIS ERRM PR AV FF X
BRTS  UREREBIMETEXE

&
=

ERARTNMBHRRRFERER
fRB - FFEHmER(ERTE)ZE
WERTRM  BEERALENE - I
FBIWR LIRS FEA AR 15 R R
BERER

FHARBNERNIRR - FFRE
R (BRI ZEHRENER - £[
EXERERWMEN  ERZBERE
RIEEAT @

i SEHR KRBT MER

i.  HRETHEERMT

i.  EZEEBENERERE

v. SEEBEECEHBRIRENM
RBER

v.  R=REBTEFER

Vi REETEUBRMEHREHmMLET
RAMOERIRE

vii BBRZHIREAFAEEREA
SEAMHTE

vii. FIBHRBEBEREGERAEE
BB EAOBEBEREER

BN b i B AN 58 (B A B A

W

ix. ZEWRENREKB R REAEMR
BAKTFFEEE : &

x. AEEBRSREAMARNR

—T-pmEFR 43



Corporate Governance Report

3

44  China New City Commercial Development Limited

2N
E /A

wE

members of the Audit Committee must liaise with the Board,
senior management and the Audit Committee must meet, at
least twice a year, with the Company’s auditors. The Audit
Committee should consider any significant or unusual items
that are, or may need to be, reflected in such reports and
accounts and must give due consideration to any matters
that have been raised by the Company’s staff responsible for
the accounting and financial reporting functions, compliance
officer or auditors;

to discuss problems and reservations arising from the interim
and final audits, and any matters the auditors may wish to
discuss (in the absence of management where necessary);

to review the Company’s financial controls, internal control
and risk management systems and to discuss with the
management the system of internal control and ensure that
management has performed its duty to have an effective
internal control system and to review the Company’s
statement on internal control systems (where one is included
in the annual report) prior to endorsement by the Board;

to consider any findings of major investigations of internal
control matters as delegated by the Board or on its own
initiative and management’s response to these findings;

where an internal audit function exists, to review the internal
audit programmes, to ensure co-ordination between the
internal and external auditors, and to ensure that the internal
audit function is adequately resourced and has appropriate
standing within the Company and to review and monitor the
effectiveness of the internal audit function;

to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

to conduct exit interviews with any director, manager, financial
controller or internal control manager upon their resignation in
order to ascertain the reasons for his departure;

to prepare work reports for presentation to the Board and to

prepare summary of work reports for inclusion in the Group’s
interim and annual reports;

2014 Annual Report

ERZBeNBAREERESAE
BABHK ERLZEGRAELMA
ARBNZBEIEFHEMNA - B
ZEGEERNRERE LKA T
RRXFRBROEAEAKTSESR
B YEREEEREMHARTEER

ST RMBERBE  ERITEIK
ZEmE A EM RIR

BEZHMAwmT REREEMLFE
ERLENERE  AZBEARREE
A EE R FIR (B E A R RIE N
7858 L 5 5 5m

R AR B M ER TR - ARPEEIE R
RERERHIE - BEIEEN R NEPE
REG WREEECETRE &
TEBROABEZERG R (MRFE
BEBURE) EEZRERN - &F
BRGS0

THXEEER/NZRIK - SLERAED
EREENERRETERNEEREN
Ol EAETTRT 5T

IRARARAE NEAZEERPT - e
MR EIER - FER A B BRAD E 5
BZBENRE M F - WARRARQR
NEZ B AP A R HEREFRAE
BROMAL - A RARE RER AR
WEEREB

B REENTBERSABERE
7%

PMERIE S - 432 - BB e NED
BRI ERRE  XRAMAR
WA EBERR A

PREAN TEERBE MM ERS
MEREEREN  RETNASKE
R FERS



(0) to consider the appointment of any person to be an Audit
Committee member, auditors and accounting staff either
to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Audit Committee
member, auditors and accounting staff or dismissal of any of
them;

(p)  to consider the major findings of internal investigations and
management’s response;

(@) to review the external auditor’'s management letter, any
material queries raised by the auditor to management about
the accounting records, financial accounts or systems of
control and management’s response;

n to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditor’'s management letter;

(s)  to report to the Board on the matters set out in the terms of
reference of the Audit Committee;

® to review arrangements that employees of the Company
can use, in confidence, to raise concerns about possible
irregularities in financial reporting, internal control or
other matters. The Audit Committee should ensure that
proper arrangements are in place for fair and independent
investigation of these matters and for appropriate follow-up
action;

(u)  to act as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company'’s relations with the external auditor; and

(v)  to consider other matters, as defined or assigned by the
Board from time to time.

A total of two meetings of the Audit Committee were held during the
Year. The work performed by the Audit Committee during the Year
included the following:

- reviewed the interim report and interim results announcement
of the Company for the period since the Listing Date until 30
June 2014;

- reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and other financial reporting matters;
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reviewed the results of external audit and had discussion with
external auditors on any significant findings and audit issues;

reviewed the results of external internal control consultant and
had discussion on any significant findings and internal control
issues;

discussed with the external auditors before the audit
commenced, the nature and scope of the audit and the
respective relevant issues; and

considered and approved the service contract of the auditors
for the Year.

The individual attendance of the members of the Audit Committee
was tabulated as follows:

-  HHEESER U EREAE
BREFEERINPZBENETRE

A .
A

—  FHIIHBAZERERNER L5
EREARERLEMARIEHIEEE

SOLE

—  RERFRGATEIMNERBEI R REX
MHERBEAREERER &

- EERLERAFENZHERES
oK

w

ERZEERKEMNERLFEXMT

Number of attendance/
Number of meetings

HERE ERRE
Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry RITLRE 2/2
Mr. Xu Chengfa AP E & 2/2
Mr. Yim Chun Leung EIRR A 2/2

(K) CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (K) REELIERE

COMMITTEE
The chairlady of the Corporate Governance Committee is Ms. Jin Ni. TEELREZESTIRFASEZLE  KEAR
The members are Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry and Mr. Yim Chun Leung. TEERERS.E - CEERZESN

The

role and functions of the Corporate Governance Committee

include the following:

@)
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to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
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(L)

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the Code
Provisions and the disclosures in the Corporate Governance
Report. One meeting of the Corporate Governance
Committee was held during the Year. The Corporate
Governance Committee had discussed and reviewed
the Board’s and the Group’s compliance with the Code
Provisions and the prevailing Listing Rules during the Year.

The individual attendance of the members of the Governance
Committee was tabulated as follows:
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HERE ERRE
Ms. Jin Ni SRE L 11
Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry RtiuhkaE 1/1
Mr. Yim Chun Leung ERIRZm A& 1/1

The terms of reference of the Corporate Governance Committee are
available on the Company’s website.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN
PREPARING THE ACCOUNTS

The Directors acknowledge that they are responsible for the
preparation of accounts which give a true and fair view of the
Company and the Group.

The statement of the auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the accounts of the Group is set out in the section
headed “Independent Auditors’ Report” in this annual report.
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EFFECTIVENESS OF THE INTERNAL
CONTROL OF THE GROUP

The Company has continued to engage an independent internal
control advisor to assist the Audit Committee in assessing the
Company’s internal control since the Listing Date and up till 31
December 2014, and shall continue to engage the independent
internal control advisor for at least one year after Listing. The internal
control advisor has performed internal control reviews in accordance
with the internal audit plan approved by the Audit Committee and
reported the review results to the Corporate Governance Committee
and Audit Committee on an interim basis.

No material internal control issues were noted from the said reviews.

The Directors had conducted a review of the effectiveness of
the system of internal control of the Group and resolved that
the system of intemal control of the Group during the Year was
effective. Such review had covered all material controls including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions.

The Directors have considered that there are adequate resources
and budget available for the staff with appropriate qualifications and
experience in the aspect of training and discharging the accounting
and financial reporting functions.

NON-COMPETE UNDERTAKINGS

In respect of the compliance with the provisions of the Non-compete
Undertakings by the Controlling Shareholders, please refer to the
section headed “Non-compete Undertakings” in the Directors
Report of this report.
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(O) MECHANISM FOR THE PROPERTY

DEVELOPMENT ON MIXED-USE
LANDS

In relation to the mechanism for the property development on Mixed-
use Lands (as defined in the Prospectus), each of Zhong An and the
Company has undertaken to each other that it must, in respect of
each of its financial year ending after the Listing, instruct its auditors
or independent financial advisers to review such documents as the
auditors or independent financial advisers may require and confirm to
its board of directors that the mechanism set out the section headed
“Relationship with our Controlling Shareholders — Joint property
development on mixed commercial-residential use land projects” in the
Prospectus had been complied with during such financial year. Since
the Listing Date and up till 31 December 2014, the Directors confirm
that there has not been any occasion where an opportunity aroused
for an acquisition and development of land for property development
project on mixed commercial-residential use land projects in which the
Remaining Zhong An Group has invited the Group to participate in the
Joint Development (as defined in the Prospectus).

(P) COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company had appointed Mr. Hang Chu Kwong as its company
secretary (the “Secretary”). Mr. Hang has taken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training. The biography of Mr. Hang is
set out on page 60 of this annual report.

(Q) SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening extraordinary general meeting and putting forward
proposals at Shareholders’ meetings

The following procedures are subject to the Articles, the Companies Law,
Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised from time to time) of
the Cayman Islands and the applicable legislation and regulation.
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There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to propose new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Cayman Islands
Companies Law (2012 Revision). Pursuant to article 64 of the
Articles, general meetings shall be convened on the written
requisition of any two or more Shareholders made to Directors or the
Secretary specifying the objects of the meeting, provided that such
requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the requisition shall
not hold less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
which carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.
If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within
a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves may convene the
general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that
in which meetings may be convened by the Board and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

If a shareholder, who is entitled to attend and vote at the relevant
general meeting, wishes to nominate a person (not being the
nominating shareholder) to stand for election as a Director, he or
she should give to the Secretary notice in writing of the intention
to propose a person for election as a Director and notice in writing
by that person of his or her willingness to be so elected, no earlier
than the 7 clear days after the dispatch of the notice of the relevant
general meeting and no later than 7 clear days prior to the date
appointed for the relevant general meeting.

Detailed procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director are available on the Company’s website.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company attaches great importance to communication
with the Shareholders. A number of means are used to promote
greater understanding and dialogue with the Shareholders. The
means of access includes the release by the Company of the
various corporate communication of the Company via the website
of the Stock Exchange and the website of the Company (http://
www.chinanewcity.com.cn). Shareholders are encouraged by the
Company to attend general meetings of the Company where the
Chairman of the Company and other members of the Board and (if
appropriate) the auditors of the Company, are available to answer
questions.
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Shareholders are encouraged to communicate with the Company
for any enquiries in relation to the affairs of the Group. Shareholders
may contact the Company in writing to the Company’s head office in
the PRC or the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong
or by e-mail to cnc_ir@chinanewcity.com.cn or direct any enquiries
to the Company’s investor relations representative, Capital Markets
Department, whose contact details are set out in the annual report of
which this report forms part.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company’s constitutional documents was adopted on 31 May
2014.

For and on behalf of the Board
China New City Commercial Development Limited

Shi Kancheng
Chairman
The PRC, 24 March 2015
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Social Responsibility
HtEER

GIVING BACK TO THE SOCIETY 2014

China New City - participation in charity and
the pursuit of our mission “Giving Back to the
Society”

China New City has always been pursuing the mission of “Giving Back to
the Society”.

The Group embraces the belief of contributing to the society. We strive
to have better economic performance with the goal of benefitting the
society to the greatest extent in mind. Therefore, we devote ourselves
to the development of charitable affairs. We also proactively participate
in community welfare activities. We have from time to time expressed
concerns over the livelihoods of the underprivileged groups and are willing
to undertake our corporate social responsibilities.

During the year under review, we made donation of RMB800,000 to the
community chest in Hong Kong

China New City will continue to fulfill its corporate philosophy of “Giving
Back to the Society”.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENEAREEENERE

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Zhou Minghai, aged 44, has been appointed as the executive
Director and co-chairman of the Board. He has years of senior
management experience in commercial property development, retail,
capital and corporate management. Mr. Zhou had been the president of
Intime Department Store (Group) Company Limited (currently known as
Intime Retail (Group) Company Limited) (stock code: 1833), a company
which shares are listed on main board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Mr. Zhou also held senior
management positions at China Putian Information Industry (Group)
Company and was a director of Eastern Communications Co., Ltd., a
company which shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. He
obtained a doctoral degree in management from Fudan University.

Mr. Shi Guoliang, aged 48, has been appointed as the executive Director
and the president of the Group and will be responsible for leading the
business of the Group. He has years of experience in infrastructure and
property development, and corporate management. Mr. Shi had been the
general manager of Jiaxing City Zhajiasu Highway Co., Ltd.* (ZETF
EHEERAKBRETAR]). Mr. Shi obtained a bachelor degree in ship
design and manufacturing from Wuhan University of Technology in July
1987.

Ms. Jin Ni (£1&) , aged 39, is the executive Director and vice chairlady
of Board, and is responsible for overall strategic development, and
leading the business development of the Group. She was appointed as
an executive Director on 30 September 2013. Ms. Jin has over 16 years
of experience in sales, and operation and management of commercial
projects. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Jin held directorial and/or
executive roles of certain subsidiaries of the Remaining Zhong An Group.
She obtained a bachelor degree in administrative management from
the Zhejiang University of Technology (1T TZAZ) in July 2003 and
obtained a diploma in financial accounting from the Oriental Institute of
the Zhejiang University* CHT/T A 5 6% ) (currently known as Oriental
Institute of Finance and Economics* CINTEI&E AR FEML)) in July
1997. She is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
EEREREEBNERE

Mr. Li Chu (Z=#7#), aged 40, is the executive Director and vice president
of our Group, and is responsible for overall hotel operations and
management of the Group. He was appointed as an executive Director
on 30 September 2013. He has over 15 years of experience in hotel
management and operations. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Li held various
positions including general manager, vice general manager and general
director of New Century Hotels and Resorts (FIJT/B/EEE). He is a
certified hospitality supervisor conferred by the Educational Institute of the
American Hotel & Lodging Association in October 2005. Mr. Li obtained a
bachelor in business management from the Sichuan Agricultural University
(P9JI| 23K E2) in February 2006. He obtained a diploma in English from
the Hubei Radio & TV University G#1LEEEREARZ) in July 1999. Mr. Li
is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.

Ms. Tang Yiyan (FE14#k), aged 44, is the executive Director and
vice president of the Group, and is responsible for overall property
management of our Group. She was appointed as an executive Director
on 30 September 2013. Ms. Tang has over 12 years of experience in
operations and management. Prior to joining the Group, she held various
positions including assistant to general manager of Jiaging Jiahe Beijing
City Shopping Center Company Limited (5% &2 At 2B EDESBR A
A]), and manager of sales department, project supervisor, deputy general
manager and vice general manager in general affairs of Zhejiang Lai Yin
Da Commercial Development Company Ltd. (TR EEREEBEBR A
A)). Ms. Tang obtained a diploma in economics and management from the
Zhejiang Province Mechanic and Politics University (I 3T Bk T BUAAE)
(currently known as Zhejiang University of Economics and Management
O T&BEEIZRE)) in July 1994,
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Non-executive Director

Mr. Shi Kancheng (FE{f &) (alias Shi Zhongan (jEF %)), aged 52, is a
non-executive Director and chairman of the Board. He was appointed as
a Director on 2 July 2013 and re-designated as non-executive Director
on 30 September 2013. He is responsible for assisting the Board in the
strategic planning of the Group, leading the Board to ensure that it will
perform its roles and carry out its responsibilities effectively, and ensuring
proper corporate governance practices and procedures are implemented
within the Group. However, he does not participate in the day-to-day
management of the business operations of the Group.

Mr. Shi has over 20 years of experience in property development and
property investment. Mr. Shi currently also serves as the executive
director, chairman and the chief executive officer of Zhong An (stock
code: 672), a company which shares are listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange. Mr. Shi completed an Executive Master of Business
Administration Program (Finance Track) organized by the Shanghai
National Accounting Institute and obtained a CFO Qualifying Training
Certificate in June 2007, a program for executive officers, focusing
on globalization and real estate developers, organized by the Foreign
Academic Cultural Exchange Center of Tsinghua University (i& % A 24
SNBSS in October 2006 and a program for presidents of
real estate companies organized by Zhejiang University in July 2006. Mr.
Shi is a director of certain subsidiaries of the Remaining Zhong An Group
and the Group.
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry (Rt Jt), aged 55, is the independent non-
executive Director and vice chairman of the Board. He was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 31 May 2014. He has over
25 years of experience in operations and management. Since October
2014, Mr. Ng has been the chief executive officer and an executive
director of L’AVENUE International Holdings Limited, a private company
in Hong Kong, and his leadership responsibilities include strategic
planning, financial investments, management of property development
and investment portfolio, both in Hong Kong and overseas. Since January
2012, Mr. Ng has been the founding member and a director of Terry Ng
& Associates Limited in which he manages his own investment portfolio
including real estate, equity market and private equity. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Ng was an executive director of Hang Lung Group Limited
(stock code: 010) and Hang Lung Properties Limited (stock code: 101),
companies which shares are listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange, respectively and was mainly responsible for such groups’
strategic and corporate planning, financial investments, and relations with
the investment community. He was also an executive director of Giordano
International Limited (stock code: 709), a company which shares are listed
on the main board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Ng has over eight years
of work experience with Giordano International Limited and its affiliated
companies, and held other various positions including senior vice president
of international business and assistant director of business development.
He also worked at the Stock Exchange and held various positions including
senior manager of listing division, department head of finance division and
manager of finance division. Mr. Ng is a fellow member of CPA Australia.
He obtained a master’'s degree in business administration from Asia
International Open University (Macau) (currently known as City University of
Macau) in November 1995 and a bachelor degree in commerce majoring
in accounting and finance systems from the University of New South Wales
in April 1985.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Xu Chengfa (ZBR2), aged 62, is the independent non-executive
Director. He was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
on 31 May 2014. Mr. Xu has over 20 years of experience in banking
operations and management. He worked in the Bank of Communications
Co., Ltd. (stock code: 3328), a company which shares are listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange and held various positions including
senior manager of investment banking department, senior manager of
corporate services department, assistant general manager, deputy general
manager, deputy chief executive officer and consultant.

Mr. Yim Chun Leung (B&¥&R%=), aged 53, is the independent non-
executive Director. He was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 31 May 2014. Mr. Yim has over 30 years of experience
in auditing, accounting and finance fields. Mr. Yim is the independent
non-executive Director who has the qualifications and experience (as
mentioned above) to meet the requirements under Rule 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules.

Mr. Yim is a non-practicing member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and an associate of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales. He also possesses a master’s degree in business
administration.

He is also an executive director and chief executive officer of LVGEM
(China) Real Estate Investment Company Limited (formerly known as
“New Heritage Holdings Ltd.”) (stock code: 95), a company which
shares are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange. LVGEM
(China) Real Estate Investment Company Limited is a holding company
of a group which is principally engaged in property development and
property investment in the PRC with portfolio comprising of, among
others, investment in commercial complex property and development in
office property in the PRC. Mr. Yim had also held other senior positions or
directorships in public listed companies in Hong Kong.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Shi Wei (A&, aged 40, is the vice-president of the Group who
is responsible for marketing and development. Mr. Shi Wei joined the
Group in January 2015. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Shi Wei was the
general manager of Hangzhou Xin Hubin Commercial Development Co.,
Ltd. (AMEETHEREEERBR AR from July 2012 to March 2014,
general manager of operation and group purchase divisions of Intime
Department Store Group ((RZFBHEEE) from July 2009 to June 2012,
general manager of Intime Lotte Department Store (24 XK3IEZHE) from
March 2007 to June 2009, general manager of marketing division of Intime
Department Store Group from November 2006 to March 2007, general
manager of Intime Chongging Shop ((RZFFEE L) from April 2005 to
October 2006, and department manager of Zhejiang Intime Department
Store Co., Ltd. G TIRFEEBMRAF]) from December 1997 to March
2005. Mr. Shi Wei obtained the master degree in business administration
from China Europe International Business School in November 2014 and
college degree from China University of Geosciences in July 1995.

Mr. Hua Zhen Dong (ZRR), aged 41, is the vice-president of the
Group who is responsible for marketing and management. Mr. Hua jointed
the Group in November 2014. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Hua was the
general manager of marketing and management department of Lu Cheng
Ding Vi Property Investment Management Co., Ltd. (4% S 25 1R E
EIEABR AT from December 2013 to November 2014, deputy general
manager and marketing director of Yuyao Property Co., Ltd. under Zhong
An Group (REZEBERIEEBMRAT) from July 2007 to February
2013, sales director of Shanghai Pengxin Group (_E/&HSIAEE) from
October 2003 to March 2005, sales manager of Zhejiang Nan Du Property
Group CHNIFE#EEESE) from January 2002 to October 2003, sales
director of Shanghai Fu Cheng Real Estate (_E/8#&@#HZE ) from October
2000 to December 2001, and sales representative of Zhejiang Lu Cheng
Group CIT#7%EE) from October 1999 to September 2000. Mr.
Hua obtained college degree in Adult Education Marketing from Zhejiang
University in July 1998.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Ms. Luo Zhen, aged 39, is the director of human administration center
of the Group. Ms. Luo joined the Group in January 2015. Prior to joining
the Group, Ms. Luo was the deputy general manager of Hangzhou Xin
Hubin Commercial Development Co., Ltd. from March 2009 to November
2014, and director of president office of Intime Department Store (Group)
Company Limited from November 2004 to March 2009. Ms. Luo obtained
the MBA master degree from Zhejiang University in March 2012 and
bachelor degree in Journalism and Communication from Hangzhou
University in July 1998.

Mr. Shi Lin Chong (FEM) , aged 32, is the financial controller of the
Group. Mr. Shi Lin Chong joined Zhong An Group in March 2008. He
was the manager of financial department of Yuyao Zhong An Property
Development Co., Ltd. CGRIKRLZEHERZEFRAF) from October
2012 to February 2014. Prior to joining Zhong An Group, Mr. Shi Lin Chong
was the accounting director of financial department of Shanghai New
Century Enterprise Operation Management Limited ( /85T %
EEARAT) from April 2007 to February 2008, teller and accountant
of financial department of Henan Kaiyuan Property Co., Ltd. CRIEFTE
HEARAT]) from April 2006 to April 2007, and accountant of financial
department of Hangzhou Kaiyuan Property Management Co., Ltd. ()N
FTWEEEARAE]) from May 2005 to April 2006. Mr. Shi Lin Chong
obtained the bachelor degree in accountant from the Open University of
China (Beijing Technology and Business University) in January 2009.

Mr. Shi Yong (£8), aged 48, is the general director of planning
department of the Group. He has been the head of planning department of
Zhejiang Zhongan Commercial Investment Management Co., Ltd.* (#/T
BLEEREEEARAT), since May 2012. Mr. Shi had also been the
general designer of research and development center. Prior to joining the
Group, he had been program director, project leader and chief architect
of Hangzhou Tianyuan Architecture Design Co. Ltd. (FiMKTEEER
#1B2), and project leader and chief architect of Zhegong Da Institute of
Architectural Design (#f T AR S 5T #75kT ). Mr. Shi obtained a diploma
in construction from the Zhejiang Radio and Television University (/T &
EEEAZ)in July 1991,
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Mr. Yuan Kejian (RA[ &), aged 39, is the vice president of the Group
and is responsible in overseeing merchandising and operations. Mr.Yuan
has been the vice general manager of Zhejiang Zhongan Commercial
Investment Management Co., Ltd.* GINIRLZEEREEEARA
A]) and general manager of Yuyao Zhongan Times Square Commercial
Management Co., Ltd.* (RBLHRESHEEEBRAT) since
January 2013 and is mainly responsible for merchandising, operations
and management. Prior to joining the Group, he held various positions
including general manager of the Ningbo development project company,
Cixi development project. He had also been the merchandising operations
general director of Ningbo Fubon Century Commercial Plaza Development
Co., Ltd (B EH L EEEISREFRAA) (formerly known as
Ningbo Hua Chen Junlin Real Estate Development Management Ltd.
(BREREREBHERNZEERERAR)), merchandising operations
manager of Ningbo Wanda Plaza Commercial Management Ltd. (Z)5 &
EESEmEEEARAR) and merchandising manager of Ningbo City
Plaza Development and Operation Co. Ltd. (25T E B KL BT
A7]) . He was a floor manager of Ningbo Xinhualian Commercial Building
(B FEREE) . He also worked as a salesperson and floor manager
of Hualian Baihuo Ningbo Haishu Co., Ltd ($RZ% A EEEEARAR])
(formerly known as Ningbo Hualian Group Co., Ltd (Z=&FEREE AL
BBRAT])). Mr. Yuan obtained a diploma in financial accounting from the
Ningbo Radio and TV University (% EEE R AZ)in July 1998.

FINANCIAL CONTROLLER AND
COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Hang Chu Kwong, aged 43, has been appointed as the financial
controller and company secretary of the Company. He has about 19
years of accounting, audit and financial management experience. He had
been the deputy financial controller of Agile Property Holdings Limited
(stock code: 3383), a company which shares are listed on the main board
of the Stock Exchange, from March 2011 to September 2014. Prior to
that, he had worked in various financial related positions in a number of
property development companies, which shares are listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange, and had worked in various positions of the
audit department in an international accounting firm. Mr. Hang is a fellow
member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a non-
practicing member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Mr. Hang graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a
bachelor degree in accountancy.
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The directors (the “Directors”) of China New City Commercial Development
Limited (the “Company”) are pleased to present their annual report to
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) and the audited
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2014.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is principally
engaged in commercial property development, leasing and hotel
operations. The nature of the principal activities has not changed during
the year under review.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2014 and the state
of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set out in the
financial statements on pages 74 to 82.

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2014 (2013: Nil).

SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last four financial years, as
extracted from the published audited financial statements and the
prospectus of the Company dated 17 June 2014, is set out on page 224.
This summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property and equipment, and investment
properties of the Group and the Company during the year under review are
set out in notes 13 and 14 to the financial statements respectively. Further
details of the Group’s investment properties are set out on pages 8 and 9.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the year
under review are set out in notes 31 to the financial statements.
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RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year under review are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and note 33 to the financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2014, the Company’s accumulated losses amounted
to RMB33,025,000 and the Company’s share premium amounted to
RMB432,533,000. By passing an ordinary resolution of the Company,
dividends may also be declared and paid out of share premium account
or any other fund or account which can be authorized for this purpose in
accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The sales attributable to the five largest customers of the Group accounted
for about 17.6 % of the Group’s consolidated revenue for the year under
review.

The purchases attributable to the five largest suppliers of the Group
accounted for about 47.1 % of the Group’s consolidated purchases for the
year under review.

The largest supplier of the Group accounted for about 16.0% of the
Group’s consolidated purchases for the year under review.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholders (who
or which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company'’s issued share capital) has any interest in any of the Group’s five
largest suppliers.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors as at 31 December 2014 and up to the date of this report
were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhou Minghai (appointed on 29 January 2015)
Mr. Shi Guoliang (appointed on 29 January 2015)
Ms. Jin Ni

Mr. Li Chu

Ms. Tang Yiyan

Non-executive Director
Mr Shi Kancheng (alias Shi Zhongan)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry

Mr. Xu Chengfa

Mr. Yim Chun Leung

In accordance with articles 105(A) and 105(B) of the Company’s articles of
association, Ms. Jin Ni, Mr. Li Chu and Ms. Tang Yiyan will retire by rotation
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting (the “AGM”).

In accordance with article 109 of the Company’s articles of association,
Mr. Shi Kancheng, Mr. Zhou Minghai and Mr. Shi Guoliang shall hold office
only until the AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
AGM.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company still considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

Save for the transactions as disclosed in notes 2 and 34 to the
consolidated financial statements and in the section headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” of the Prospectus and the Supplemental
Prospectus, there was no contract of significance subsisting during or at
the end of the year under review in which a Director is or was materially
interested.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Group
are set out on pages 53 to 60 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Ms. Jin Ni, Mr. Li Chu and Ms. Tang Yiyan, all being executive
Directors, has entered into a service contract with the Company pursuant
to which he/she agreed to act as the executive Director for a term of three
years with effect from 31 May 2014.

Each of Mr. Zhou Minghai and Mr. Shi Guoliang, all being executive
Directors, has entered into a service contract with the Company pursuant
to which he agreed to act as the executive Director for a term of three years
with effect from 29 January 2015.

Mr. Shi Kancheng, being non-executive Director, has been appointed for
an initial term of three years with effect from 31 May 2014.

Each of Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry, Mr. Xu Chengfa and Mr. Yim Chun Leung,
all being independent non-executive Directors, has been appointed for an
initial term of three years with effect from 31 May 2014.

No Director (including the Directors proposed to be re-elected at the AGM)
has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to Shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with reference
to directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2014, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any associated corporation (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571
of the Laws of Hong Kong (the “SFO”)), as recorded in the register required
to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as
follows
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EERHE

Name of Approximate

Group member/ Capacity/nature Number of percentage of

Name of Director associated corporation of interest share(s) held shareholding

AEEREAT/

EEpE HEEE A8 5 ERHE FrsRAEE RESNEDL
(Note 1)
(HeF1)

Mr. Shi Kancheng The Company Interest of controlled 1,301,303,594 shares 74.87%
MR ST A /N corporations (Note 2) of HK$0.10 each (L)
Rt RS (Hit2) 1,301,308,504 [z Z %
EfE0.10B TR (L)

Zhong An Interest of controlled 1,628,760,000 shares 69.35%
RE corporation (Note 3) of HK$0.10 each (L)
EHER R (H7713) 1,628,760,000 R &%
EfE0.10BTRA (L)

Beneficial owner 5,183,720 shares 0.22%
(Note 4) of HK$0.10 each (L)
ERlBAMitd) 5,183,720 iR &%
EfEO. 10 TR (L)

Whole Good Beneficial owner 1 share of US$1.00 (L) 100%
24 EnBEBA 1A E 1.00E Tk (L)

Ms. Jin Ni Zhong An Beneficial owner 1,861,240 shares of 0.08%
et RE (Note 5) HK$0.10 each (L)
EREBA(WiTs) 1,861,240 B E MR
EfE0.10BTRA (L)

Mr. Li Chu Zhong An Beneficial owner 300,000 shares of 0.01%
TR F& (Note 6) HK$0.10 each (L)
BB AWTE) 300,000 % &%
EfE0.10BTRA (L)

Ms. Tang Yiyan Zhong An Beneficial owner 300,000 shares of 0.01%
EleEkat B (Note 7) HK$0.10 each (L)
ERHBAMIET) 300,000 &%
EfE0.10BTRH (L)
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Notes:

The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company or the relevant associated corporation.

Among these 1,301,303,594 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the Company
(“Shares”), 1,270,000,000 Shares are held by Ideal World Investments Limited
(“ldeal World”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Zhong An. The entire issued shares of
Zhong An are owned as to about 69.35% by Whole Good Management Limited (&
HERBRAF]) (“Whole Good”), which is wholly owned by Mr. Shi Kancheng. In
addition, 31,303,594 Shares are held by Whole Good. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Shi
Kancheng is taken to be interested in the Shares in which each of Ideal World and
Whole Good is interested.

These shares are held by Whole Good. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Shi Kancheng
is deemed to be interested in the shares of Zhong An in which Whole Good is
interested.

These shares represent the underlying shares in Zhong An comprised in the options
granted to and held by Mr. Shi Kancheng pursuant to its share option scheme
adopted on 15 May 2009.

These shares represent the underlying shares in Zhong An comprised in the options
granted to and held by Ms. Jin Ni pursuant to its share option scheme adopted on
15 May 2009.

These shares represent the underlying shares in Zhong An comprised in the options
granted to and held by Mr. Li Chu pursuant to its share option scheme adopted on
15 May 2009.

These shares represent the underlying shares in Zhong An comprised in the
options granted to and held by Ms. Tang Yiyan pursuant to its share option scheme
adopted on 15 May 2009.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2014, none of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company had or were deemed under the SFO
to have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of SFO) as recorded in the register required

to be

kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the

Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus, the Supplemental Prospectus and
the transactions as disclosed in note 2 and 34 to the consolidated financial
statements, no controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries has any
contract of significance with the Company or its subsidiaries during the
year under review.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and the Supplemental Prospectus, no
contracts of significance concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or subsisted during the year under review.

NON-COMPETE UNDERTAKINGS

The Company has received the written confirmation from ldeal
World, Zhong An, Whole Good and Mr. Shi Kancheng (collectively,
the “Controlling Shareholders”) in respect of the compliance with
the provisions of the non-compete undertakings (“Non-compete
Undertakings”), entered into between the Controlling Shareholders
and the Company as set out in the section headed “Relationship with
our Controlling Shareholders — Non-compete Undertakings” of the
Prospectus, from the Listing Date to the date of this report.

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed and confirmed
that the Controlling Shareholders have complied with the Non-compete
Undertakings and the Non-compete Undertakings has been enforced by
the Company in accordance with its terms from the Listing Date to the date
of this report.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s
interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation”, at no time
during the period under review were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any
Director or their respective spouses or minor children, or were any such
rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in
any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ E 3
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN  #&
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2014, so far as is known to the Directors, the following
persons (other than a Director or the chief executive of the Company)
had an interest or short position in the Shares and underlying Shares as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section

2 % SR B%: {7 B AE BRI BS: {73 &Y
BRRE

M2014F12 A31H » REFMA - BIREES
R EAE 5B 533618 R E B AR FIIFE & MET
ik THMA L (ESHARRNESITHRA SR
SN R BAD RABRRR D MRS OA B I T ¢

336 of the SFO:

Percentage of
the Company’s

Capacity/nature Number of issued share
Name of shareholder of interest Shares held capital
EARRRERIT
REAB B, EmitE FERGEE RAEBD
(Note 1)
(Btst1)
|deal World Beneficial owner 1,270,000,000 Shares (L) 73.07%
EmBEAA 1,270,000,000 %A% 15 (L)
Zhong An Interest of controlled corporation
B (Note 2) 1,270,000,000 Shares (L) 73.07%
TG EE SR (A5t 2) 1,270,000,000 A& A% (L)
Whole Good Interest of controlled corporation 1,270,000,000 Shares (L) 73.07%
214f (Note 2) 1,270,000,000 A& A% 17 (L)
REEEE RS (At 2)
Beneficial owner 31,303,594 Shares (L) 1.80%
Em=BEAA 31,303,594 B A&7 (L)
Bondic International Beneficial owner 119,266,000 Shares (L) 6.86%
Holdings Limited EnlEEA 119,266,000 A% A% 15 (L)
Mr. Cheung Chung Kiu Interest of controlled 119,266,000 Shares (L) 6.86%

RIMB A
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Notes:
1. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

2. These shares are held by Ideal World, the wholly owned subsidiary of Zhong An.
The entire issued shares of Zhong An are owned as to about 69.35% by Whole
Good, which is wholly owned by Mr. Shi Kancheng. By virtue of the SFO, each
of Zhong An, Whole Good and Mr. Shi Kancheng is taken to be interested in the
Shares in which Ideal World is interested.

3. These shares are held by Bondic International Holdings Limited. The entire issued
shares of Bondic International Holdings Limited are owned by Mr. Cheung Chung
Kiu.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2014, other than the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company whose interests are set
out in the paragraph headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests
and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any associated corporation” above, no person had interest or
short position in the Shares or underlying Shares which were required to
be recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to Section 336 of the SFO.

RELATED PARTY AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Details of significant related party transactions of the Group are set out in
note 34 to the financial statements.

Certain related party transactions as disclosed in Note 34 to the financial
statements also constituted continuing connected transactions. Since
the Listing Date and up to 31 December 2014, the Group has conducted
the following continuing connected transaction which was required to be
disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules:
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As disclosed in the Prospectus under the section headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions”, pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement (as
defined in the Prospectus) dated 16 March 2014 and entered into between
Yuyao Zhong'an Property Co., Ltd.* (GRIKBRLZEEERAR) (“Yuyao
Zhong’an Property”), an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of Zhong
An, and Yuyao Zhongan Times Square Property Co., Ltd.* (5 R % Hs
RESZEEABRAT]) (“Yuyao Times Square Property”), an indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, Yuyao Zhong’an Property was
appointed as the exclusive project manager for the overall management
and supervision of the ongoing construction, development and sales of the
residential properties situated on top of a commercial complex in Zhong
An Times Square (Phase ll). For other major terms and conditions of the
Cooperation Agreement, please refer to the section headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions — Cooperation Agreement” in the Supplemental
Prospectus for details. Pursuant the Cooperation Agreement the net sales
proceeds under the Cooperation Agreement will be payable by the Group
to Yuyao Zhong’an Property on 30 June 2016. From the Listing Date to 31
December 2014, no proceeds was paid by the Group to Yuyao Zhong’an
Property under the Cooperation Agreement.

Confirmation of independent non-executive
Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Cooperation
Agreement and confirmed that the transaction has been entered into:

(1) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(2)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(8)  according to the Cooperation Agreement on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

Confirmation of auditors of the Company

Emnst & Young, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to report on the
Cooperation Agreement in accordance with Practice Note 740 Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Ernst & Young has issued its unqualified letter containing their findings and
conclusions in respect of the Cooperation Agreement in accordance with
Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions required to
be disclosed as non-exempt connected transactions or non-exempt
continuing connected transactions in accordance with the Listing Rules
during the year ended 31 December 2014. The Company has complied
with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities since the Listing Date
and up to the date of this report.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year under review, the Group made charitable donations
amounting to approximately RMB 800,000 (2013: RMB Nil).

EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR UNDER
REVIEW

In relation to the MOU entered into between the Group and The People’s
Government of Lubu Town* (R#kMFEEREARBAT) (the “Lubu Town
Government”), Yuyao, Zhejiang Province in April 2014 as disclosed in the
Prospectus and as announced in the announcement of the Company
dated 14 January 2015, the Group has entered into a cooperation
agreement and a supplemental cooperation agreement with the Lubu
Town Government in January 2015 in respect of the proposed formation of
a joint venture company for the engagement in land development activities
on the site for the development of the first phase of the Lubu New Town (B
15 ) covering a total of approximately 1,200 mu of land.

Save as disclosed above, no events have caused material impact on the
Group from the end of the year under review to the date of this report.

AUDITORS

Emnst & Young retired and a resolution for their reappointment as auditors
of the Company will be proposed at the AGM.

On Behalf of the Board of
China New City Commercial Development Limited

Shi Kancheng
Chairman

The PRC, 24 March 2015
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Independent Auditors’ Report
¥ 3 A% BYE

EY =i«

To the shareholders of China New City Commercial Development
Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China New City
Commercial Development Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together, the “Group”) set out on pages 74 to 223, which comprise
the consolidated and company statements of financial position as at 31
December 2014, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31
December 2014, and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with IFRSs and have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

24 March 2015
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

mEEmR

Year ended 31 December 2014 #Z 2014412 A31 HILFE

2014 2013
2014 £ 20134
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HizF AR¥T T ARET T
REVENUE LON 5 208,853 875,842
Cost of sales SHE PAS (100,239) (506,994)
Gross profit EF 108,614 368,848
Other income and gains E A YA K i m 5 35,377 14,178
Selling and distribution expenses SHE kD ERX (35,955) (32,822)
Administrative expenses TR (111,811) (69,114)
Other expenses Hnp (265) (1,494)
Fair value gain upon transfer to R EI AR
investment properties A EERE 14 656,784 256,292
Changes in fair value of HEMEN R EEE
investment properties 14 33,200 60,600
Finance costs WFER 7 (30,047) =
Share of profits and losses of: 4% =k B8
Joint ventures N /NG] 18 (259) (2,409)
An associate — i QA 19 141 13,937
PROFIT BEFORE TAX R A 6 655,779 608,016
Income tax expense FrS R 10 (193,275) (212,232)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRFE 462,504 395,784
Attributable to: LUT e
Owners of the parent ISYNCIE/ZEPN 11 476,504 364,623
Non-controlling interests IR S (14,000) 31,161
462,504 395,784
Earnings per share attributable BAREBEREFEEA
to ordinary equity holders EHEREFR
of the parent (AE®) 12
Basic E- /N RMB32 cents RMB29 cents
ARE32% AR 295
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

SLeEEHEWRER

Year ended 31 December 2014 & Z= 2014412 A31 HILFE[E

2014 2013
2014 20134
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HigF AR¥T T ARET T
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRFIHE 462,504 395,784
Other comprehensive income Hit 2wz
Other comprehensive income REZBEEN D BE=EEN
to be reclassified to profit or loss Hib 2wz
in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation MEBINETGHIIE X258
of foreign operations (11,798) 41,690
Net other comprehensive income REBHSEHHEEEEN
to be reclassified to profit or loss Hith 2 E W58
in subsequent periods (11,798) 41,690
Total comprehensive income FRAZHEKEEE
for the year 450,706 437,474
Attributable to: DU PEk -
Owners of the parent [SYNSIEZZ=PN 11 464,706 406,313
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR A (14,000) 31,161
450,706 437,474
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B R R

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 H

31 December

31 December

2014 2013
20144 20134
12A31H 12 H31H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HiaF ARMT T ARET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property and equipment EISET 13 167,845 178,739
Investment properties TEYE 14 3,773,200 2,501,000
Properties under development FEE Y2 15 3,063,991 2,835,191
Available-for-sale investments AHEERE 16 3,300 3,300
Long term prepayments RHIFE R 17 18,661 12,232
Investments in joint ventures AR B RARINRE 18 46,228 412,448
Investment in an associate R—EEE AR E 19 - 45,086
Loans and receivables from a joint venture ~ —EI& &R A E XK
K peWRIA 20 390,931 -
Deferred tax assets EETRIBE E 21 49,582 21,511
Restricted cash XPRHRE 26 - 95,750
Total non-current assets BIERENEE 7,513,738 6,105,257
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Completed properties held for sale BIEHEEE R TYE 23 846,936 893,108
Properties under development FAEE 15 614,464 -
Inventories & 3,570 3,970
Trade receivables FEWE SRR 24 12,961 9,270
Prepayments, deposits TERRIE - ek
and other receivables H fib fE W 518 25 46,357 61,010
Amount due from related companies e NGB 34 112,359 1,700,442
Loans and receivables from a joint venture ~ —FEI& &R A E R
N FEMRIR 20 29,769 -
Restricted cash ZBR IR % 26 139,758 3,415
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkREFEY 26 723,909 223,993
Total current assets BRENEE 2,530,083 2,895,208
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Trade payables FERTE SRR 27 564,032 466,224
Other payables and accruals HoAth FES SUE R FERTE A 28 119,752 84,976
Advances from customers BETEMR 29 129,473 6,877
Amounts due to related companies Rz NGB 34 - 2,737,313
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5t B2 SR1TE R K bk 30 1,638,031 100,000
Tax payable JE IR 10 178,549 211,877
Total current liabilities BREAE 2,629,837 3,607,267
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEEFE (99,754) (712,059)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS HEERRBARE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 7,413,984 5,393,198
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31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 B

31 December 31 December
2014 2013
2014 F 20134
12H31H 12 H31H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HiaE AR¥T T ARET T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Interest-bearing bank and AT EIRTTER
other borrowings K EMERR 30 2,240,498 2,334,568
Deferred tax liabilities EEIBEE 21 716,062 517,348
Total non-current liabilities HIERBEE 2,956,560 2,851,916
Net assets BEE 4,457,424 2,541,282
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners HARER A
of the parent FEfh
Share capital &N 31 138,183 =
Reserves ] 33 4,149,691 2,326,407
4,287,874 2,326,407
Non-controlling interests FEiERRER 169,550 214,875
Total equity i 4,457,424 2,541,082
Directors:
Jin Ni
Li Chu
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEERBER

Year ended 31 December 2014 #Z 2014412 A31 HILFE

Share Statutory  Exchange Non-
Share  premium  Capital Other  surplus fluctuation  Retained controlling Total
capital  account  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  profits Total interests  equity
i EE Ed

Bx  EER BAGRE A6ER BGER REGR REEN M ARER 48
RMBOOD RMBOO0 RMB0J RMBOOD RMBOOD RMBOOO RMBOJ RMBO0D RMBOOD RMBIOO0

ARBTR ARBTT ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARETT ARNMTZ ARMTR ARMTR ARETR

Notes Note31 Note33) Note33p)  Note Note33(c)
i3 Bl KiEssm Mwosh)  MES2 KEsE
A1 January 2014 20141 A1A - - 146615 5815 81,716 287,059 1,855,202 2326407 214875 2,541,282
Proft for the year Efgh - - - - - - 476504 476504 (14,0000 462,504
Other comprehensive income EREmRENG :
for the year:
Exchange diferences on transiaion ~ AE SN EREL 2
of foreign operations EiEE - - - - - (11799 - (1179%) - (11,79%)
Total comprehensive income EREENGEE
for the year - - - - - (11,798) 476504 464706 (14,0000 450,706
Setflement of debs to equity RigELE kil 80 - 063559 - - - - 063639 - 063639
Issue of shares S0 31 31218 445433 - - - - - 48 -4
Share issue expense Rirg ks 31 - (12900) - - - - - (1290 - (12,90
Deem contbution by the HEAERRRLE
Controling Shareholder 38 - - 212402 - - - (209,250) 63,152 - 63152
Shares captalised standing to EnGREER,
the credit of capital reserve EMRD 31 100,825 - (1008%5) - - - - - - -
Acaisiton of non-controling Wi iR
Interests - - - - - - - - (3132 (31,329
Eauity-setfled share option RiEEEERERH
arangements - - - 159 - - - 159 - 159
At 31 December 2014 R2014E12A31H 136,183 432,533+ 1,281,751 5914 81,116* 225261 2122456 4,287,874 169,950 4,457,424
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated other reserves of * HERHBEASAMBRARARAEEHEAR
RMB4,149,691,000 (2013: RMB2,326,407,000) in the consolidated statement of ¥:4,149,691,000 7T, (2013 5 : AR 2,326,407,000
financial position. ) ©
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEERBER

Year ended 31 December 2014 EZE 20144 12 A 31 HILFEE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRFER ARG
Statutory  Exchange Non-
Capital Other ~ surplus  fluctuation  Retained controling Total
Share reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Totl  interests equity
capial 27 Aff iy Ex SR
i Fife Gh RBEE  RBEE  REER 5t En s
RMB'000  RMB'O00 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'O00 RMB'000  RMB'0O0  RMB000
ARETR ARETL ARETT ARBTT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETI
Note 31 Note33()  Note32 Note33(c)
fiFar  Mrssp)  MER WSO
At1 January 2013 RO13E1A1R - 146615 4630 56436 195369 1515859 1918909 183714 2,102,623
Proft for the year Emat - - - - - 34628 364623 31161 395784
Other comprehensive income EREMIENGE
for the year:
Exchange differences on translaion - &80 &
of foreign operations LERER - - - - A8 - 460 - 4690
Total comprehensive income FREENEEE
for the year - - - - 41690 364,623 406,313 31,161 437,474
Transfer from retained profits BREREER - - - 2520 - (25280 - - -
Equity-settled share option EZERRERS
arrangements - - 1,185 - - - 1,185 - 1,185
At 31 December 2013 R2013%12A31H - 146615 5815 81,716 237,009 1856202 2326407 214875 2,641,282
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERTRER

Year ended 31 December 2014 #Z 2014412 A31 HILFE

2014 2013
2014 % 20134
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Hist ARETR ARET T
Cash flows from operating activities REXBENBRESRE
Profit before tax BR A A 655,779 608,016
Adjustments for: AR
Depreciation e 13 13,413 14,414
Fair value gain upon transfer to HETREYER
investment properties AR EERE 14 (656,784) (256,292)
Changes in fair value of BEYER
investment properties DREEE 14 (33,200) (60,600)
Equity-settled share option expense BRIESEE R R 32 159 1,185
Share of profits and losses of DMtaA REE
joint ventures BEAT] 259 2409
an associate i) AN (141) (13,937
Finance costs FBER 7 30,047 -
Interest income FSIA (32,306) (2,437)
(22,774) 292,758
(Increase)/decrease in properties FEE R EE (38 m), SR
under development (1,154,534) 471,468
Decrease/(increase) in completed FESREE &K
properties held for sale WER D,/ () 46,172 (943,764)
Increase in trade receivables e E 5 BRFRIE N (3,691) (6,458)
Decrease in prepayments, AR R REM
deposits and other receivables EMGIE R 14,653 36,935
Increase in long term prepayments RETRIFE AN (6,429) (6,753)
Decrease in inventories FERD 400 116
(Increase)/decrease in restricted cash for HEMBREXRGRE
pre-sales proceeds (m),/ mo (15,440) 17,750
Increase in trade payables FEfTE SRR 0 97,808 245,439
Increase in other payables and accruals HoA AT RRIE R FERT B RS N 55,896 7,942
Increase/(decrease) in advances from customers  Z AR RN,/ (Fi4) 122,596 (708,392)
Cash used in operations REEBRRRNRS (865,343) (592,959)
Interest received B UF 2 2,537 2,437
Interest paid ERFE (294,993) (93,943)
Income tax and land appreciation tax paid BRI ATEH R T ER (55,960) (29,741)
Net cash flows used in REEBFERAN
operating activities HEeREFHE (1,213,759) (714,206)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
LEHERER

Year ended 31 December 2014 £ Z 20144 12 A31 HILEE

2014 2013
2014 F 2013
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Hiet ARETT ARETIT
Cash flows from investing activities REEBRELENTERE
Capital contributions and loans to AEEARIRE L EE
joint ventures KE (24,970) (53,235)
Purchases of items of property and equipment BB NREIER (2,696) (8,342)
Proceeds from disposal of HEMEHEREMESRE
available-for-sale investments - 2,310
Proceeds from disposal of items HEYERSEERE
of property and equipment Pﬁﬁ?ﬂ 177 43
(Advance to)/repayment from related companies BB A] (B50), B (43,937) 1,320,481
Increase in restricted cash xﬁE%lJiiﬁiEﬂﬂ (28,568) =
Decrease in restricted cash SRRHF LR 3,415 6,001
Net cash flows (used in)/from REX£% (EH),FrEm
investing activities BeREFHE (96,579) 1,267,258
Cash flows from financing activities RETHEENERLSRE
Proceeds from issue of shares BIIRGETEE0E 482,522 =
Share issue expenses WD EATRY (40,020) =
New interest-bearing bank and e RIRITER
other borrowings K E g 2,050,961 1,530,817
Repayment of interest-bearing bank and B BRITER
other borrowings R EM{EFR (607,000) (1,116,986)
Repayment to related companies BRE AR FE (77,089) (921,670)
Net cash flows from/(used in) METHELE(FiA)
financing activities WEREEREFHE 1,809,404 (507,839)
Net increase in cash and ReRBELEEY
cash equivalents #nEEE 499,066 45,213
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ~ F#H3R& KBS EEY 223,993 179,500
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net ERETMNTE  FE 850 (720)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FRESRESZEEY 723,909 223,993
Analysis of balances of cash BEeRBEZENESIM
and cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances W& MIRITHRE R 26 723,909 223,993
FEFHMRERRARAF —mesR 81



Statement of Financial Position

B ISR T 2R

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 H

2014 2013
2014 20134
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Hiat AR®T T AREET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RETE R R RI%E 22 1,326,803 =
Total non-current assets BIERENEE 1,326,803 =
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries R NGIE R 22 1,315,840 =
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEEY 26 8,632 =
Total current assets BB EE 1,324,472 =
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEAE
Amounts due to subsidiaries e BT /B A B 5kIE 22 895,934 -
Other payables and accruals HoAth fE A 5RE K B AT E 28 6,284 30
Total current liabilities BREAE 902,218 30
NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) REBEE (8E)FE 422,254 (80)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS REERTBEME
CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,749,057 (80)
Net assets/(liabilities) BEE(8E) 1,749,057 (30)
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to owners of the parent &R EIEA A fE(HHER
Share capital &N 31 138,183 =
Reserves & 33 1,610,874 (30)
Total equity R 1,749,057 (30)
Directors: FE
Jin Ni &k
Li Chu £
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Notes to Financial Statements

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 B

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

China New City Commercial Development Limited (the “Company”)
is a limited liability company incorporated as an exempted company
in the Cayman Islands on 2 July 2013 under the Companies Law
(revised) of the Cayman Islands. The registered office address of the
Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and
its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) were members of the group
of Zhong An Real Estate Limited (“Zhong An”) and its subsidiaries
(“Zhong An Group”). Zhong An, the shares of which have been listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Stock Exchange”) since November 2007, is the holding company
of Zhong An Group.

The Group is principally engaged in commercial property
development, leasing and hotel operations.

In the opinion of the Company’s directors (the “Directors”),
the ultimate holding company of the Company is Whole Good
Management Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands on 3 May 2007 .

LFEH

PR TR ERERARAR(AAR DR
20137 H2 HEHRSHERERSHER
ALEUERTMR) ML RERE AR AR
AR AT EEA A Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman KY1-1111,Cayman Islands °

AR B —EREER AR o KRR REM
BAR(SHAEE ) AREEEERAR
(IR2)REMBAR(REER DHKE
AR e BRE(ERMHE 82007 F11 AE
BRHARSHARAR ([BRAT])ERE
) ARRZEEMRZERAR]

ARETENEEAYLAY  AEREE
I -

ARREER([EF]RA - NABMNRRIE
BARREHFERARAF (—KRN 2007 F
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR ER AR M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 H

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2. WHIEER SR

2.1 Basis of presentation 21 Z2HEE

Through the reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”) as set out in
the section headed “History, Reorganisation, and Corporate
Structure” in the Prospectus of the Company dated 17 June
2014 for the listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock
Exchange, the Company became the holding company of
the companies now comprising the Group on 20 March
2014. The shares of the Company were listed on the Stock
Exchange on 10 July 2014.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared and presented based on the principle of merger
accounting in accordance with Accounting Guideline 5 Merger
Accounting for Common Control Combinations issued by the
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the “HKICPA”), as if the Reorganisation had been completed
as at the beginning of the year ended 31 December 2014
because the Company’s acquisition of the companies now
comprising the Group should be regarded as a business
combination under common control as the Company and the
companies now comprising the Group were under common
control of Zhong An both before and after the completion of
the Reorganisation.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 B

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WHIEER SR ()

2.2 Basis of preparation 22 RUEE

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”),
which comprise standards and interpretations approved by
the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”),
and International Accounting Standards and Standing
Interpretations Committee interpretations approved by the
International Accounting Standards Committee that remain
in effect. These financial statements also comply with the
applicable requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance relating to the preparation of financial statements,
which for this financial year and the comparative period
continue to be those of the predecessor Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 32), in accordance with transitional and
saving arrangements for Part 9 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622), “Accounts and Audit”, which are set
out in sections 76 to 87 of Schedule 11 to that Ordinance. The
financial statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for investment properties which have
been measured at fair value as explained in the accounting
policies set out below. These financial statements are
presented in RMB and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Net current liability

As at 31 December 2014, the current liabilities of the Group
exceeded its current assets by approximately RMB100 million.
In the opinion of the Directors, it is an industry practice for the
retail estate business to keep a low level of current ratio. The
Directors have prepared these financial statements on a going
concern basis notwithstanding the net current liability position
because the Directors expected that the Group will generate
sufficient cash inflows from the operation and have adequate
unused bank and other credit facilities to meet its financial
obligation when they fall due.
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR ER AR M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 H

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WHIEER SR ()

2.2 Basis of preparation (continued) 2.2 REEE (&)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 December 2014. The financial statements of the
subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The results
of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until
the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-
group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control described in
the accounting policy for subsidiaries below. A change in the
ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (i)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i)
the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 B

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & AR ()

2.2 Basis of preparation (continued) 2.2 RAEEE (&)

Basis of combination

As explained above, the Reorganisation is accounted for as
a reorganisation under common control using the principles
of merger accounting. The combined financial statement
incorporated the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2013.

The merger method of accounting involves incorporating
the financial statement items of the combining entities or
businesses in which the common control combination
occurs as if they had been combined from the date when the
combining entities or businesses first came under the control
of the controlling party.

The combined statement of profit or loss includes the results
of each of the combining entities or businesses from the
earliest date presented or since the date when the combining
entities or businesses first came under common control,
where this is a shorter period, regardless of the date of the
common control combination.

All intra-group balances, transactions, unrealised gains and
losses resulting from intra-group transactions and dividends
are eliminated on combination.
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR ER AR M

31 December 2014 2014412 531 H

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures

The Group has adopted the following revised standards and
a new interpretation for the first time for the current year’s
financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 10,
IFRS 12 and
IAS 27 (Revised)

Investment Entities

Amendments to IAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial

Liabilities

Amendments to IAS 36 Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-

Financial Assets

Amendments to IAS 39 Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of

Hedge Accounting

IFRIC 21 Levies

2. WREIEER & EHBK (#])

23 EHBREBRKE

REBERAFEMERE & IRERA
PN SCHES SRS

BB TSR E A
BISE10%: -
BREBREE
Bl 125 k&
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B ER R M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 B

BASIS OF PREPARATION o EEIEERSHEE (&)
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
2.3 Changes in accounting policies and 23 STHBERSBRIFE (&)
disclosures (continued)
Amendment to IFRS 2 Definition of Vesting Condition’ “T-THEZ  BEFHZER
included in Annual T-_FREH
Improvements 2 EEGERT
2010-2012 Cycle B2 EIRE
BHEERE2
AL,
Amendment to IFRS 3 Accounting for Contingent Consideration in a “ERRED RBAHAAAEIES
included in Annual Business Combination’ T_FREH EE
Improvements L EELE
2010-2012 Cycle BAEZ B
BHEEAES
AL,
Amendment to IFRS 13 Short-term Receivables and Payables “T-TRED RARYSRRENTE
included in Annual T-_FREH
Improvements 2 EEICERT
2010-2012 Cycle BB
BHEEAE
185 (51 7)
Amendment to IFRS 1 Meaning of Effective IFRSs SRR FHERYEHEEAZ
included in Annual T—=FRH TE
Improvements ZFEHCERT
2011-2013 Cycle B2 EIRE
BHEERE 1
% (BFT7)
1 Effective from 1 July 2014 1 BT —MF+A—HEER
The adoption of the above revised standards and BRAN S B RTAE R M e iR % 5 B
interpretation has had no significant financial effect on these BHRRUBEAMGEE

financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR ER AR M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 H

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

2.4 New and revised IFRSs and new
disclosure requirements under the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance not

yet adopted

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these

financial statements.

IFRS9

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28 (Revised)

Amendments to IFRS 10,
IFRS 12 and
IAS 28 (Revised)

Amendments to IFRS 11

IFRS 14

IFRS 15

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 16
and IAS 38
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 B

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. IEHIEEERSFTEE (8)
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 [EARRAEFET RS E
BRUMBHREEAUREELD

2.4 New and revised IFRSs and new
disclosure requirements under the

- - = == [—]
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance not ARG THHIERERTE
yet adopted (continued) (#&)
Amendments to Agriculture: Bearer Plants? BeiERE6 BX - LEMEY?
IAS 16 and IAS 41 FRARGE
BIZ 41 5 (55T
x)
Amendments to Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions' BREsTERE19 FEEHE  ESH
IAS 19 GA(CHES) A
Amendments to Equity Method in Separate Financial BResERET  BUUBEHRAZER L
IAS 27 (Revised) Statements? 5 (BRTAR) (8
{£37)
Annual Improvements Amendments to a number of IFRSs' —E-FEE-F SRR REER
2010-2012 Cycle ——FEHCE  (BEIA)
E#
Annual Improvements Amendments to a number of IFRSS' ZF—#22F ZEERHBREEN
2011-2013 Cycle —=#EFHzE  (EAIA)
Ei#
Annual Improvements Amendments to a number of IFRSs? —EF——#3F  ZEEEBEREE
2012-2014 Cycle —AEEHCE  (BFIAR)?
ER#
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014 1 RZZE—NFEEA—Bsz&HABE
FE R AR
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016 2 MNZE—XNF—HA—Basi &K
FERR AR
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 8 RZZE—tF—A— B z&HEBE
FERRAER
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 4 RZZE-—NF—A—Bsz&HRBE
FEER AR
5 Effective for an entity that first adopts IFRSs for its annual financial 5 BB M REEANELS

statements beginning on or after 1 January 2016 and therefore is

not applicable to the Group
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR ER AR M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 H

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WHIEER SR ()

2.4 New and revised IFRSs and new 24 ERFMNOEFE REIERTE

disclosure requirements under the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance not
yet adopted (continued)

In addition, the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.
622) will affect the presentation and disclosure of certain
information in the consolidated financial statements for the
year ending 31 December 2015. The Group is in the process
of making an assessment of the impact of these changes.

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is as follows:

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9,
bringing together all phases of the financial instruments
project to replace IAS 39 and all previous versions of IFRS 9.
The standard introduces new requirements for classification
and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. The
Group expects to adopt IFRS 9 from 1 January 2018. The
Group expects that the adoption of IFRS 9 will have an impact
on the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial
assets. Further information about the impact will be available
nearer the implementation date of the standard.

The amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (Revised) address
an inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and
in IAS 28 (Revised) in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
when the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business,
a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in
the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments from 1 January 2016.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 B

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WHIEER SR ()

2.4 New and revised IFRSs and new 24 ERFMWOEFE RKERTE

disclosure requirements under the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance not
yet adopted (continued)

The amendments to IFRS 11 require that an acquirer of
an interest in a joint operation in which the activity of the
joint operation constitutes a business must apply the
relevant principles for business combinations in IFRS 3.
The amendments also clarify that a previously held interest
in a joint operation is not remeasured on the acquisition of
an additional interest in the same joint operation while joint
control is retained. In addition, a scope exclusion has been
added to IFRS 11 to specify that the amendments do not
apply when the parties sharing joint control, including the
reporting entity, are under common control of the same
ultimate controlling party. The amendments apply to both
the acquisition of the initial interest in a joint operation and
the acquisition of any additional interests in the same joint
operation. The amendments are not expected to have any
impact on the financial position or performance of the Group
upon adoption on 1 January 2016.

IFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model that will apply
to revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under
IFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects
the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.
The principles in IFRS 15 provide a more structured approach
for measuring and recognising revenue. The standard also
introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative disclosure
requirements, including disaggregation of total revenue,
information about performance obligations, changes in
contract asset and liability account balances between
periods and key judgements and estimates. The standard will
supersede all current revenue recognition requirements under
IFRSs. The Group expects to adopt IFRS 15 on 1 January
2017 and is currently assessing the impact of IFRS 15 upon
adoption.
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR ER AR M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 H

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WHIEER SR ()

2.4 New and revised IFRSs and new 24 ERFMNOEFE REIERTE

disclosure requirements under the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance not
yet adopted (continued)

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 clarify the principle in IAS
16 and IAS 38 that revenue reflects a pattern of economic
benefits that are generated from operating business (of
which the asset is part) rather than the economic benefits
that are consumed through the use of the asset. As a result,
a revenue-based method cannot be used to depreciate
property, plant and equipment and may only be used in
very limited circumstances to amortise intangible assets.
The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The
amendments are not expected to have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group upon adoption
on 1 January 2016 as the Group has not used a revenue-
based method for the calculation of depreciation of its non-
current assets.

The Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle issued
in December 2013 sets out amendments to a number of
IFRSs. Except for those described in note 2.3, the Group
expects to adopt the amendments from 1 January 2015.
None of the amendments are expected to have a significant
financial impact on the Group. Details of the amendment most
applicable to the Group are as follows:

IFRS 8 Operating Segments: Clarifies that an entity must
disclose the judgements made by management in applying
the aggregation criteria in IFRS 8, including a brief description
of operating segments that have been aggregated and
the economic characteristics used to assess whether the
segments are similar. The amendments also clarify that a
reconciliation of segment assets to total assets is only required
to be disclosed if the reconciliation is reported to the chief
operating decision maker.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 B

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WHIEER SR ()

2.5 Summary of significant accounting 25 FESTHERHBE

policies

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee).

When the company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(o)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
statement of profit or loss to the extent of dividends received
and receivable. The Company’s investments in subsidiaries
that are not classified as held for sale in accordance with
IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are stated at cost less any impairment losses.
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Notes to Financial Statements

PR ER AR M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 H

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WHIEER SR ()

2.5 Summary of significant accounting 25 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method
of accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are
made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that
may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is
included in the consolidated statement of profit and loss and
consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively. In
addition, when there has been a change recognised directly
in the equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group
recognise its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and
its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s investments in the associates or joint ventures,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included as part of
the Group’s investments in associates or joint ventures.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 B

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & AR ()

2.5 Summary of significant accounting 25 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

The results of associates and joint ventures are included
in the Company’s statement of profit or loss to the extent
of dividends received and receivable. The Company’s
investments in associates and joint ventures are treated as
non-current assets and are stated at cost less any impairment
losses.

When an investment in an associates and joint venture is
classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance
with IFRS 5.
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PR ER AR M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 H

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WHIEER SR ()

2.5 Summary of significant accounting 25 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each
business combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or
at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed
as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 B

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & AR ()

2.5 Summary of significant accounting 25 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial
instrument and within the scope of IAS 39 is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value either recognised in profit
or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. If
the contingent consideration is not within the scope of IAS
39, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate IFRS.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss
as a gain on bargain purchase.
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Notes to Financial Statements

BAREER AR M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 H

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WHIEEREEE (])

2.5 Summary of significant accounting 25 FESTERHBE (&)

policies (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 B

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WHIEER SR ()

2.5 Summary of significant accounting 25 FESTEREE (&)

policies (continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties at fair value at
the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market
for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market,
in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability
is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.
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31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 H

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & EHBK (#])

2.5 Summary of significant accounting 25 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)
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Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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B ER R M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 B

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WHIEER SR ()

2.5 Summary of significant accounting

25 FESTTHRUE (&)

policies (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets, completed
properties held for sale, properties under development,
investment properties, and non-current assets/a disposal
group classified as held for sale), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the
higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use
and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets
or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount
is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises,
unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case
the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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2.5 Summary of significant accounting 25 FESTERHE (&)
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policies (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher
than the carrying amount that would have been determined
(net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal
of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset
is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
@iy is a member of the key management personnel of

the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. FHIEERSHBEER (8)
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

2.5 Summary of significant accounting 25 FESTERHE (&)
policies (continued)
Related parties (continued) BT (18)
(o) the party is an entity where any of the following (b) WMELNTNERNEE :

conditions applies:

()  the entity and the Group are members of the () ZERBEAEEAR—%
same group; EARKE

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the iy —"REBARESREE
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow (RZEEB QA - W
subsidiary of the other entity); BArkRRANBAR)

HOBS & N Al R E
8

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the (i) ZERBEASEARR—F
same third party; = 0 f =N /NCT

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the vy —REBRFE=THEE
other entity is an associate of the third entity; DA MB—RERAZ

F=FEBENBE AT

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for V) ZEBAASHEHZEAE
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an BEEREEN FRERIE
entity related to the Group; ZRERAGTEIZEA

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a Vi) ZEEARE@EATHAL
person identified in (a); and sk R - &

(vi) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant Vi) (@) A ENEAEZE
influence over the entity or is a member of the BEEMEMRENTE » 3k
key management personnel of the entity (or of a AT AEZERSNZE
parent of the entity). BN RANEEEEA
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. B AER SRR ()

2.5 Summary of significant accounting 25 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Property and equipment and depreciation

Property and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses. The cost of an item of property and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use. Cost may also include
transfers from equity of any gains or losses on qualifying cash
flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property and
equipment.

Expenditure incurred after items of property and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset
as a replacement. Where significant parts of property and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.

MERRERITE

BRAEZETIRIN - MERREIIIRAA
ERZFITE RMEMREBEAR -
MEMREORABEEREERE
] 8 A 5 = 2 AR S b B A T
S REMERERRARA o ATRA] 8
BRERARANMERREBINEE
BHRENAERREREBLETAESL
EfrT S k1A o

MERRBABREREENH
mEERREERS  —REAE
AHRIREMNBEER o MEDERER
% AIEARENFAXEREERE
BERFENMeEREE - HATHE R
REDMERZE - AARESHZ
EWOER /B EENERFHRNE
RIBELHEINE

106 China New City Commercial Development Limited 2014 Annual Report



Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 B

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WHIEER SR ()

2.5 Summary of significant accounting 25 FESTEREE (&)

policies (continued)

Property and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The estimated residual
values and useful lives for this purpose are as follows:

Useful lives Residual values

Buildings 20 years 5%
Hotel properties 20 years 5%
Office equipment 5 years 5%
Motor vehicles 5 years 5%

Where parts of an item of property and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual value, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected from its
use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year the
asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents renovation works in
progress and is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and
is not depreciated. Cost mainly comprises the direct costs of
construction during the period of construction. Construction in
progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of property
and equipment or investment properties when completed and
ready for use.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. B AER SRR ()

2.5 Summary of significant accounting 25 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold interest under an operating lease for
a property which would otherwise meet the definition of an
investment property) held to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes;
or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Investment
properties comprise completed investment properties and
investment properties under construction. Such properties
are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the end
of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of profit or
loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WHIEER SR ()

2.5 Summary of significant accounting

25 FESTTHRUE (&)

policies (continued)

Investment properties (continued)

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties or inventories for disposal, the deemed cost of
a property for subsequent accounting is its fair value at the
date of change in use. If a property occupied by the Group
as an owner-occupied property becomes an investment
property, the Group accounts for such property in accordance
with the policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment
and depreciation” up to the date of change in use, and any
difference at that date between the carrying amount and the
fair value of the property is accounted for as a revaluation in
accordance with the policy stated under “Property and plant
and equipment and depreciation” above. For a transfer from
completed properties held for sale to investment properties,
any difference between the fair value of the property at that
date and its previous carrying amount is recognised in profit or
loss.

For a transfer from completed properties held for sale or
properties under development to investment properties, any
difference between the fair value of the property at the date of
change in use, and its previous carrying amount at that date is
recognised in profit or loss.

The Group determines whether completed properties held for
sales and properties under development would be transferred
to investment properties when, only when, there is a change
in use, evidenced by the following criteria: (a) the Group has
prepared a business plan that reflects the future rental income
generated by the property and this is supported with evidence
that there is demand for rental space; (b) the Group can
demonstrate that it has the resources, including the necessary
financing or capital, to hold and manage an investment
property; (c) The change in use is legally permissible; (d) If
the property must be further developed for the change in
use, developed has commenced and (e) Change in use is
approved by board resolution.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & EHBK (#])

2.5 Summary of significant accounting 25 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value and comprise land costs, construction
costs, borrowing costs, professional fees and other costs
directly attributable to such properties incurred during the
development period.

Properties under development which are intended to be held
for sale and expected to be completed within 12 months from
the end of the reporting period are classified as current assets.

Properties under development which are intended to be held
for sale and expected to be completed beyond 12 months
from the end of the reporting period are classified as non-
current assets.

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined by
an apportionment of the total costs of land and buildings
attributable to the unsold properties. Net realisable value
takes into account the selling price, less estimated costs to be
incurred in selling the properties based on prevailing market
conditions.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & AR ()

2.5 Summary of significant accounting 25 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for
as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets
leased by the Group under operating leases are included in
non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating
leases are credited to the statement of profit or loss on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is
the lessee, rentals payable under the operating leases are
charged to the statement of profit or loss on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably
between the land and buildings elements, the entire lease
payments are included in the cost of the land and buildings as
a finance lease in property and equipment.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.5 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables, and available-for-sale financial investments, or as
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective
hedge, as appropriate. When financial assets are recognised
initially, they are measured at fair value plus transaction costs
that are attributed to the acquisition of the financial assets,
except in the case of financial assets recorded at fair value
through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WHIEER SR ()

2.5 Summary of significant accounting 25 FESTEREE (&)

policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for impairment.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in other
income and gains in the statements of profit or loss. The loss
arising from impairment is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss in finance costs for loans and in other expenses for
receivables.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in listed and unlisted equity investments and
debt securities. Equity investments classified as available for
sale are those which are neither classified as held for trading
nor designated as at fair value through profit or loss. Debt
securities in this category are those which are intended to be
held for an indefinite period of time and which may be sold in
response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in
market conditions.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WHIEER SR ()

2.5 Summary of significant accounting 25 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments
are subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised
gains or losses recognised as other comprehensive income
in the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve until
the investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative
gain or loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss
in other income, or until the investment is determined to be
impaired, when the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified
from the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve to
the statement of profit or loss in other expenses. Interest and
dividends earned whilst holding the available-for-sale financial
investments are reported as interest income and dividend
income, respectively, and are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss as other income in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot
be reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range
of reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that
investment or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates
within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in
estimating fair value, such investments are stated at cost less
any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to
sell its available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are
still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is
unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive markets,
the Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets if
management has the ability and intention to hold the assets
for the foreseeable future or until maturity.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 B

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WHIEER SR ()

2.5 Summary of significant accounting 25 FESTEREE (&)

policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-
sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the date of
reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any
previous gain or loss on that asset that has been recognised
in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of
the investment using the effective interest rate. Any difference
between the new amortised cost and the maturity amount is
also amortised over the remaining life of the asset using the
effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently determined
to be impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is
reclassified to the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset, or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material delay
to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement;
and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the assets.

PRI REEERAR AT

RERAMEREE (F)

R ETHIKE (&)

ERAECREEANHOESREE
TEHOLE BEZEEMEBZ
REt Agmz WamskiBR BREZ
MAFRZBRERFRHHEEE -
BB SH 2 ST AN R R IR 2 2 &
BNEAEZEEZNBRFRIZBER
MR - MR BERKRETRE
Ret Agmz @ RAEH I BEER
=

RIEBAEHMEE

SREE (K (HER) —REMEE
Z— B R —HEFRATREE 2 B
D)VETINERSE LR LR (BIE
AEEGAPBHARRKRIR) -

s WHZBEEMSRSAREN
MBS ¢ 3

s AKEEEREUDRZEEE
SRS RERERN - HAR
E-RIEM] 2 AREERE
EEAERBR T # P W EUGR
EREFBNTE=T: K(a)
AEBECDEREZREENBA
BB R K m R - 3k (b) A& E
T EEZXREZAEENR
REBoEREER  BEEE
SR BEESAE o

—z—mesx 115



Notes to Financial Statements

PSR R M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 H

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WHIEER SR ()

2.5 Summary of significant accounting 25 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained
the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the
Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to
repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists
if one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the asset have an impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can
be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include
indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments, the probability that they will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable
data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 B

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WHIEER SR ()

2.5 Summary of significant accounting

25 FESTTHRUE (&)

policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses Whether impairment exists individually for financial
assets that are individually significant, or collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group
determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists
for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant
or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with
similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses
them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues
to be, recognised are not included in a collective assessment
of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not been incurred). The present
value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly or
through the use of an allowance account and the amount of
the loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Interest
income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying
amount and is accrued using the rate of interest used to
discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring
the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any
associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic
prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised
or has been transferred to the Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 H

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. B ER SRR ()

2.5 Summary of significant accounting 25 FESTERHBE (&)

policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by
adjusting the allowance account. If a future write-off is later
recovered, the recovery is credited to the statement of profit or
loss.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried
at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured,
or on a derivative asset that is linked to and must be settled
by delivery of such an unquoted equity instrument, the amount
of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset and recognised in the statement of profit
or loss. Impairment losses on these assets are not reversed.
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Notes to Financial Statements

P IE IR R

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 B

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. IEHIEERSETBE(E)

AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.5 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus,
in the case of loans and borrowings, directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables and interest-bearing loans and borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WHIEER SR ()

2.5 Summary of significant accounting

25 FESTHRUE (&)

policies (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are
acquired for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This
category includes derivative financial instruments entered into
by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments
in hedge relationships as defined by IAS 39. Separated
embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading
unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments.
Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in
the statement of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the statement of profit or loss does not include
any interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria of IAS 39 are satisfied.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 B

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WREIEER & AR ()

2.5 Summary of significant accounting 25 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WHIEER SR ()

2.5 Summary of significant accounting 25 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred on disposal.

Cost of inventories includes the transfer from equity of gains
and losses on qualifying cash flow hedges in respect of the
purchases of raw materials.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash,
which are not restricted as to use.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 B

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2. WHIEER SR ()

(CONTINUED)

2.5 Summary of significant accounting 25 FESTEREE (&)
policies (continued)
Provisions BB

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is
initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured
at the higher of (i) the amount that would be recognised in
accordance with the general guidance for provisions above;
and (i) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the
guidance for revenue recognition.

Employee retirement benefits

Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the PRC government,
the companies comprising the Group operating in Mainland
China (the “PRC group companies”) have participated in a
local municipal government retirement benefit scheme (the
“Scheme”), whereby the PRC group companies are required
to contribute a certain percentage of the salaries of their
employees to the Scheme to fund their retirement benefits.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the Scheme
is to pay the ongoing contributions under the Scheme.
Contributions under the Scheme are charged to the statement
of profit of loss as incurred.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WHIEER SR ()

2.5 Summary of significant accounting 25 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax and land
appreciation tax. Income tax relating to items recognised
outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from goodwill or the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.5 Summary of significant accounting

Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 B

2. WHIEER SR ()

25 FESTTHRUE (&)

policies (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WHIEER SR ()

2.5 Summary of significant accounting 25 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to
the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to the statement of
profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset
by equal annual instaiments or deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and released to the statement of profit or
loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Where the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets,
grants are recorded at the fair value of the non-monetary
assets and released to the statement of profit or loss over the
expected useful lives of the relevant assets by equal annual
instalments.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 B

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. IEHIEEERSFTEE (8)
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
2.5 Summary of significant accounting 25 FESTEREE (&)

policies (continued)

Government grants (continued) BURFRERL ()

Where the Group receives government loans granted with no IMAEBRERES BEREEMERT

or at a below-market rate of interest for the construction of a R AMERTTISKER B R B/

qualifying asset, the initial carrying amount of the government BRER - BEBBTE RS VAR

loans is determined using the effective interest rate method, EEBUNEERMNREETE  MAEBH

as further explained in the accounting policy for “Financial EEREX[eRmEaE] IENE:

liabilities” above. The benefit of the government loans granted BUR N — SRR o BRTEHE A

with no or at a below-market rate of interest, which is the A TIB KT B Rt BN BT E

difference between the initial carrying value of the loans and m - BIZEERVIREREESREMNE

the proceeds received, is treated as a government grant and RIEME 2 AR S ERAT /AL E

released to the statement of profit or loss over the expected 12 - WK B REEERTEHAR] (5 F F 5

useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments. NIZRZERE D AR FFEABREK °

Revenue recognition N

Revenue from the sale of properties in the ordinary course of EHBEKBREPHEEWEMSKRA

business is recognised when all the following criteria are met: RERFETA N FIIEERER

(@  the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the @ HYEEBEEBENEARR
properties are transferred to the purchasers; RESRETER

()  neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree (o) WERDB—REARGEEEN
usually associated with ownership, nor effective control FHETIEZ ARSI ENE N
over the properties is retained: PRI

(©)  the amount of revenue can be measured reliably; © WASFEREAEH

(d) it is probable that the economic benefits associated d AEERAIGEHREERSHEH
with the transaction will flow to the Group; and REER S - &

(e)  the cost incurred or to be incurred in respect of the e XRIEELEXGTFEEMKAE
transaction can be measured reliably. BERSERTE ©
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Notes to Financial Statements

PSR R M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 H

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WHIEER SR ()

2.5 Summary of significant accounting 25 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

The above criteria are met when construction of the
relevant properties has been completed and the Group has
obtained the project completion report issued by the relevant
government authorities, the properties have been delivered
to the purchasers, and the collectability of related receivables
is reasonably assured. Payments received on properties sold
prior to the date of revenue recognition are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position under current
liabilities.

Property leasing income derived from the leasing of the
Group’s properties is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms.

Property management fee income derived from the provision
of property maintenance and management services is
recognised upon the rendering of the relevant services.

Hotel operating income which includes room rental, food
and beverage sales and income from the provision of other
ancillary services is recognised when the services are
rendered.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 B

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WHIEER SR ()

2.5 Summary of significant accounting 25 FESTEREE (&)

policies (continued)

Employee retirement benefits

Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the PRC government,
the companies comprising the Group operating in Mainland
China (the “PRC group companies”) have participated in a
local municipal government retirement benefit scheme (the
“Scheme”), whereby the PRC group companies are required
to contribute a certain percentage of the salaries of their
employees to the Scheme to fund their retirement benefits.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the Scheme
is to pay the ongoing contributions under the Scheme.
Contributions under the Scheme are charged to profit or loss
as incurred.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, that is, assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in
connection with the borrowing of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally and used for the
purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation rate of
10% (20183: 9%) has been applied to the expenditure on the
individual assets.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WHIEER SR ()

2.5 Summary of significant accounting 25 FESTERHE (&)

policies (continued)

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a
separate allocation within the equity section of the statement
of financial position, until they have been approved by the
shareholders in a general meeting. When these dividends
have been approved by the shareholders and declared, they
are recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately
as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

The Company and certain subsidiaries incorporated outside
Mainland China have Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and
United States dollars (“US$”) as their functional currencies,
respectively. The functional currency of Mainland China
subsidiaries is the RMB. As the Group mainly operates
in Mainland China, the RMB is used as the presentation
currency of the Group. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 B

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. WHIEER SR ()

2.5 Summary of significant accounting 25 FESTEREE (&)
policies (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued) Ik (48)

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with
the exception of monetary items that are designated as
part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign
operation. These are recognised in other comprehensive
income until the net investment is disposed of, at which time
the cumulative amount is reclassified to the statement of profit
or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange
differences on those monetary items are also recorded in
other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair
value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose
fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of non-PRC established subsidiaries
are currencies other than the RMB. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities
are translated into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at
the end of the reporting period and their statements of profit
or loss are translated into RMB at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. IRMIEERSBEK (M)

AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.5 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at
the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of non-PRC established subsidiaries are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the dates
of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of non-PRC
established companies which arise throughout the year are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates
for the year.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:
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31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 B

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Judgements (continued)

0]

(ii)

(iii)

Operating lease commitments - the Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on
its investment property portfolio. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the
arrangements, that it retains all the significant risks and
rewards of ownership of these properties which are leased out
on operating leases.

Classification between investment properties,
completed properties held for sale and owner-occupied
properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the
Group considers whether a property generates cash flows
largely independently of the other assets held by the Group.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation and another portion that is held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold
separately, the Group accounts for the portions separately. If
the portions could not be sold separately, the property is an
investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an individual
property basis to determine whether ancillary services are so
significant that a property does not qualify as an investment
property.

Classification of current and non-current properties
under development

The Group classifies properties under development according
to the construction progress and estimated commencement
date of presale. Properties under development are classified
as current assets when the estimated time to completed
construction is less than twelve months from the end of the
reporting period.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources

of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have

a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are

described below:

(i)

134 China New City Commercial Development Limited

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties were revalued based on the appraised
market value by independent professional valuers. Such
valuations were based on certain assumptions, which are
subject to uncertainty and might materially differ from the
actual results. In making the estimate, the Group considers
information from current prices in an active market for similar
properties and uses assumptions that are mainly based on
market conditions existing at the end of the reporting period.

In the absence of current prices in an active market for similar
properties, the Group considers information from a variety of
sources, including:

(@  current prices in an active market for properties of a
different nature, condition or location or subject to
different lease or other contracts, adjusted to reflect
those differences;

(b)  recent prices of similar properties on less active
markets, with adjustments to reflect any changes in
economic conditions since the dates of the transactions
that occurred at those prices; and

(c) discounted cash flow projections based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows, supported by the terms
of any existing lease and other contracts and (when
possible) by external evidence such as current market
rents for similar properties in the same location and
condition, and using discount rates that reflect current
market assessments of the uncertainty in the amount
and timing of the cash flows.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

0]

(ii)

Fair value of investment properties (continued)

The principal assumptions for the Group’s estimation of
the fair value include those related to current market rents
for similar properties in the same location and condition,
appropriate discount rates, expected future market rents and
future maintenance costs. The carrying amount of investment
properties at 31 December 2014 was RMB3,773,200,000
(2013: RMB2,501,000,000). Further details, including the key
assumptions used for fair value measurement and a sensitivity
analysis, are given in note 14 to the financial statements.

Net realisable value of properties under development
and completed properties held for sale

The Group’s properties under development and completed
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Based on the Group’s historical experience
and the nature of the subject properties, the Group makes
estimates of the selling prices, the costs of completion of
properties under development, and the costs to be incurred in
selling the properties based on prevailing market conditions.

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease in
net sales value, the net realisable value will decrease and this
may result in a provision for properties under development and
completed properties held for sale. Such provision requires
the use of judgements and estimates. Where the expectation
is different from the original estimate, the carrying value and
provision for properties in the period in which the estimate is
changed will be adjusted accordingly.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(iii)

(iv)
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PRC corporate income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in Mainland China. As
a result of the fact that certain matters relating to the income
taxes have not been confirmed by the local tax bureau,
objective estimate and judgement based on currently enacted
tax laws, regulations and other related policies are required
in determining the provision of income taxes to be made.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts originally recorded, the differences will have an
impact on the income tax and tax provisions in the period in
which the differences realise.

PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

LAT in the PRC is levied at progressive rates ranging from
30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being the
proceeds from sale of properties less deductible expenditures
including land costs, borrowing costs and other property
development expenditures.

The subsidiaries of the Group engaging in the property
development business in Mainland China are subject to
LAT. However, the implementation of these taxes varies
amongst various cities in Mainland China and the Group
has not finalised its LAT returns with various tax authorities.
Accordingly, significant judgement is required in determining
the amount of land appreciation and its related taxes. The
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises these liabilities
based on management’s best estimates. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, the differences will impact the
statement of profit or loss and the provision for LAT in the
period in which such determination is made.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

v)

(vi)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences and unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences and losses can
be utilised. Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of
future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. The carrying value of deferred tax assets
relating to recognised deductible temporary differences
and tax losses at 31 December 2014 was RMB49,582,000
(2013: RMB21,511,000). The amount of unrecognised tax
losses at 31 December 2014 was RMB59,355,000 (2013:
RMB9,423,000). Further details are contained in note 21 to
the financial statements.

Impairment of trade and other receivables

Impairment of trade and other receivables is made based
on assessment of the recoverability of trade and other
receivables. The identification of impairment of trade and other
receivables requires management’s judgement and estimates.
Where the actual outcome or expectation in the future is
different from the original estimates, such differences will have
an impact on the carrying value of the receivables and doubtful
debt expenses/write-back of doubtful debt in the period in
which such estimate is changed.

3. EXErTHIERR st (#8)

RN SEE )

v)

(vi)

EEHEEE

Fi /G Al B B 2= 5 R B A R TE S
B A R R 2R AL M 15 B AR B & 4K
SHAENEREEREENERT
AERBELERIBAE - BE A T
REUELERIBEEN SRR - BEE
BIRBERENREEETH - RKE
750 & 1l 7K S 2 [R) >R 2R Bt 1B 5T &l 4E H
E K H E - R2014F12A318 -
FHE AT AAENTERZER
EEMECHBEEENERETERSA
R #49,582,0007T (20134F : A R
#21,511,0007T ) © M 20145 12 A
STHMABRARNEEESERAR
# 50,355,000 7T (20134 : A R #&
9,423,0007T) ° #—FFHIBFEHR I
K21 ©

P B 5 Rk & H Ath FE LUK IR B RE

JEHS 55 i SRR Lt W R TEDRR (B 2R
BERH R E 5 R & E A B
BRI E R FHEERE - BIRE S
AR N Eo At FE M T ORR (B 0 BRI E
B {F L A R A5 o BB A R
RROBEHEEFE [ TR - AIERE
ERBFEMEE B A EUK
AREER AR, RIEEE
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138 China New City Commercial Development Limited

OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on income derived from business and has four
reportable operating segments as follows:

(@  the property development segment develops and sells
commercial properties in Mainland China;

(b)  the property rental segment leases investment properties in
Mainland China;

(c)  the hotel operations segment owns and operates a hotel; and

(d) the others segment comprises, principally, the Group’s
property management services business, which provides
management and security services to commercial properties.

Management monitors the results of its operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resources
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance
is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/(loss), which
is a measure of adjusted profit/(loss) before tax from continuing
operations. The adjusted profit/(loss) before tax is measured
consistently with the Group’s profit before tax from continuing
operations except that interest income, finance costs, dividend
income, fair value gain/(losses) from the Group’s financial
instruments as well as head office and corporate expenses are
excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, tax recoverable,
restricted cash, cash and cash equivalents and other unallocated
head office and corporate assets as these assets are managed on a
group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and other unallocated
head office and corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed
on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to

the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then
prevailing market prices.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT

Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 B

4. BESBEH ()

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Commercial
property  Property Hotel
development rental operations Others Total
MRAMERR WEEE EREE Hity “@ct
Year ended HZ20145 RMB’000 RMB’0000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
31 December 2014 12A31BLEEE ARETR AR¥Tn ARETR AR®Tn AR¥TR
Segment revenue: AN
Sales to external customers HIMNBRPIHE 80,857 82,157 44,947 892 208,853
Intersegment sales AHEEE - 27,158 - - 27,158
80,857 109,315 44,947 892 236,011

Reconciliation: A -
Elimination of intersegment sales D EPEIEE i (27,158)
Revenue from continuing operations BEEESEBIIA 208,853
Segment results DEEE (34) 712,031 (10,246) (20,952) 680,799
Reconciliation: A
Interest income FEHA 32,306
IPO Expense BRARBERS (27,120)
Equity-settled share option expense MIRIE R E MR (159)
Finance costs BB (30,047)
Profit before tax BRELRIAE 655,779
Segment assets THEE 4,854,309 3,795,208 482,250 338,255 9,470,292
Reconciliation: A
Elimination of intersegment receivables 7 EPE R IR 8 (359,193)
Corporate and other unallocated assets CEREMRIEEE 932,722
Total assets BEE 10,043,821
Segment liabilities FHEE 666,538 18,586 8,363 478,963 1,172,450
Reconciliation: Fi-i
Elimination of intersegment payables DR FIEE (359,193)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities rEREMRAIEERE 4,773,140
Total liabilities BafE 5,586,397
Other segment information: HitvpBER
Share of profits and losses: B

Joint ventures A&7 259 - - - 259

An associate —fEE AR (141) - - - (141)
Depreciation e 1,831 1,621 8,028 1,933 13,413
Investments in joint ventures REEDAIMEE 46,228 - - - 46,228
Capital expenditure BARRY 1,271 224 186 1,015 2,696
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4. EESBEA W)

Commercial
property Property Hotel
development rental  operations Others Total
HENERE  WERE  BEEE Hith Bt
Year ended HZE 20134 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
31 December 2013 1231 BILFE ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETR
Segment revenue: AN
Sales to external customers HIMNBRPIHE 742,001 78,408 52,690 2,743 875842
Intersegment sales DEEEE - 24,900 - - 24,900
742,001 103,308 52,690 2,743 900,742
Reconciliation: e -
Elimination of intersegment sales 2 ERFE S E 4 (24,900)
Revenue from continuing operations FELEEBHBA 875,842
Segment results DEEE 262,046 337,067 4,566 3,085 606,764
Reconciliation: B -
Interest income FEWA 2,437
Equity-settled share option expense MRS B R AR 2 (1,185)
Profit before tax BRT A 608,016
Segment assets AHEE 5,367,282 2,557,152 426,710 1,676,566 10,027,710
Reconciliation: ST -
Elimination of intersegment receivables 2 E0 i R R IR 8 (1,388,782)
Corporate and other unallocated assets PEREMADEEE 361,537
Total assets BEE 9,000,465
Segment liabilities FWEE 2,449,245 32,611 9112 2893205 5,384,173
Reconciliation: e -
Elimination of intersegment payables 2 ERE IR 4 (1,388,782)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities rEREMADEAR 2,463,792
Total liabilities BeE 6,459,183
Other segment information: HitvpBER
Share of (profits) and losses: Db
Joint ventures AENT 2,409 - - = 2,409
An associate =N (13,937) - - - (13,937)
Depreciation ne 2,000 1,293 9,289 1,832 14,414
Investments in joint ventures RAEARNERE 412,448 - = - 412,448
Investments in an associate R E N AR E 45,086 = = = 45,086
Capital expenditure BEARHY 1,123 908 1,905 4,406 8,342
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P IE IR R

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 B

OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Geographical information

Al of the Group’s revenue is derived from customers based in
Mainland China and all of the non-current assets of the Group are
located in Mainland China.

Information about major customers

No sales to a single customer or a group of customers under
common control accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s revenue
for the years ended 31 December 2014 and 2013.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND
GAINS

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents income
from the sale of properties, property leasing income, property
management fee income and hotel operating income during the
year, net of business tax and other sales related taxes and discounts
allowed.

4. EESBEA )

AEENZMBRNRERPEABES - &
AEEREIERBEENCINFE

EREREFEFHNER

WEEREE —RFREREREH TR
FHARREERBARNERBE2014F K&
201312831 H IEFEWAR10%3 A L ©

WA -« Efbllg A B &

WA RAEENERR) RFRNHENE
WA - MEEEWRA - MEEBRBERATE

LB (FNERE T R H A i E AR
KEHEFMEL)
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31 December 2014 2014412 431 H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND

GAINS (CONTINUED)

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows:

=

WAREBB AR RSN DITIAT -

5. WA < HAMA RIS

2014 2013
2014 % 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T
Revenue WA
Sale of properties SHEWI 86,851 787,267
Property leasing income PEFREWRA 90,072 81,916
Property management fee income LIESREEAL PN 946 2,743
Hotel operating income HIE S ERMA 47,613 55,815
Less: Business tax and surcharges B EERMMINE (16,629) (51,899)
208,853 875,842
Other income Hig A
Interest income from a joint venture AERNAIFBMA 29,769 =
Bank interest income ERITHI B U A 2,537 2,437
Others HMIEE 613 120
32,919 2,557
Gains g
Foreign exchange gains HNEE H AR ES 2,458 11,621
35,377 14,178
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31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 B

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

6. FRIRAIFIE

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

AEBBRBAFBEEME(GTA) T35

KIF :

2014 2013
20144 20134
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
izt ARBT T ARET T
Cost of properties sold B E YA 23 66,613 473,181
Depreciation e 13 13,413 14,414
Minimum lease payments BELCEHED
under operating leases: =EALSFHE
— Office premises o YNELYIES 951 500
Auditors’ remuneration % EREMEN & 1,795 485
Staff costs including directors’ and BIRA(BRESKEE
chief executive’s remuneration (note 8): TTBAEME) (HES) :
— Salaries and other staff costs —ITERHEEEIXA 38,455 25,661
— Equity-settled share option expense — kA EREE R 32 159 1,185
— Pension scheme contributions —iRIREFTEIE R 5,954 5,164
Foreign exchange differences, net fER =% FE 5 (2,458) (11,621)
Direct operating expenses BELEHY (BEHRR
(including repairs and maintenance HEWREYZE
arising on rental-earning EEHIERISIE)
investment properties) 4,589 4,953
Fair value (gain)/loss, net: AR EE WS, EiE - T8
Fair value gain upon transfer to HREREYEN
investment properties A EERE 14 (656,784) (256,292)
Changes in fair value of REMFEAREBE
investment properties B E) 14 (33,200) (60,600)
hEFETEEEREEAT —T-mEeEsR 143
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31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 H

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. MIEEH
An analysis of the Group’s finance costs is as follows: AEEHNPHEERADTOAT ¢
2014 2013
2014 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Interest on bank and other borrowings 217 E 7k & E A & 7R B 300,993 95,615
Interest on related party borrowings B3 5 & 7R S - 84,777
Total interest expense F B 4ERE 300,993 180,392
Less: Interest capitalised in properties & : &AL B PR S

under development (270,946) (180,392)

30,047 -
SHm= =
8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 8. ERERFETHARME

EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year, disclosed Rz ERAREB R RED] (5 622 %) M
pursuant to the Listing Rules and section 78 of Schedule 11 to the FI11FE78IER 2 RATF BB R EHI(F32
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), with reference to B)F161EZHE  FREFREETH
section 161 of the predecessor Hong Kong Companies Ordinance ABMEIT

(Cap. 32), is as follows:

2014 2013
2014 F 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT ARMET T

Fees ZH 285 -
Other emoluments: E ey -

Salaries, bonuses and allowances E A AW =31 1,608 2,531

Pension scheme contributions RIREET B 21 24

Equity-settled share option expense — RiE4E S BEAEE H 159 1,185

1,788 3,740

1,788 3,740
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 8. ERERFETHARME
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (£8)
(CONTINUED)
In 2009 and 2011, certain directors were granted share options for R2009F 2011 F + AT EEERALR
the shares of Zhong An Real Estate Limited, the parent company of BRARIRLEEAR A RMRMDERE - B
the Group, as disclosed in note 32. The fair value of such options FEG2FTIEEE - ZEHWREN AR BERE
was determined as at the date of grant. In respect of their services to L HHEE - AESHASERNREME -
the Group, the relevant accounting impact was accounted for in the R BFENEHT B REAT & FllEEH
combined financial statements for the financial year and included in BT O st MR et E -

the above directors’ remuneration disclosures.

(@) Independent non-executive directors (@) BUFHITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during FREMNBIYIERATES 2 BRAHT
the year were as follows: o
2014 2013
2014 5 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT ARBETTT

Mr. Ng Sze Yuen, Terry RETTEE 95 -
Mr. Xu Chengfa AR E 95 -
Mr. Yim Chun Leung BRiRm A4 95 -

285 -
There were no other emoluments payable to the independent FRAEE M ENEB IR ITES 2
non-executive directors during the year (2013: Nil). N (2013 4F - #&) o
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31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’'S REMUNERATION

(CONTINUED)

(b) Executive directors, a non-executive
director and the chief executive

8. EFERFRITHARM

& ()

(b) HMITEE - FHUTEER

FETHAER

Pension Equity-settled

Salaries and scheme share option
allowances Bonuses contributions expense Total
Bfhe LURELEH
HeRER b SRR BREEX “@ct
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR¥TR AR%®Tr AR%®TRT AR%Tn
2014 2014
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Li Chu FHREE 353 95 7 36 491
Ms. Tang Yiyan Bzt 203 67 7 7 284
556 162 14 43 775
Non-executive director HETEE
Mr. Shi Zhongan MR &R & - - - 68 68
Executive director and HITEER
Chief executive FETEAS
Ms. Jin Ni et 489 401 7 48 945
1,045 563 21 159 1,788
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF

EXECUTIVE’'S REMUNERATION

(CONTINUED)

(b) Executive directors, a non-executive

8. EERFERITHARME

(%)

il

(b) HMITEE  FITEERE

directors and the chief executive ETHRAE (&)
(continued)
Pension  Equity-settled
Salaries and scheme  share option
allowances Bonuses  contributions expense Total
Rike  AREEER
e R oA SEIHR BRERX st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETE ARETR AREKTE ARETR
2013 20136
Executive directors HITEE
Ms. Jin Ni PR+ 493 170 427 1,096
Mr. Li Chu TREE 313 81 88 488
Ms. Tang Yiyan ElefaL 170 54 88 318
976 305 18 603 1,902
Chief executive FETHAR
Mr. Shi Zhongan MR REE 991 259 6 582 1,838
1,967 564 24 1,185 3,740

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2013: Nil).

FAMEEEREKFRBREEATH

B 2 Bk (2013 4

D) e

PRI REEERAR AT

—z-mren 147



Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 H

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. AZEmEMAL

The five highest paid employees during the year included three
(2013: three) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out
in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining two

FRAERSFALTABIE=2 (20134 :
=R)EE HEMeFBEHN EXHWiE
8 FNHATMAZ (20134 : MAB)IFEEEHR

(2013: two) non-director, highest paid employees for the year are as SEATHBESFBOT
follows:

2014 2013
2014 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBT T
Salaries, bonuses and allowances e - TEAL KoERE 1,479 341
Pension scheme contributions RIS FTBIHER 23 12
1,502 868

The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following band is as follows:

FHNRA TR EEERSHIEB A
IR

Number of employees

EEAH
2014 2013
2014 F 20134
Nil to RMB1,000,000 T AR# 1,000,000 7T 2 2

No share options were granted to the non-director, highest paid
employees.

WERAFES - RRFALRLBEE -
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10. INCOME TAX

The Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong are not liable
for income tax as they did not have any assessable profits currently
arising in Hong Kong during the year (2013: Nil).

The provision for the PRC income tax has been provided at the
applicable income tax rate of 25% (2013: 25%) on the assessable
profits of the Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland China.

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on
the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from sale of
properties less deductible expenditures including land costs,
borrowing costs and other property development expenditures. The
Group has estimated, made and included in taxation a provision for
LAT according to the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax
laws and regulations. Prior to the actual cash settlement of the LAT
liabilities, the LAT liabilities are subject to the final review/approval by
the tax authorities.

Notes to Financial Statements

BIEE R M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 B

10. R

REBRBEB MM B R AR ANFEE
HERNEBEETAEHERFORF - Btk
BAGMFST (20134 « ) o

PEIFTS R E A B B A e B A
AIHY BT FE 25% (2013 FF : 25%) Ay 7@
FFTS R R AE B o

R Bl IR (B R g T IR E R SHE Y
PAS SRIBR AT HRF 2 (BB LA - f&
ERAREMYEFAER) BN 0%E
BO% R XU - REBEREPEA
MREERER - et (EH REBIBRG
ATHIEETER - EARSBERGEE L
EEHEEZA - LHIEET A ERRTR
BRBREERE -

2014 2013
2014 F 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREET T

Current — PRC corporate income BEATH I — F AR B ZEATIS
tax for the year 5,699 33,289
Current — PRC LAT for the year BNVEAR 18 — S5 (AR B+ M IS (E B 1,579 55,247
Deferred (note 21) RAETIA (MEE21) 185,997 123,696
Total tax charge for the year FATHIBREE 193,275 212,232
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10. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 10. FRriS#R (48)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax BIEARRTREKXZEMN B AR FTEERE
using the statutory rate for the jurisdiction in which the Company and @B A e R ST E R AT AR A IE R
the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the BRI TR RAENHER SN

effective tax rate is as follows:

2014 2013
2014 F 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TF T AREET T

Profit before tax BRAERIAE 655,779 608,016
Tax at the statutory tax rate 12 25% (2013 £ : 25%)

of 25% (2013: 25%) TEE MR EHTIR 163,945 152,004
Effect of withholding tax at 10% on A E BB A R ] S IR

the distributable profits of the Sw A AN 10% TEMB ) 228

Group’s PRC subsidiaries 2,166 10,382
Expenses not deductible for tax R 11,141 9,545
Income not subjected to tax BERTWA - (3,484)
Tax losses not recognised RIERTRIEE 8 14,839 2,350
Provision for LAT T IR ER R B 1,579 55,247
Tax effect on LAT THIRERN NG E (395) (13,812)
Tax charge at the Group’s AEEERTERNTIERS

effective rate 193,275 212,232
Tax payable in the consolidated RERE AR R A

statement of financial FERI TR

position represents:

PRC corporate income tax BTSSR 62,656 95,062
PRC LAT AR £ R 115,893 116,815
178,549 211,877
11. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO 1. BOFRIHE AREFIE
OWNERS OF THE PARENT
The consolidated profit attributable to owners of the parent for the HE2014F12 A1 BIEFERRARIEE A
year ended 31 December 2014 includes a loss of RMB32,995,000 FEIL 4R A T BB EE 18 A R 32,995,000
(2013: a loss of RMB30,000) which has been dealt with in the (20134 : FEARKE30,0007T) ERALR
financial statements of the Company (note 33). AR BT shR R IE (MIFE33) °
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12. EARNINGS PER SHARE

ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on the
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent
of RMB476,504,000 (2013: RMB364,623,000) and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 1,491,876,712 (2013:
1,267,000,000) in issue during the year, as adjusted to reflect the
rights issued during the year.

The 1,267,000,000 shares of the Company issued before initial
public offering (the “Capitalization”) were issued to and then existing
sole shareholders of the Company for no additional or nominal
consideration. Therefore, the number of ordinary shares outstanding
before the Capitalization is adjusted for the proportionate change in
the number of ordinary shares outstanding as if the Capitalization
had occurred at the beginning of the earliest period presented.

The Group had no potential dilutive ordinary shares in issue during
the year ended 31 December 2014 (2013: Nil).

1

2

B ARRERSA AREL
wBikRF

BRERBANEZEBESARTARKREEA
A 4F R FI) B A R ¥ 476,504,000 7T (2013
£ AR¥364,623,0007T) UEEAE
BT EBARH) DR T 19 881,491,876,712 %
(20134 : 1,267,000,0004%) 5t& + B F:
BUARME NEATIRERE ©

BRARBE([EME DR AAREET
1,267,000,000 R A& 15 B 31T F A A Al E B
WA - mAREEREINREER
8 - it - BEANMEATETEINS BRI E
PR RIR L IR TR NS BRI =1
BENMENEFEREAE -

HZE2014F 12 A1 HILFE - AEBEWE
BETBTEEL AR (2013F « &) o
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13. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 13. MR B sk
Group REE
Hotel Office Motor
Buildings  properties equipment vehicles Total
gF BENE BLAERE AE @t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000
AR®TT AR¥TR AR¥Tr AR¥TR AR®T:R
31 December 2014 2014512 A 318
At 31 December 2013 and 2013F12A31 AR
at 1 January 2014: 20141 R1H :
Cost A 54,235 174,093 18,710 15,609 262,647
Accumulated depreciation ZiirE (8,922) (47,105) (16,121) (11,760) (83,908)
Net carrying amount FE3E 45,313 126,988 2,589 3,849 178,739
At 1 January 2014, net of 2014F1R18
accumulated depreciation MGRREITE 45,313 126,988 2,589 3,849 178,739
Additions bl - - 1,762 934 2,696
Disposals HE - - (177) - (177)
Depreciation provided FRFE
during the year (3,371) (7,847) (689) (1,506) (13,413)
At 31 December 2014, net of 2014%12A318 ¢
accumulated depreciation MG EFHTE 41,942 119,141 3,485 3,217 167,845
At 31 December 2014: 2014F12A318 :
Cost A 54,235 174,093 20,249 16,543 265,120
Accumulated depreciation ZEHiE (12,293) (54,952) (16,764) (13,266) (97,275)
Net carrying amount FE3E 41,942 119,141 3,485 3,217 167,845
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13. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 13. xR ekfm (18)
(CONTINUED)
Group (continued) REE (E)
Hotel Office Motor
Buildings properties  equipment vehicles Total
BF  BEDE PAERE e 5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
31 December 2013 2013F12A31A :
At 31 December 2012 and 201212 A31B &
at 1 January 2013: 2013F1A1H :
Cost A 50,115 174,093 17,709 14,142 256,059
Accumulated depreciation 2EHE (6,447) (39,251) (16,582) (9,925) (71,205)
Net carrying amount FEFE 44,668 134,842 1,127 4,217 184,854
At 1 January 2013, net of 2013F1A1H
accumulated depreciation MR REHTE 44,668 134,842 1,127 4,217 184,854
Additions i 4,120 - 2,755 1,467 8,342
Disposals HE - - 43) - 43)
Depreciation provided FRME
during the year (3,475) (7,854) (1,250) (1,835) (14,414)
At 31 December 2013, net of 2013%12R31H
accumulated depreciation MR REITE 45,313 126,988 2,589 3,849 178,739
At 31 December 2013: 2013124318 :
Cost A 54,235 174,093 18,710 15,609 262,647
Accumulated depreciation 2EHE (8,922) (47,105) (16,121) (11,760) (83,908)
Net carrying amount REFE 45,313 126,988 2,589 3,849 178,739

At 31 December 2014, certain items of the Group’s property
and equipment with a net carrying amount of approximately
RMB153,682,000 (2013: RMB31,472,000) were pledged to secure
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings granted to the Group as

disclosed in note 30.

R2014F 12310 A5EETHER
REREFEAN A A K 153,682,000 7T
(20134 : AR%31,472,0007T) + 40+
BOFTIKEE - BEEAR TASE BRITHE

ENEMERENER -

PRI REEERAR AT

—E—

mesg 153



Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 H

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 14. REWME

Investment
Completed properties

investment under
properties construction Total
ERIREYE HEREWE #at

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT AREBTT

At 31 December 2012 and M2012412 H31 B & 20131 H1H
1 January 2013 2,057,300 - 2,057,300
Transfers from completed i E B R TRED S (fieE23)
properties held for sale (note 23) 126,808 - 126,808
Fair value gain upon transfer EREARER 256,292 - 256,292
Changes in fair value of REMERARBEZS
investment properties 60,600 = 60,600
At 31 December 2013 and M20134F12 A31H
1 January 2014 20141 A1H 2,501,000 - 2,501,000
Transfers from properties e R (fIeE15)
under development (note 15) - 582,216 582,216
Fair value gain upon transfer EEE NN EE - 656,784 656,784
Changes in fair value of
investment properties REMF IR BEES 33,200 - 33,200
At 31 December 2014 M®2014%F12A31H 2,534,200 1,239,000 3,773,200
(@) Al investment properties of the Group were revalued at the @ AKBEEIREVERNFREBLE
end of the year by an independent professionally qualified EAEBHEMEARBELFRA
valuer, CBRE Limited, at fair value. CBRE Limited is an RRARBEEMN - HHRECHER
industry specialist in investment property valuation. The fair AAINEMRKEYEMENTESR
value represents the amount at which the assets could be R ARBEIEEERIZMNEERE
exchanged between a knowledgeable and willing buyer and a REEBERNEE B R E RS ES
seller in an arm’s length transaction at the date of valuation, in ELNFRGRINEER ST ©

accordance with International Valuation Standards.

The following table gives information about how the fair values TR AEELFRENENRA
of these investment properties are determined (in particular, AREE(EEE  FTAMNGHERIN R
the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair B HWEBARBBRARBETE
value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are WASBERBREEE S AN BB
categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the ENAREEEE (F—ZEE=H) -

inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.
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(CONTINUED)

Investment
properties held
by the Group in
the combined

statements of Fair value
financial positions hierarchy
REBBMRREZR DABES

FREREARENE &

Property 1 - Level 3
Property in Hangzhou 2 =4

(Guomao Building)
15 — M
(BEXE)

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Valuation technique(s)
and key input(s)

HERTREZHABE

Direct comparison
approach and Income
approach (term and
reversion approach)
EEEBUERIAE (
HERE)

The key inputs are:

(1)
2

wW

@
©)
O

1
2

W

(
(
(
(@

)
)
)
)

Term yield;
Reversionary yield;
Market unit rent;
Price per square
metre

TE2HR:

M EER X
EFWEEE ;
miZEAES
TR RER

Notes to Financial Statements

B ER AR M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 B

14. &L BYx (1)

Significant
unobservable
input(s)

EXRTUEERAME

Term yield, taking into account of yield
generated from comparable properties
and adjustment to reflect the certainty
of term income secured and to be
received, of 5% for office portion and
6% for retail portion.

AEET N [RIAR Y S22 A e as T SR P
#%&%Wﬂﬁ%%A%ﬁ*ﬁmﬁ
CRRIHEPREERE% KT

a%} 6% °

Reversionary yield, taking into account
annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable
properties, of 5.5% for office portion
and 6.5% for retail portion.

EETA B EESBARRE
MENELTE - HAPHES K
E755.5% KA 6.5%

Market unit rent, using direct market
comparables and taking into account
of location and other individual factors
such as road frontage, size of property
and facilities, of RMB2.1/sgm/day for
office portion and RMB3.0/sgm/day for
retail portion.
ERAEEMSLERALLTALE
NERATIERS ~ MEAR/ D RRHEE A
FHEAZ  MpEMESATTLK
BRARE21 TR RE D) kTS
KERARE SO (FHHH)

FEFR A X ERAR AT

Relationship of
unobservable
inputs to fair value
RUBREHABE
HAAEEBR

The higher the term
yield, the lower the fair
value.

HHRERES A
REEYE -

The higher the
reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value.

The higher the market
unit rent, the higher
the fair value.

SRS HE -
BEMS -

miHE
AVp

— T YFEFIR
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Notes to Financial Statements

PSR R M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 H

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 14. I E'ME (8)

(CONTINUED)

Investment
properties held

by the Group in

the combined
statements of
financial positions
FAMBRR KRS
FEBEERENE

Property 2 -
Property in Shanghai
(La Vie)

25ME— LiEYE
(RERE)

156 China New City Commercial Development Limited

Fair value  Valuation technique(s)
hierarchy  and key input(s)
DREESE

N RERTREERARE
Level 3 Direct comparison
E=H approach and Income

approach (term and
reversion approach)
BEEBERIAE (R
HERE)

The key inputs are:
Term yield;
Reversionary yield;
Market unit rent;

2882

Price per square
metre
FELYA

) MHMERE

) EERER
) TIBEMES
) BFHARER

2014 Annual Report

Significant
unobservable
input(s)

BEAFUBEGAZE

Price per square metre, using market
direct comparables and taking into
account of location and other individual
factors such as road frontage, size of
property etc., of RMB9,800/sgm for
office portion and RMB15,100/sgm for
retail portion.
ERAEEMSL VAT A R E B
HRE  DERRSEMERNER
BERAREBRATTARARE 9,800
TTHAED ) RARE 15,1007 (RE
REsHED) -

Term yield, taking into account of yield
generated from comparable properties
and adjustment to reflect the certainty
of term income secured and to be
received, of 6%.

RaT AR S E A AU as B SR P
PR R UCERAR BRI O BETE 1 £ 5
B WHERE% °

Reversionary yield, taking into account
annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable
properties, of 6.5%.

B ARG FEHRSBA KR
BWENELTE  ERREER
6.5% °

Relationship of
unobservable
inputs to fair value
RUABRZGARE
HAABEEBR

The higher the price,
the higher the fair
value.

BfREE -
B

5>
53
|
[

The higher the term
yield, the lower the fair
value.

EHREEES A
REEBE -

The higher the
reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value.

Bk ERE - A
f EEBIE -



14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

(CONTINUED)

Investment
properties held
by the Group in
the combined
statements of
financial positions

FERBMRRERS

FEBFRBFARENE &

Fair value  Valuation technique(s)
hierarchy  and key input(s)
DMRABES

HERITREEZHABE

Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 B

14. &L BH% (])

Significant
unobservable
input(s)

BEATUBEGAZE

Market unit rent, using direct market
comparables and taking into account
of location and other individual factors
such as road frontage, size of property
and facilities, of RMB7.6/sgm/day.
FREEM BB AL LT ALE
NERETIER, - MER/NR R EHA
FHEAR meEMHEATTAK
FBAARKET6TT

Price per square metre, using market
direct comparables and taking into
account of location and other individual
factors such as road frontage, size of
property etc., of RMB44,000/sgm.
ERAEEMSL AT R B
FRETIRE - MERESEMERNR
= BYAABERABTEARARE
44,0007T °

PRI REEERAR AT

Relationship of
unobservable
inputs to fair value
AABRZGARE
HAREEBER

The higher the market
unit rent, the higher
the fair value.

SEMASHES -
REEES

ik
N

The higher the price,
the higher the fair
value.

BRREE  ArEE
B

—z-—mesx 187



Notes to Financial Statements

PSR R M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 H

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment
properties held
by the Group in
the combined

statements of Fair value  Valuation technique(s)
financial positions hierarchy  and key input(s)
SEREMRREZT DMRABES

FEBFRBERENE & RERTREEZHABE

Level 3
Property in Hangzhou ~ $£=#4&

Property 3 - Direct comparison
approach and Income

(Integrated Service approach (term and

Center) reversion approach)
CRia/E S IALYES BEEBERIMAE (R
(B RBHL) HERE)

The key inputs are:

(1) Term yield;

(2) Reversionary yield;
(8) Market unit rent;
(4) Price per square
metre

Z2HR
)E%WAT
) SR

) THEMEE
) BFHARER

158 China New City Commercial Development Limited
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14. &L BH% (])

Significant
unobservable
input(s)

BEAFUBEGAZE

Term yield, taking into account of yield
generated from comparable properties
and adjustment to reflect the certainty
of term income secured and to be
received, of 6%.

AEET N [RVAR ) 3 A s T SR P
PR K UCER AR BRI O BETE M £ 5
B HEWEER6%

Reversionary yield, taking into account
annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable
properties, of 6.5%.

TSI ERES KA KR
BYENELTE  ERREER
6.5% °

Market unit rent, using direct market
comparables and taking into account
of location and other individual factors
such as road frontage, size of property
and facilities, of RMB2.6/sgm/day.
FREEM SR AL T ALE

MERETIER  MER/NR RIS HAD
FEERAZ  maBEUHESRAFTHK
BRARE26TT

Relationship of
unobservable
inputs to fair value
RUABRZGARE
HAREEBE

The higher the term
yield, the lower the fair
value.

EHREEES A
REEBE -

The higher the
reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value.

(LGRS VEIIN
REEBE -

The higher the market
unit rent, the higher
the fair value.

BEMHASHS -
REEES -

m
N



Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 B

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 14. I E'ME (8)

(CONTINUED)

Investment
properties held
by the Group in
the combined

statements of Fair value
financial positions hierarchy
SEREMRR R DMRABES

FEBFRBFARENE &

Property 4 - Level 3
Property in Hangzhou ~ $=#
(Office portion of

Highlong Plaza)

ASRIE N E
(BEESHRATD)

Valuation technique(s)

and key input(s)

HERITREEZHABE

Direct comparison
approach and Income
approach (term and
reversion approach)

BEERLEERAL (E

HER%)

The key inputs are:

(1) Term yield;

(2) Reversionary yield;
(3) Market unit rent;
(4) Price per square
metre
E2HR
ﬁ%% S
EHREE
MiREAAE
FERARER

§@::

Significant
unobservable
input(s)

BEATUBEGAZE

Price per square metre, using market
direct comparables and taking into
account of location and other individual
factors such as road frontage, size of
property etc., of RMB13,600/sgm.
FREENSLEATE RAEHE
ARG - WERESEMERNR
= BYARBERBETAIRARE
13,6007 °

Term yield, taking into account of yield
generated from comparable properties
and adjustment to reflect the certainty
of term income secured and to be
received, of 5%.

REET N [RIAR Y S 2E A s T SR P
PR R AS YR AR ERUL A B BETE 1D 8
B ARG EA5% o

Reversionary yield, taking into account
annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable
properties, of 5.5%.

BT AB S FEES AR
BEWENELTE EHEREER
5.6% °

PRI REEERAR AT

Relationship of
unobservable
inputs to fair value
AABRZGARE
HAREEBER

The higher the price,
the higher the fair
value.
BrEHS
it

' RAEE

It

The higher the term
yield, the lower the fair
value.

MEEERS - A
/Lfﬁg\@fpﬁ °

The higher the
reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value.

BUEEHE - 2

/Lfﬁg\@fpﬁ °

— T YFEFIR
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Notes to Financial Statements

PSR R M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 H

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

(CONTINUED)

Investment
properties held
by the Group in
the combined

statements of Fair value
financial positions hierarchy
SEREMRREZT DMRABES

FEBFRBERENE &

160 China New City Commercial Development Limited

Valuation technique(s)
and key input(s)

RERTREEZHABE

2014 Annual Report

14. &L BH% (])

Significant
unobservable
input(s)

BEAFUBEGAZE

Market unit rent, using direct market
comparables and taking into account
of location and other individual factors
such as road frontage, size of property
and facilities, of RMB1.8/sgm/day.
FREEM BB ALETALE
NERETIER -~ MER/NR RIS HA
FHERAZ  MpBENHESRETHK
BRARKA1.8TT °

Price per square metre, using market
direct comparables and taking into
account of location and other individual
factors such as road frontage, size of
property etc., of RMB11,300/sgm.
ERAEEMSLEAT A R B
FRETIRE - MEREEEMERNE
= BYHRABERABTEARARE
11,3007T °

Relationship of
unobservable
inputs to fair value
RUABRZGARE
HAABEEBR

The higher the market
unit rent, the higher
the fair value.

The higher the price,
the higher the fair
value.

BRRHE -
B

5>
53
|
[



14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment
properties held
by the Group in
the combined

statements of Fair value  Valuation technique(s)
financial positions hierarchy  and key input(s)
SEREMRR R DMRABES

FEBFRBFARENE & HERITREEZHABE

Property 5 - Level 3 Direct comparison
Property in Hangzhou ~ $£=#4& approach and Income
(Retail portion of approach (term and
Highlong Plaza) reversion approach)
Fia/E S IALYES BEEBERIBAE (R
(ERESEHTS) HERE)

The key inputs are:
(1) Term yield;

2) Reversionary vyield;

W

@)
(8) Market unit rent;
(4) Price per square
metre
E2HR
fﬁﬁﬂuﬂz/\T
EHEREE
THEMHE

BFITKER

TS =

S &=

Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 B

14. &L BH% (])

Significant
unobservable
input(s)

BEATUBEGAZE

Term yield, taking into account of yield
generated from comparable properties
and adjustment to reflect the certainty
of term income secured and to be
received, of 5.5%.

AEET N [RVAR YD 3 2 A s T SR P
PR B S U ERAE EA A By RETE M A 39
B AW RR5.5%

Reversionary yield, taking into account
annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable
properties, of 6%.

EETA B mIZEEEBARRE
WMENELTE  BEREREER6% °

Market unit rent, using direct market
comparables and taking into account
of location and other individual factors
such as road frontage, size of property
and facilities, of RMB3.6/sgm/day.
EREEM BB AL LT ALE
NEGETER - MER/NR RIS HA
FERZ  MpBENHESRFTHK
BRARKESI6T

Price per square metre, using market
direct comparables and taking into
account of location and other individual
factors such as road frontage, size of
property etc., of RMB21,300/sgm.
EAEEMSL VAT KA E B
BB MERRSHMERNER
EEGFARERREFTHRARE
21,3007T °

PRI REEERAR AT

Relationship of
unobservable
inputs to fair value
AABRZGARE
HAREEBER

The higher the term
yield, the lower the fair
value.

EHKEEES A
REEBE -

The higher the
reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value.

ERKEEES A
REEBE -

The higher the market
unit rent, the higher
the fair value.

j2 28

mizEM RSN
AR EEYR -

The higher the price,
the higher the fair
value.

BRRHE  ArEE

&
el

— T YFEFIR
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Notes to Financial Statements

PSR R M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 H

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment
properties held
by the Group in
the combined

statements of Fair value  Valuation technique(s)
financial positions hierarchy  and key input(s)
SEREMRREZT DMRABES

FEBFRBERENE & RERTREEZHABE

Property 6 — Level 3 Direct comparison

Property in Hangzhou ~ $£=# approach and Income

(Serviced apartment approach (term and

portion of Highlong reversion approach)
Plaza) BELEERBAL (E
A /E S IWALES HERE)

(EEESREARE)
The key inputs are:
(1) Term yield;
(2) Reversionary yield;
(8) Market unit rent;
(4) Price per square
metre
) XEHHH&ZAT
) SR
) THEMUEE
) BYFHARER

162 China New City Commercial Development Limited
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14. &L BH% (])

Significant
unobservable
input(s)

BEAFUBEGAZE

Term yield, taking into account of yield
generated from comparable properties
and adjustment to reflect the certainty
of term income secured and to be
received, of 5%.

ST N [RVAR YD 3 A Mt T SR P
PR K WO ER AR BRI O BETE M £ 5
B HEREERE%

Reversionary yield, taking into account
annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable
properties, of 5.5%.

KA ABUmSFEESRARA
BYENELTE EEREER
5.5% °

Market unit rent, using direct market
comparables and taking into account
of location and other individual factors
such as road frontage, size of property
and facilities, of RMB1.9/sgm/day.
EAEEMSLER AU ALE

MERETIERE  MER/ R RIS H A
FERAZ  mgEUHESRETIK
FRARKEA19TT ©

Relationship of
unobservable
inputs to fair value
RUABRZGARE
HAREEBE

The higher the term
yield, the lower the fair
value.

HHREEES A
REEBE -

The higher the
reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value.

(LGRS VRN
REEBE -

The higher the market
unit rent, the higher
the fair value.

mSEMNEEHE -
AREERS °

\>/



Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 B

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 14. I E'ME (8)

(CONTINUED)

Investment
properties held
by the Group in

the combined Significant Relationship of

statements of Fair value  Valuation technique(s) unobservable unobservable

financial positions hierarchy  and key input(s) input(s) inputs to fair value

SEREMRR R DMRABES TABRRARE

TEERBERENE & HERMREERAHE BEXTUBRAARE HRAAEERF
Price per square metre, using market The higher the price,
direct comparables and taking into the higher the fair
account of location and other individual ~ value.

factors such as road frontage, size of
property etc., of RMB10,400/sgm.
FREENSLEATE RAEHE
ARG - WERESEMERNR

= BYARBERBETAIRARE
10,4007 °

ERES  AAEE
B

Property 7 - Level 3 Direct comparison Term yield, taking into account of yield The higher the term
Property in Hangzhou & =4 approach and Income generated from comparable properties  yield, the lower the fair

(Landscape Garden)

THRME - INIE

approach (term and
reversion approach)

and adjustment to reflect the certainty
of term income secured and to be

value.

(1U7Kk3E) BERLBERBRAE(  received, of 5.5%.
HERZE) KA AREMEELENRRRRRS  AfkETEs 2

The key inputs are:

PR NS AR HR U A KO REE
= HEEEA5.5% °

E2:0FE)

REESE

(1) Term yield;

(2) Reversionary yield; Reversionary yield, taking into account ~ The higher the

(3) Market unit rent; annual unit market rental income and reversionary yield, the

(4) Price per square unit market value of the comparable lower the fair value.
metre properties, of 6%.

TE2HA: B ABISFERS WA KRR EHElRERS - A

(1) FEEAKER R ; MENBLTE EHERGEER6% .  AEBESE-

@) EEkEE

@ THEMMEE Market unit rent, using direct market The higher the market

@) BERFKER comparables and taking into account unit rent, the higher

of location and other individual factors
such as road frontage, size of property
and facilities, of RMB1.9/sgm/day.
EABEEMSLE R AU ALE
MERATIERE  MEN/ D RRHEE A
FERAZ  mgEUASRETAK
BRARKEA19TT o

PRI REEERAR AT

the fair value.

misEAESHS
KABEES -

— T YFEFIR
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PSR R M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 H

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 14. I E'ME (8)

(CONTINUED)

Investment
properties held

by the Group in

the combined
statements of
financial positions
FAMBRR KRS
FEBEERENE

Property 8 —

Property in Hangzhou
(Hidden Dragon Bay)
85 E —TMNIIE
(i)

164 China New City Commercial Development Limited

Fair value  Valuation technique(s)
hierarchy  and key input(s)
DREESE

N RERTREERARE
Level 3 Direct comparison
E= approach and Income

approach (term and
reversion approach)
BEEEBERIRAE (R
HERE)

The key inputs are:
(1) Term yield;

(2) Reversionary yield;
(8) Market unit rent;
(4) Price per square
metre
FEZ2HR

(1) HEEkER

) ERWEE

) TIHEMLES
) BIEHKER

2014 Annual Report

Significant
unobservable
input(s)

BEAFUBEGAZE

Price per square metre, using market
direct comparables and taking into
account of location and other individual
factors such as road frontage, size of
property etc., of RMB11,500/sgm.
FREEMSLEATE RAE R
ERETRE - WEREZEMERNE
= BYARBERAETAIARARE
11,5007 °

Term yield, taking into account of yield
generated from comparable properties
and adjustment to reflect the certainty
of term income secured and to be
received, of 5.5%.

G N RIS S A U as B SR P
PR RS YR AR B A B BERE 1 D 78
B AHREER5.5% -

Reversionary yield, taking into account
of annual unit market rental income and
unit market value of the comparable
properties, of 6%.

B ABTISFEEHE WA KRR
MENELTE  BHEREER6% -

Relationship of
unobservable
inputs to fair value
RUABRZGARE
HAREEBE

The higher the price,
the higher the fair
value.

BRES
B

5
=+
T
¥

The higher the term
yield, the lower the fair
value.

GRS RN
JL REEHLE -

The higher the
reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value.

FUGFHE - 2

JL REEHBE -



14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

(CONTINUED)

Investment
properties held
by the Group in
the combined
statements of
financial positions

FERBMRRERS

FEBFRBFARENE &

Property 9 -

Property in Hangzhou
(International Office
Center)
9SSR — N
(BEIBRFERHR L)

Fair value  Valuation technique(s)
hierarchy  and key input(s)
DMRABES

HERITREEZHABE

Level 2 Direct comparison
L2 approach

BERLLER

The key input is:

Price per square metre
FE2HE
SFIKER

Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 B

14. &L BH% (])

Significant
unobservable
input(s)

BEATUBEGAZE

Market unit rent, using direct market
comparables and taking into account
of location and other individual factors
such as road frontage, size of property
and facilities, of RMB3.1/sgm/day.
FREEM BB AL LT ALE
NERETIER, - MER/NR R EHA
FHERAZ  AETHEMEAERET
AARBRARB3ATT

Price per square metre, using market
direct comparables and taking into
account of location and other individual
factors such as road frontage, size of
property etc., of RMB15,900/sgm.
ERAEEMSL AT R B
ERETIRE - MERESEMERNR

= BYARBERAETARARE
15,900 7T °

Price per square metre, using market
direct comparables and taking into
account of location and other individual
factors such as road frontage, size of
property etc., of RMB18,100/sgm.
A EETISLBUEN 5T R AL E B
FRETMIE - MERES M ERE
% BYHRBRRBETARAR
#18,100 7T °

PRI REEERAR AT

Relationship of
unobservable
inputs to fair value
AABRZGARE
HAREEBER

The higher the market
unit rent, the higher
the fair value.

MSELESHS -
N

S BIEHE -

The higher the price,
the higher the fair
value.

o5
B
o
5
=
STE
it

The higher the price,
the higher the fair
value.
BrEHS
il

' RAfEE

it
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

14. &L BH% (])

(CONTINUED)
(b)  The Group’s investment properties are all situated in Mainland (b) AEEREMRIGAHT BN RAR
China and are held under the following lease terms: RIS -
2014 2013
2014 F 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Leases of between 30 and 50 years FEHI30 & 2= 50 & 3,773,200 2,501,000
(©)  Investment properties leased out under operating leases € BRECLESCHEENRENE
The Group leases out investment properties under operating REBERBEEHEELEHHLIRED
lease arrangements. All leases run for a period of one to X -FBHERH—Z=1+RHF WA
fifteen years, with an option to renew the leases after the BEEND A H R EEINER 2 IEK
expiry dates, at which time all terms will be renegotiated. THEIHE - "REBRBENAIEUHKL
The Group’s total future minimum lease receivables under EHERIREMEMSHBEREMR
non-cancellable operating leases generated from investment EFIEBTAT
properties are as follows:
2014 2013
2014 F 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBFIT
Within one year —FRN 86,233 67,234
In the second to fifth years, inclusive £ _-ZFRF (BFEEEMF) 228,021 144,378
After five years AFENUE 74,325 46,292
388,579 257,904
(d) At 31 December 2014, certain of the Group’s investment d 2014F12A831H - & #& K 30
properties with a carrying amount of RMB2,093,991,000 FEE AEEEAEAARK
(2013: RMB1,576,589,000) were pledged to secure interest- 2,093,991,0007C (20134 : A R &
bearing bank and other borrowings granted to the Group as 1,576,589,0007T) KA TR EWHE
disclosed in note 30. EARE EEST R RITERREAE
SREYHEAR o
(e) Investment properties under construction contains one € EEREEMESE—EMRPERM
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property situated in Mainland China. The property is designed
to deliver fully furnished, and completed registration for final
acceptance in June 2014. As at 31 December 2014, the
property is undergoing internal decoration. In the opinion of
the directors, these properties are considered as investment
properties under construction.
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31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 B

15. PROPERTIES UNDER 15. AR E
DEVELOPMENT
2014 2013
2014 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AREET T

Carrying amount at 1 January 1 A1 BEREE 2,835,191 3,126,267
Additions #n 1,445,921 1,125,869
Transfer to investment properties BRI A
(note 14) (P5E14) (582,216) =
Transfer to completed properties BB EEHE
held for sale (note 23) BER W (H95E23) (20,441) (1,416,945)
Carrying amount at 31 December 12 A 31 AERMAE 3,678,455 2,835,191
Current assets MENE = 614,464 =
Non-current assets EREEE 3,063,991 2,835,191
3,678,455 2,835,191
The Group’s properties under development are located in Mainland AREEFERYES AP B AL o
China.
The carrying amounts of the properties under development situated AEBERFERYE(CRPREAENEE
on the leasehold land in Mainland China are as follows: T WEREEAT ¢
2014 2013
2014 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Leases of over 50 years FHERFA R 50 F 234,000 217,026
Leases of between 30 and 50 years ~ FAHIS0FZE 504 3,444,455 2,618,165

3,678,455 2,835,191
At 31 December 2014, certain of the Group’s properties under R2014F 12 A31 8 - AEBETHEERYE
development with a carrying amount of RMB776,066,000 (2013: BRELFEL A AR 776,066,000 7T (2013
RMB215,246,000) were pledged to secure interest-bearing bank £ AR®215,246,0007T) » ZAM 5E 30 Fr
and other borrowings granted to the Group as disclosed in note 30. W BIEARTAEEGFG ERITEERE

e EHOE A -
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16. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE

16. AT HERE

INVESTMENTS
2014 2013
2014 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETIT
Unlisted equity investments, at cost ~ JE_EMEZRE @ HERKAE 3,300 3,300

The available-for-sale investments were the solely unlisted equity
investments with a carrying amount of RMB3,300,000 (2013:
RMB3,300,000) stated at cost less impairment.

The investments were stated at cost because the investments do
not have a quoted market price in an active market. In the opinion of

the Directors, the fair value of such investments cannot be measured

reliably and the underlying fair values of investments were not less

than the carrying values of the investments as at 31 December

AHHERBEEARABERARY
3,300,000 7t (20134 = A K # 3,300,000
TU)HOFE LRI A

HRIEERNER IS ETISHRE « WHIE
AN - EERAZERANEEARE
BTN SETE RZSRENAREBETD
RZERER 2014512 A 31 BAIREE °

2014.

17

LONG TERM PREPAYMENTS

17. REATAGT R

2014 2013

20145 20134

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFR AREFTT

Prepaid land lease payments TEfS AR E IR 5,747 -
Maintenance fund HhEES 11,880 12,232
Others Hitb 1,034 =
18,661 12,232
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18. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 18. W& EAFIRIRE

2014 2013
2014 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AREET T

Share of net assets DIEEEFE 46,228 46,487
Loans to joint ventures REFALEQAFTNER - 365,961
46,228 412,448
Before 31 December 2013, loans to a joint venture are unsecured, MR2013FE 12 A31 B Al » A& Z A ARME
interest-free, have no fixed terms of repayment and are considered HWERAEEM T RERTEEDE
as quasi-equity investments in the joint ventures in the opinion of BEERE  ZEERERAENEEARH
the directors. Pursuant to revised loan agreements between the ERRARIRE - BRIBES LA RERNERZIVH
joint venture and the Group, loans provided to the joint venture AEETE R - a2 N aIRENEZRN
at an interest rate of 9% in 2014 and are presented as loans and 2014 F 1K 9% T8 + WR2014F 12 A31 H
receivables from a joint venture (note 20) as at 31 December 2014. EA—THEERARINER R EW ZIE (KM
20) Ik °
Particulars of the joint ventures are as follows: BENRWFIBIT ¢

Percentage attributable to the Group

Particulars AEEEEED T
of issued Place of Indirectly held Voting Profit Principal
Name shares held registration equity interest power  sharing activities
REBRT BiERE
=L RIS i it 2 BAgERE REE BFAME TEEY
Jiangsu Xiezhong Investment Registered Jiangsu 45% 50% 50% Investment
Co., Ltd. capital of PRC holding
T B R ERR AR RMB100,000,000
AR A BT % REER
AR 100,000,000 7T
Jiangsu Jiarun Real Estate Registered Jiangsu 45% 50% 50% Property
Co., Ltd. capital of PRC development
T EELARAT RMB100,000,000
EaililheN BT &R MR
AR 100,000,000 7T
The 50% equity interests in these joint ventures are held through a NZEAE D RH50% R A ER B BN
subsidiary with 90% of equity interest attributable to the Company. A FE(E 90% A ERMHI B ARIEA -
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18. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES
(CONTINUED)

The following table illustrates the summarised consolidated financial
information of Jiangsu Xiezhong Investment Co., Ltd. adjusted for
any differences in accounting policies, and reconciled to the carrying

18. REELTFRIRE ()

TREIIHBREEBRAREIEMNE
SRR ERELRAR - WEMBRRPIR
HEESHRNGREMEERBE

amount in the financial statements:

2014 2013

2014 F 20134

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARET T

Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEEY 1,393 4,784

Other current assets HEMREEE 3,210 3,274

Current assets MEEE 4,603 8,058

Non-current assets EREEE 636,152 473,160

Current liabilities MEEE (548,299) (388,244)

Net assets BEFE 92,456 92,974

2014 2013

2014 F 20134

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARET T

Net assets, excluding goodwill BEFE (T aEmE) 92,456 92,974
Reconciliation to the Group’s EAREEREGE AT

interest in the joint venture Tz AN

Proportion of the Group’s ownership ~ ANEEEEEST HH 50% 50%
Group’s share of net assets of the REBEELEEAT

the joint ventures BEFE 46,228 46,487

Loans to joint ventures REFEEQFTNER - 365,961

Carrying amounts of the investment & RE(E 46,228 412,448

Total expenses sk 42 %8 (518) (4,818)

Loss after tax MR BEE (518) (4,818)
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19. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE 19. R—HEE A FRIKRE
2014 2013
2014 F 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AREET T

Share of net assets DIHEEFRE - 45,086

The movements of the investments in an associate during the RS B AR B & R IR E RSB E S 1
reporting period are as follows: IS5

2014 2013

2014 % 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT ARETTT

At 1 January ®m1A1H 45,086 203,347
Share of profits and losses JE(m A K B8 141 13,937
Dividend paid EAIARE - (172,198)
Disposal of shares of an associate & — s A E AR (45,227) -
At 31 December Mm12A31H - 45,086
Hangzhou Danube Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“Hangzhou Danube”) was MmN ZETBEZBR AT ([N ZIE ) A
the Group’s associated company and its 17.5% and 9.0% equity NEBEZNT - TN ESR = ERITE
interests were owned by Hangzhou Huijun Information Technology BBATI([FNEES |) Rt NERNIEE TR
Co., Ltd. (“Hangzhou Huijun”) and Hangzhou Junjie Investment BEBAT(TTIMNEEAR D) DRIEAE17.5% K&
Co., Ltd. (“Hangzhou Junijie”), respectively. On 21 April 2014, the 9.0% HYPEHE « M2014FE4 H21 8B » A"&EH
Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement with Hong Kong HEEBERMERR AR ([ FAER])EI
Huiyuan Real Estate Limited (“Hong Kong Huiyuan”) to dispose BE W% UWHEREBR RN EEAR RATM
of the Group’s 100% interest in Hangzhou Junjie and Hangzhou PEELH) D ERRGHE - BRHEREEE% - DN ESE
Huijun and immediately following this transfer, each of Hangzhou RTINS TN B BNEBKE AT © Mt
Huijun and Hangzhou Junjie ceased to be members of the Group MZ BB AR EEFE AT o

and Hangzhou Danube ceased to be an associated company of the

Group.
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20. LOANS AND RECEIVABLES FROM A 20 —MH&
$r &R IR

JOINT VENTURE

Group

During the year, the Group granted interest-bearing loans to the

following parties:

BELTINEREE

REHE

=5 .
AN

RAEE - AEEEATIALTREFEE

2014 2013
2014 & 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AREET T

Principal:
Jiangsu Jiarun Real Estate Co., Ltd. (note (i)

Interest receivable:
Jiangsu Jiarun Real Estate Co., Ltd. (note (i)

Note:

g
TEBEEXERAR (MEEG)

FEWCHIB. -
TE#EEXERAR (FEEG))

G

(i) Pursuant to loan agreements, the Group provided loans to Jiangsu Jiarun [0}
Real Estate Co., Ltd. with an amount of RMB390,931,000 for an annual
interest rate of 9% in 2014 with no fixed repayment terms (2013: nil).

390,931 =

29,769 =

BIEERHE R2014F AEEMAET
B EBEEERAFARHEESBEAARKE
390,931,000 T E K * IRFEFMEI% TSR
WA E R KA (201346 « £%) »
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21. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES

21 ;BERIAEER AR

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows: FEEFRIBEERREHRIBESEEBT :

Deferred tax assets

EEHAEE

Losses available

Unrealised for offsetting Prepaid
intragroup against future corporation
profit or loss taxable profits income tax Total
QIgES:s
FEREE RIRBERBL AEfdE
GiEh FEnER P % st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR AR¥T R ARMT T
At 1 January 2013 2013F1HA1H 4,849 20,298 16,764 41,911
Deferred tax charged to the FARERRINR
statement of profit KRR A
or loss during the year (795) (2,841) (16,764) (20,400)
At 31 December 2013 2013F 12 A31 AR
and 1 January 2014 20141 A1H 4,054 17,457 - 21,511
Deferred tax (charged)/credited  FERMMEZER (F1k ),/
to the statement of profit or loss ¥ BR IR IR I8
during the year (82) 27,684 469 28,071
At 31 December 2014 2014F 12 A31H 3,972 45,141 469 49,582

RRABUEE LR - DS EIEn] AE 5 F
LACSHH B ERT R - BRmARE A
MBEBENECHIBEE A BEREH
JERB A EAFE Z EREFIHEERSEA
profit will be available to allow such deferred tax assets to be utilised. R o

In accordance with the PRC laws and regulations, tax losses could
be carried forward for five years to offset against its future taxable
profits. Deferred tax assets relating to unutilised tax losses are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable

AEERBBEEARBZTIL(20134F : A
R#89,0007T) K RATFEIEES1E + B F LA
S IR EER A R BB A FERRFE o

The Group has accumulated tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
nil (2013: RMB89,000) that are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses
arose.
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21. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND 21 ;RIERIASERAR ()
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
Deferred tax assets (continued) EEREEE (/8)
The Group also has accumulated tax losses arising in Mainland A& B B R IR E A A KR #592,081,000
China of RMB92,081,000 (2013: RMB32,726,000) that will expire in JC (2013 F : AR # 32,726,000 7T ) A 25t
one to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits. TRIEEE - R —Z2RFAEE - LKA

& HYERRTL A

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these BHRZENBATEELERE —ERER - B
losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss- R AR fEA ] B /BB AL 15 B 18 A B A
making for some time and it is not considered probable that taxable WAE S Ep SRR R IEE
profits will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised. = o
Deferred tax liabilities EEBRIBEEE
Fair value
adjustment of
investment Withholding
properties tax Others* Total
REMF
ANREE
RE LIk Htg* st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFT ARBTT ARBTT ARBETFR

At 1 January 2013 2013%F1 A1 H 383,085 10,185 20,782 414,052
Deferred tax credited/(charged) FARBEEER

to the statement of profit ($08%) AARSERIE

or loss during the year 79,223 10,382 13,691 103,296
At 31 December 2013 2013%F 12 A31 B X
and 1 January 2014 20141 /18 462,308 20,567 34,473 517,348
Realised during the year RERER - (15,354) - (15,354)
Deferred tax charged to the FARERER

statement of profit or loss MGEIELR IR

during the year 172,496 2,166 39,406 214,068
At 31 December 2014 2014512 A31H 634,804 7,379 73,879 716,062
* Others mainly include temporary differences regarding capitalised finance * HthF B0 EEE AL gh & K AR A E

costs. R o
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21. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND

22

LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax liabilities (continued)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law (the “New CIT
Law”), a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement has become effective from 1
January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007.
A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors.
For the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is therefore
liable to withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of earnings
generated from 1 January 2008.

Other than the deferred tax liability in relation to the PRC withholding
income tax provided above, no deferred taxation has been provided
for the distributable retained profits of approximately nil (2013:
RMB268,690,000), which were derived from the PRC subsidiaries
as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

21. BERRBER AR ()

ELEHESE (H)

BEFECEMSHE(HECEMER
A1) - BRRASNE R EIREETIRK B R E
A b AK S INE 1 2 2 IR BB 10% TE 30
i o BRAMTEE 200841 A1 BRBLER - I
EAR 2007 12 A 31 REATEL 287
fir R B A BRSNE 188 & PR Rl A R 2
A RFER R AHREEIE I R - A
EEZEALRE10% - Bt - AEEER
7 = oAk B 9K 37 2 B B A R R 2008 4F 1
A1 BREEZ BRI 2R EHRTEIN
i o

BrEE SO A) R BITE N TS B AR RE AR
MIBARIN  BERRETREMBARHA
RHEZ (20134 « ARM 268,690,0007T) A
DIRRB B A ELIRLERIERE BREAE
I 22 1 e 1k 2 R 8 [ O BRR P B T BRR M
EEAJREIN A RARSRTSHE

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 22. R B A TR E
Company KAFE]

2014 2013
2014 & 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETIT
Unlisted shares, at cost JEETRR D © IRAA 1,326,803 =
1,326,803 —

The amounts due from and to subsidiaries included in
the Company’s current assets and current liabilities of
RMB1,315,840,000 (2013: nil) and RMB895,934,000 (2013: nil),
respectively, are unsecured, interest-free and are repayable on
demand or within one year.

BERARRRDEERTE B ENE
WEENHBARREIAEARKE
1,315,840,0007C (20134 : ) R AR ¥
895,934,000 7T (2013 4F : &) - BMEHEA -
BB RENE K —FRERE -
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22. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 22. WA TIRIRE ()

(CONTINUED)
Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: HBARIMEBIT
Percentage of equity
Place and date Issued ordinary/ attributable to the Company
of incorporation/ registered YN
registration share capital EERER DL Principal
Name of company and business 31 December 2013 2014 2013 activities
AEMASL, R et 2013%512A31H
NEEH EREVES BRTEER EMER 2014 2013 TERK
Zhejiang Zhong An Property PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 81% 81% Property
Property Development 3 April 1997 leasing
Xiaoshan Co., Ltd. @
LR R EERL HE/ R ER, AR 2,000,0007T nERE
FERR AR W 19974 A 3R
Hangzhou White Horse Property PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 90% 90% Property
Development Co., Ltd. @ 27 June 2002 development
mMBSEHEREERAF HRE, BRI, AE#50,000,0007C ke
20026 A27H
Chunan Minfu Property PRC/Mainland China RMB6,000,000 100% 100% Property
Co., Ltd. © 24 October 2003 development
BRREREEEARARO HE/HER, AR 6,000,000 7 MERE
2003F10A24H
Shanghai Zhong An Property PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 90% 90% Property
Development Co., Ltd. @ 19 January 2004 leasing
TERLZEHEREBRAR HE BRI, AR 10,000,0007C MERE
200441 H19H
Zhejiang Huijun Real Estate PRC/Mainland China US$77,600,000 99.7% 99.7% Property
Co., L td. @ 1 April 2005 development
WTEREXBRARC HE/ R ER, 77,600,000 7T ESEES
20054 H1H
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22. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Place and date
of incorporation/

Nominal value of

Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 B

22. RIFB 2R R (1)

MIBARMFENT : (&)

Percentage of equity interest

attributable to the Group as at

31 December

establishment registered 12831 BAEH
and place of capital as at EiERER A Principal
Name of company operation 31 December 2013 2014 2013 activities
R AR, BR S b 20136128310
AR LR AHREE LN HEMERNEE 20145 2013 FEEK
Hangzhou Zhong An PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 90% 90% Property
Highlong Commercial 20 September 2005 management
Buildings Co., Ltd. @
MNRLEREEARARY HE/HER AR 2,000,0007T NEER
2005F 9 A20H
Hangzhou Zheng Jiang Real Estate  PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 92.5% 92.5% Property
Development Co., Ltd. @ 16 March 2006 development
MMNETERERERRARY HE BRI, AR 50,000,0007T ESE
20063 A 16 H
Henlly Enterprise Management PRC/Mainland China US$149,061,280 100% 100% Property
(Hangzhou) Co., Ltd. @ 4 December 2006 development
BRCEEREMERDRAC  RE/HENM 149,061,280 7T EL e
200612 A4 H
Hangzhou Xiaoshan Zhong An PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 90% 90% Hotel
Holiday Inn Co., Ltd. © 28 May 2007 management
MNELRLREEE HE BRI, AR 10,000,000 7 BEER
ARARF 2007 F5 A28 H
Hangzhou Junijie Investment PRC/Mainland China US$29,990,000 N/A 100% Investment
Co., Ltd. © 4 December 2007 management
MMEAREERERAF O HRE BRI, 29,990,000 7T TER REERE
2007 F12 A4H
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22. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Place and date
of incorporation/

Nominal value of

MIBARMFENT : (&)

22. RItE LA TRYIRE (8])

Percentage of equity interest

attributable to the Group as at

31 December

establishment registered 12831 BAEH
and place of capital as at EERER AL Principal
Name of company operation 31 December 2013 2014 2013 activities
MR AL SL B S i 20136128310
NRHHE HEREERE HEMERNEE 20145 2013 FEEK
Hangzhou Huijun Information PRC/Mainland China US$59,700,000 N/A 100% Consultation
Technology Co., Ltd. 5 December 2007 management
MEE G S BMAR AR HE B, 59,700,000 370 TER BHAEE
2007 F12 A5H
Hangzhou Dehong New PRC/Mainland China US$29,900,000 100% 100%  Manufacture of
Constructions Materials 1 February 2008 construction
Management Co., Ltd. materials
MMNBEF RN AR RO HE BRI, 29,900,000 7T B EE
2008F2 A1 H
Hangzhou Huihong Investment PRC/Mainland China US$49,990,000 100% 100% Investment
Management Co., Ltd. 19 February 2008 management
MMNEZREERARAR HE BRI, 49,990,00057T BREER
20082 A19H
Hefei Zhong An PRC/Mainland China RMB350,000,000 100% 100% Hotel
Holiday Inn Co., Ltd. © 18 March 2008 management
AERRBRBEERRARO HE B, AR 350,000,0007% BEER
20083 A18H
Huijun Construction Materials PRC/Mainland China US$12,000,000 100% 100% Material
Trading (Hangzhou) Co., Ltd. @ 16 July 2008 trading
EEEVYERZS (M) RE/HER, 12,000,000 7T MR 5
ARRFO 20087 A16H
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22, INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

22. B2 FIRRE ()

MEBARMFELT (&)

Percentage of equity interest

Place and date
of incorporation/

Nominal value of

attributable to the Group as at

31 December

establishment registered 12831 AAEHE
and place of capital as at iy Tpalsd Principal
Name of company operation 31 December 2013 2014 2013 activities
M AL SL B S 20136128310
DR B HEREERE HEMERNEE 20145 20135 FEEK
Hangzhou Fukai Management PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000 90% 90% Property
2 March 2011 management
MM EEERARARY HE BRI, AR 500,0007T MEESR
2011F3A2H
Zhejiang Zhongan Commercial PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 90% 90% Investment
Investment Management Co., 1 August 2011 holding
Ltd. @
WIRREEREERARDRG  HE/ RENM AR 10,000,0007T REER
201148H1H
Zhejiang Zhong An Changhong PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 91.2% 91.2% Investment
Investment Management 26 August 2011 holding
Co., Ltd. ®
MNBREREREERARARY  HE/HEAM ARH1,000,0007T REZR
201168 A26H
Yuyao Zhong An Time Square PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 90% 90% Property
Commercial Management 6 December 2011 management
Co., L td.
RRLBRELSHEER HE BRI, AR 2,000,0007T MEER
el INGIK 2011512 A6H
hEFMTREERARAR —E-mEFR 179
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22. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

MIBARMFFENT : (&)

22 RItE LA TR E ()

Place and date
of incorporation/

Nominal value of

Percentage of equity interest
attributable to the Group as at
31 December

establishment registered 12831 BAEH
and place of capital as at EERER AL Principal
Name of company operation 31 December 2013 2014 2013 activities
AL SL B S i 20136128310
ACIEL HEREERE HEMERNEE 20145 2013 % TEEH
Yuyao Zhong An Time Square PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90% 90% Property
Development Co., Ltd. @ 5 August 2013 management
FBERRBESRE HE/HER, AR 100,000,000 7 MEER
BRARE 20138 A5H
Yuyao Zhong An Time Square PRC/Mainland China USD16,000,000 93% 63% Property
Property Co., Ltd. @ 13 August 2013 management
FUBERERBESEE HE/HER, 16,000,000 3T EER
BERAR® 20138 A 13H
Zhejiang Zhong An Sheng Long PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 90% 90% Property
Commercial Co., Ltd. @ 9 September 2013 management
IR REEEAR AR HE/HER, AR 50,000,000 7 nEER
2013F9A9H
Qirui Commercial (Hangzhou) PRC/Mainland China USD14,900,000 100% 100% Investment
Management Co., Ltd. @ 18 October 2013 holding
iR ER (TN BRARY  HE/HEAM 14,900,000 37T REER
2013105 18 H
Cixi Zhong An PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 90% 90% Property
Property Co., Ltd. @ 6 December 2013 management
RERREEARDAY B RE R, AEH50,000,0007T NEER
2013F 12 A6 H
Zhejiang Zhong An City PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 90% 90% Investment
Construction Co., Ltd.* 17 December 2013 holding
MIARRH TR ARARY HE, BRI, AEH100,000,0007T REER
2013F 12 178
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(CONTINUED)

Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

22. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Place and date
of incorporation/

Nominal value of

MEBARMFELT - (8)

Percentage of equity interest
attributable to the Group as at
31 December

22. B2 FIRRE (M)

establishment registered 12831 AAEHE
and place of capital as at EERET D Principal
Name of company operation 31 December 2013 2014 2013 activities
EEMRBLSL R S s 20136128310
AR LR BHREERE HEMERNEE 2014 2013 EEEK
Tonglu Xiaoyuanshan PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 76.5% N/A Property
Wellness Investment 31 March 2014 management
Development Co., Ltd. @
AR NRILEERE B/ hEA AR 100,000,0007T Tam hEER
HEBR AR 6 20143 A31 A
Hangzhou Zhong An Sheng Long ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 90% N/A Property
Liyumen Property Co., Ltd. @ 21 April 2014 management
N B R 8 E P hE/HER AR 20,000,0007T TEm NEER
EXARAT] @ 20144 F21H
Taoranshan Wellness Co Ltd. % PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 90% N/A Property
19 August 2014 management
BALEEEERAR @9 HE BRI, AR 50,000,0007T TEF WEER
20148 A19H
Huijun (International) Holdings Hong Kong HK$100,000 100% 100% Investment
Limited 4 March 2005 holding
FEER (BIRR) AR R A A BB 100,00077T REER
2005F3 H4H
Zhong An International Shipping Hong Kong HK$780,000 99.7% 99.7% Shipping
(Hong Kong) Limited ¢ 11 November 2011
FRLEGME(FE)BRARO  &A 780,000787T fiE
2011F11 A11H
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22. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 22. WA TIRIRE ()

(CONTINUED)

Notes: BEE

N/A  Not yet incorporated/established/acquired or liquidated by the Group TER AEBIAREMKL, AL Uk iEskE o
(@) These subsidiaries were established by the Group in 2014. (@) ZEHBARIN 2014 FEHANEBAKL -

()  Types of legal entities: (o) EEBRER

SNEEE R

Wholly-foreign-owned enterprise

1) )
@) Sino-foreign equity joint venture © FINEERE
@) Limited liability company invested by foreign invested enterprises ) INEIREBREERAR
(4) Limited liability company 4 BREFEAR]
(© These subsidiaries were disposed by the Group in 2014. () ZEMBRARIBEASEENR 2014 FHE -
Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material non-controlling A B AR AEEN B AR FE
interests are set out below: HoR -
Percentage of equity interest held by non-controlling interests: IR ERIFERER DL
2014 2013
2014 2013
Zhejiang Zhong An Sheng Long AL R L EEEERRAR
Commercial Co., Ltd. (TR&rkfE )
(“Zhong An Sheng Long”) 10% 10%
Hangzhou Zheng Jiang Real NE I EHERZEER AT
Estate Development Co., Ltd. (THRNIEXT L)
(“Hangzhou Zheng Jiang”) 7.5% 7.5%
Accumulated balances of non-controlling interests at the reporting R B HAIE IR RS Rt 46k ¢
dates:
2014 2013
2014 F 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT
Zhong An Sheng Long R 146,066 147,125
Hangzhou Zheng Jiang FUINIEST 20,788 24,596
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22. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 22. W EATIRRE ()
(CONTINUED)

Profit/(loss) for the year allocated to non-controlling interests: FERNDIR T IR A=A (EE) -
2014 2013
2014 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT ARETTT

Zhong An Sheng Long R (1,059) 4,752
Hangzhou Zheng Jiang LN IE)T (3,808) 22,312
The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information of TREFA LB AR BEERMEE - AT
the above subsidiaries. The amounts disclosed are before any inter- FENSTEANMER AR FEEHEAT 2 &5

company eliminations:

Zhong An Hangzhou
Sheng Long Zheng Jiang
REZBRE HUMIEST

2014 RMB’000 RMB’000
20145 ARETR ARETR
Revenue WA 40,899 77,732
Changes in fair value of KEMZEH

investment properties AR BEEZE 33,000 1,600
Total expenses X #%E (84,488) (130,102)
Loss for the year FREE (10,589) (50,770)
Total comprehensive income for the year  FAZ A 4258 (10,589) (50,770)
Current assets mENEE 1,430,496 1,001,681
Non-current assets IEmBEE 3,015,152 410,712
Current liabilities mENBE (1,364,722) (1,135,216)
Non-current liabilities SEMBIAE (1,620,267) -
Net cash flows (used in)/from wiEEE) (FR)/

operating activities EAREREFHE (1,294,291) 16,592
Net cash flows used in investing activities &% & ESFERIR S REF58 (763) -
Net cash flows from financing activities MEEEEAR e REFR 1,243,000 -
Net (decrease)/increase in cash ReRBLZEBMORD),/

and cash equivalents AR R (52,054) 16,592
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22. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 22. WA TIRIRE ()

(CONTINUED)
Zhong An Hangzhou
Sheng Long Zheng Jiang
R E MM IET
2013 RMB’000 RMB’000
2013 F ARBFT ARBFT
Revenue WA 36,074 782,917
Fair value gain upon transfer to EEEREYEN
investment properties N EERE - 256,292
Changes in fair value of WEMERAREEE
investment properties 54,900 1,400
Total expenses S B %E (43,453) (743,114)
Profit for the year F R Fl 47,521 297,495
Total comprehensive income for the year  FAZ A 4258 47,521 297,495
Current assets MENEE 1,968,568 1,229,136
Non-current assets EMBENEE 2,917,820 393,574
Current liabilities MEAE (3,046,122) (629,339)
Non-current liabilities SEMBAE (369,017) (665,423)
Net cash flows from operating activities LERDEEREREFE 60,560 146,384
Net cash flows used in investing activites & & GFBHEAEEREFHE - (494)
Net cash flows used in financing activites & ESFERIR S REF 58 - (161,000)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash ReMREEEWEM
and cash equivalents (B) 558 60,560 (15,110)
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23. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD

24

25

23. FHEHBEEERME

FOR SALE

2014 2013
2014 £ 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Carrying amount at 1 January ®1 A1 B 2ZERmE 893,108 76,152

Transfer from properties A RERYE
under development (note 15) (FFzE15) 20,441 1,416,945
Transfer to investment properties (note 14) TR EWZ (HizE14) - (126,808)
Transfer to cost of properties sold (note 6) #EEZ= B HE W EMA (KizE6) (66,613) (473,181)
Carrying amount at 31 December ®12 A31 B ZREE 846,936 893,108

As at 31 December 2014, certain of the Group’s completed
properties held for sale of RMB390,283,000 (2013:
RMB382,416,000) were pledged to secure interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings granted to the Group as disclosed in note 30.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly lease
receivables on credit. The credit period is generally one month,
extending up to three months for major customers. All balances of
the trade receivables as at the end of the year were neither past due
nor impaired and aged within one to three months.

Trade receivables are non-interesting-bearing and unsecured.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND
OTHER RECEIVABLES

M2014F12 A31 8 - AEBBTHEHE
BEERPE A AR 390,283,000 7T (2013
£ AR#382,416,0007T) © GAkFE30 BT
WE CEARTASEFERITERRE
& FRAHA -

24. B R ZIE™R

AEEBEEEFIIVNESIFRER/EE
RERYTE - EEHM—RA—EA  3iE
EXFMes&ZERE==(EA - BKEHER
REEERFROME G REHIOR
B BfREA—Z2=EA -

FEWE BRA R R B R EER -

25. FfIeR - e R HMnER
R

Group AEE
2014 2013
2014 F 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ET R ARBFIT
Advance to suppliers SENE oY ] 2,083 1,494
Deposits i) 1,844 1,072
Prepaid other tax A E IR 20,694 16,868
Other receivables H b e GRIE 21,736 41,576
46,357 61,010

None of the above is either past due or impaired. The financial assets
included in the above balances related to receivables for which there
was no recent history of default.

LAt RIRS B RRIE - St A Ll AR
&R E B BT BN B R A TSRO 8 2 UK
AR -
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26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 26. BERBEFRMEZR

AND RESTRICTED CASH

Bl &

Group Company
AEH PN
2014 2013 2014 2013

2014 5 20134 2014 5 20134
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETITT AR®TR ARETT

Cash and bank balances e MIRITAEfR 766,917 225,492 8,632 =

Time deposits TE BiTF R 96,750 97,666 - =
863,667 323,158 8,632

Less: Restricted cash A ZRHIEREE (139,758) (99,165) - -

Cash and cash equivalents BHeKREZEEY 723,909 223,993 8,632

Current assets MENEE 139,758 3,415 - =

Non-current assets JEmENEE - 95,750 - =

Restricted cash ZRRFIRE 139,758 99,165 - =

Cash at banks eamns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods
of between one day and three months depending on the immediate
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective
short term time deposit rates. The bank balances and restricted
cash are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

Pursuant to relevant regulations in the PRC, certain property
development companies of the Group are required to place in
designated bank accounts certain amounts of pre-sale proceeds of
properties as guarantee deposits for the construction of the related
properties. The deposits can be used for purchases of construction
materials and payments of the construction fees of the relevant
property projects when approval from relevant local government
authorities is obtained. As at 31 December 2014, such guarantee
deposits amounted to approximately RMB15,440,000 (2013: nil).

RITHERERRITABRE R FZEF R
B BHERFERE—RE=(AATZHH
ROEANEENERERSFRLME) - RIET
RV A B RET R » RITEBRRT
RHIZR S FRANLRT EEOELNEE
RIFZIRTT

BIERBBEER - NEENE TR
A EZEFTIREN RS T 78 & BTSRRI IRR
HBERITERP - (ERIEMYERRHNERIZ
© o RSB E HIR A EPI R ER - IR
S AREERAYREERNEEME RS
IZEEBA - R2014F12 A31 8 » ZER
& #)7/515,440,000 7T (2013 4F : £E) o
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26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

27

AND RESTRICTED CASH
(CONTINUED)

Besides, certain of the Group’s bank account of about
RMB28,568,000 (2013: RMB3,415,000) were guaranteed to bank
for the timely repayment of the Loans.

As at 31 December 2014, certain of the Group’s current restricted
cash of RMB95,750,000 (2013: nil) were pledged to secure interest-
bearing bank loans and other borrowings granted to the Group as
disclosed in note 30.

As at 31 December 2014, nil of the Group’s non-current restricted
cash (2013: RMB95,750,000) were pledged to secure interest-
bearing bank loans and other borrowings granted to the Group as
disclosed in note 30.

TRADE PAYABLES

An aged analysis of the Group’s trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the payment due dates, is as follows:

26.

27.

BehReFRMEZR
BB & (4)

O AEBEETRITIKREODARY
28,568,0007T (20134 : A KK 3,415,000
L) B TIRIT AR EEER -

201412 A318 » AN =30 FT & -
ANEB A R% 95,750,000 7T (2013 4F = )
BT REZREIREEERIF - LEUSA
SEERRGT BRITERREMBE

A M FES0FT # BB R2014F12 A 31
H  "EBARBZIT(2013F : AR
95,750,0007T) K& TIHEMBXRHIFEE
PRI - EUSASEEEGTERITERR
HAMfER o

FE 1+ AR X

AEBENRRN S R EPRIZNHEH A
AHEEMRESITAT

2014 2013

2014 F 20134

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARBT T

Within six months 61EAMN 514,119 429,927
Over six months but within one year B 618181 4R 30,980 14,846
Over one year HRiR 1 18,933 21,451
564,032 466,224

The trade payables are unsecured and interest-free and are normally
settled based on the progress of construction.

FEA AR EI R e e B B —RITEEGER
e
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28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

28. H i FE T IR K FE 5T 5 A

Group Company
AEE AAH
2014 2013 2014 2013

2014 F 20134 2014 & 20134
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARETT ARETRT ARETT

Deposits related to construction & BZEMN LS

Payables for acquisition of FUEEHT B A B FER Y
subsidiaries FIE

Tax surcharges B AN

Other payables H A I 5RIE

Other payables are unsecured and interest-free.

29. ADVANCES FROM CUSTOMERS

Advances from customers represent sales proceeds received from
buyers in connection with the Group’s pre-sale of properties during
the year end as at 31 December 2014 and 2013.

39,835 19,240 - -
15,060 15,059 - -
18,984 22,828 - -
45,873 27,849 6,284 30
119,752 84,976 6,284 30

HAh B SR QBB B REHR -

20. ERAfTH

EEEMNFERAEEEZE 2014 F % 2013
F12AN BIEFEREEMEMBIRER
RISHE FTSFRE ©
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND 30. it RBTERR H M E
OTHER BORROWINGS
2014 2013
2014 4 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AREET T

Group rEE
Current: BNHY :
Bank loans — secured RITER BRI 987,031 50,000
Bank loans — unsecured RITER — EER 50,000 50,000
Other loans — secured HEER—EIEH 601,000 =
1,638,031 100,000
Non-current: FEBNER :
Bank loans — secured RITER— FHEAF 2,240,498 1,733,568
Other loans — secured HivER—HEH - 601,000
2,240,498 2,334,568
3,878,529 2,434,568
Repayable: AR TN A EAR(EE ¢
Within one year or on demand — Rk EREF 1,638,031 100,000
Over one year but within two years ZR—FEDRME - 1,537,070
Over two years but within five years ZHMEELRAE 997,498 97,498
Over five years FELAE 1,243,000 700,000
3,878,529 2,434,568
Current liabilities mBE & 1,638,031 100,000
Non-current liabilities SEMBAE 2,240,498 2,334,568
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK
AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

Bank and other borrowings bear interest at fixed rates and floating
rates. The Group’s bank and other borrowings bore effective interest
rates ranging as follows:

30. Bt B ERITE B H A 5K

SRITE RS EAAE IR B R M R M F B A R
R ARERRITERMEMBEFIZAT
MEFR

2014 2013
2014 & 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Effective interest rates A=

The carrying amounts of all the Group’s borrowings during the
year were denominated in RMB and United States dollars. The
denominated amounts at the end of reporting period are as follows:

3.65%-12.00%  3.66%-12.00%

AEERFERMEBRNREEAAARE
FHERSETTRHE - RIEMRGHES BT ¢

2014 2013
2014 F 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARMET T

RMB loans and borrowings AREERRER
US$ loans and borrowings ETERRER

3,621,498 2,178,498
257,031 256,070
3,878,529 2,434,568
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK 30. 5t RMMITER R H M
AND OTHER BORROWINGS ($8)
(CONTINUED)
The Group’s bank and other borrowings were secured by the MEEEEARKR - NEERITREMERS
pledges of the following assets at the end of each of the Relevant AT & B Ve

Periods as follows:

2014 2013
2014 F 20134
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
izt ARETT ARETIT
Carrying value of the Group’s assets: AEEEEMNREE
Investment properties LEME 14 2,093,991 1,576,589
Properties under development FEER Y% 15 776,066 215,246
Completed properties held for sale FrESHE BRI 23 390,283 382,416
Restricted cash ZRHIRE 26 95,750 95,750
Property and equipment EYSET 13 153,682 31,472
3,509,772 2,301,473
31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. &%
Shares % 17
2014 2013
2014 £ 20134
’000 000
o= T
Authorised: JETE ¢
5,000,000,000 (2013: 3,500,000) 5,000,000,000 M= EE0.1078 7T
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each B 3EAR (2013 4 ¢ 3,500,000) HK$500,000 HK$350
Issued and fully paid: BEETRAR :
1,738,000,000 (2013: nil) 1,738,000,000 A% &A% E{E 0.10 8 7T
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each REEAL (2013 4F « £%) RMB138,183 =
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31. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED) 31. k& (48)
A summary of movements in the Company’s issued share capital is RN EBETRRAZ BT ¢
as follows:
Number Share
of shares Share  premium
in issue capital account Total
ERITRAHE BA&  RDRER st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB 000
ARBTRE ARBTRT AR®TR

At 31 December 2013 and M20183% 12 A1 H
1 January 2014 % 20141 A1 H - - - -
Issue of shares (Note (a)) 17D (HYEE (@) 1,000,000 79 - 79
Issue of shares (Note (b)) BT (PIE () 1,000,000 80 - 80
Issue of shares (Note (c)) ZE1TRR M (FIRE () 1,000,000 80 - 80
Shares capitalised standing BRNREERRZ
to the credit of capital B (F5E(d)
reserve (Note (d)) 1,267,000,000 100,825 - 100,825
Issue of shares (Note (€)) 1T (MIRE ) 468,000,000 37,119 445,433 482,552
1,738,000,000 138,183 445,433 583,616
Share issue expenses & EITRE - - (12,900) (12,900)
At 31 December 2014 RK20144F12 431 H 1,738,000,000 138,183 432,533 570,716
Notes: BEE
(@) The Company was incorporated on 2 July 2013 and a total of 1,000,000 (@) RARMKR2013F7 A2 AL » X[ R
Shares were allotted and issued by the Company to Zhong An. On 24 ZHE K EE1TA 1,000,000 /%15 © 72014
February 2014, Zhong An transferred the 1,000,000 Shares, amounted to F2 R 24 B - RZ[AIdeal World Investments
RMB79,000, then held by Zhong An to Ideal World Investments Limited Limited ([Ideal World]) # H & 55 A #9
(“Ideal World"). As a result, the entire issued share capital of our Company 1,000,000 %A% 17 » £ #EE AR 79,0007T ©
was wholly owned by Ideal World. Eit - AR EE TR AN ldeal World % & #E
i
(b) On March 2014, the Company acquired 100% equity interest in Huijun (b) M 201443 A + ANA 7] & Ideal World Yzi#FE
(International) Holdings Limited (“Huijun International”), 75% equity interest 5 (BIRR) 2 IRE RN A ([FEREERR |) 2 3P%
in Henlly Enterprise Management (Hangzhou) Co., Ltd. (“Henlly Enterprise”) B BREEER (M) BRAR (BRI
and 100% equity interest in Qirui Commercial (Hangzhou) Management EDT5%BRERHEEEEE(MM) A
Co., Ltd. (“Qirui Commercial”) from Ideal World, which was settled by the RN R (IR 2 ) 23004 - AR A AR
Company allotting and issuing, credited as fully paid, 1,000,000 Shares, Ideal World Bt % 2 %17 1,000,000 B¢ A BR5HE
amounted to RMB80,000, to Ideal World. SRR HMIER - £5EARKS80,0007T °
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32.

SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

() On 30 May 2014, the Company and its related parties signed the deed of
novation, assignment and set-off (the “Deed”). The Deed settled and set-
off the outstanding balances of the Company with related parties. The net
debts due to approximately and owing by the Company to Ideal World after
set-off, amounted to RMB963,639,000, were settled by the Company to
allotting and issuing, credited as fully paid 1,000,000 new shares amounted
to RMB80,000 to Ideal World.

(d) On 31 May 2014, the directors were authorised to capitalise
HK$126,700,000, equivalent to RMB100,825,000, by using the exchange
rate of that day, standing to the capital reserve account of the Company,
so that 1,267,000,000 Shares were allotted and issued, pursuant to this

resolution..

(e) On 10 July 2014, the Company completed listing on the Stock Exchange
by issuing a total of 468,000,000 new shares of HK$0.10 each at an issue
price of HK$1.30 per share. The total cash proceeds were, before expense,
HK$608,400,000 equivalent to RMB482,552,000 by using the exchange
rate of that day.

OTHER RESERVE

Other reserve represented the reserve from the share option scheme
adopted by Zhong An Real Estate Limited (the “Parent Company”),
the parent company of the Group, who operates a share option
scheme (the “Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the
operations. The Scheme became effective on 15 May 2009 and,
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10
years from the offer date.

Certain directors of the Group were granted these share options.
In respect of their services to the Group, the relevant share-based
payment transactions were accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements.

31.

32.

PRI REEERAR AT
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Bz % (#8)

Bt : (&)

© R2014F5A308 « AQ A R H B ]
VEE  HRERIEHEZER (2R - %R
BEE RE AR R E B T 8 R (E R 4
£ o RIEGHE - AR B ER KR fFdeal World
BERS FRELY 73 AR 963,639,000 7T + B
A A @A ldealWorld B2 & 377 1,000,000
RABRFIVEB R FIR D M ER - @BEAR
# 80,000 7T °

©) R2014F5A31B  EZEREREXT A
7K126,700,0007% 7T ( & & H & X 5t & 18
R AR¥100,8250007T) * 5t AKX R A
BARGBEER  ABBARERER RET
1,267,000,000 &A% {5 °

© MR2014F7 A108 © A QA & & B 17 & 17T
8 & & Ak 19 1.807 st % 17 468,000,000 A%
AR T 1B.0.10 75 7T 89 % A% 15 72 Bk 0 Bk 2 FT
FH e REMBRBAEHKRFAZA) B
608,400,000 7T (12 & A EXFTEHEE R A
¥ 482,552,0007T) °

H i % f

HiZEERAREBIRRREEERR
NCIIRSTNCIIDNZ e S Y0k 35t - ol -
1% - BT EI([ZGTE D BB AREE -
M AREEEERNEL BERNE ERS
ERER SR [ 22 o %587 20094F5 A
15 ABAERK - BRIFEBITrESHEISET - BRI
BN B R TFRBK -

AEEETETERZSERE  ESY
AEERREN S - BRI BER (Y
M ZREA R E ET AR B EIRE AR & B 75
% o
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32. OTHER RESERVE (CONTINUED) 32. HfthfEfm (4#8)

Pursuant to the Scheme adopted by the Parent Company, the initial
maximum number of shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all options granted (excluding options which have lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Scheme and other share option
schemes of the Parent Company and its subsidiaries (the “Parent
Group”, if any) under the Scheme and other share option schemes
of the Parent Company (if any) must not exceed 10% of the shares
of the Parent Company in issue as at 15 May 2009, being the
date of approval of the Scheme by the shareholders at the annual
general meeting of the Parent Company. Such maximum number
may however be refreshed at a general meeting of the Parent
Company by shareholders. In addition, no options may be granted
under the Scheme or other share option schemes adopted by the
Parent Group (if any) if the grant of such options will result in the
maximum number of shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted but yet to be exercised
under the Scheme and other share option schemes adopted by the
Parent Group (if any) exceeding 30% of the issued share capital of
the Parent Company from time to time. The maximum number of
shares issuable under share options to each eligible participant in the
Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of
the Parent Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share
options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in
a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Parent Company, or to any of their associates, are
subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the Parent
Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the Parent Company in issue at any time or with an
aggregate value (based on the price of the Parent Company’s shares
at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month
period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general
meeting.
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BIRE AR FTERMAEZE 8l - EREBZE S
RERARIREMBAR([EARER ) EA
B RERT &l (A i ey 2 EPRE AR (1
BIEREZ S R QR EMERETE
() KR E & R e B AR ) BAT (0
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32. OTHER RESERVE (CONTINUED) 32. H & s (#8)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted by the grantee REBERENZHAIEENBEEE21 BHR

within 21 days from the date of offer at a consideration of HK$1.00. AR ARR(E1.007B T ° FTi%HER

The exercise period of the share options granted is determinable by WZITERRESET  YR—ZE2RAF 25

the directors, and commences after a vesting period of one to five BHIAFG - EEEREZY B HETER

years and ends on a date which is not later than 10 years from the +E 7 Bzt 2l 2 Eim B H (AR R34

date of offer of the share options or the expiry date of the Scheme, if EHEE)AIE -

earlier.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the directors, BREZTEERESEE  ENERA

but may not be less than the highest of: THERE :

()  the Stock Exchange closing price of the Parent Company’s () BSRARKROREBIREZLABPERR
shares on the date of offer of the share options; Pipd Gl

(i)  the average Stock Exchange closing price of the Parent (i) ERARGOREZEZL R A EE
Company’s shares for the five trading days immediately F AR FERHE &

preceding the date of offer; and

@iy  the nominal value of a share of the Parent Company. iy FRREFRBEMHEE -
The share options granted to certain directors of the Group were RRERE - B AEEE TESHERE
outstanding under the Scheme during the reporting periods: ThiZat &l T M ARTTE 2 BEARFE
2014 2013
20145 20134F
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise Number exercise Number
price of options price  of options
InREF 15 IR INFEFH B
TEE #A 111 E =
HK$ HK$
per share ’000 per share ‘000
sRET T EBRET T15
At 1 January m1A1H 2.12 5,053 2.12 5,053

At 31 December M12 A31H 212 5,053 212 5,053
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32. Kbk (#8)

RIRE RS RITEBEAE 2 TRERTE

outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: HAaOR -

32. OTHER RESERVE (CONTINUED)

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options

2014

Number of options

Exercise price*

2014 5

Exercise period

BREHE TEE 1T

’000 per share

¥ =2
2,650 HK$1.85 22 January 2014 to 21 January 2021
1.8587T 201451 H22B& 202161 A 21H
2,403 HK$2.58 9 July 2010 to 8 July 2019
2.5887T 20107 A9 HZ20194F7 A8H

5,053

2013

Number of options

Exercise price*

2013 %

Exercise period

BREHE THEE> THEH

’000 per share

T4 =30
2,650 HK$1.85 22 January 2014 to 21 January 2021
1.85%87T 20141 22 H=20214F1 A21H
2,403 HK$2.58 9 July 2010 to 8 July 2019
2.587%7T 20107 B9HZE 201947 A8H

5,053

. The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in case of * AR TR B MR SALR B TIBERA T

rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share

capital.

The Group recognised a share option expense of RMB159,000
(2013: RMB1,185,000) during the year ended 31 December 2014.

AEAANRIBANEMIRERE) o

HZE2014F12 A31 BILFE - AEBHER
BERCHER S AR ¥ 150,000 7T (2013 4F : A
R#1,185,0007C) °
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33. RESERVES

Group

(a)

(b)

(c)

Share premium

The share premium represents the excess of ordinary shares
paid by the shareholders over their nominal value.

Capital reserve

On 30 May 2014, the Company and its related parties signed
the deed of novation, assignment and set-off (the “Deed”).
The Deed settled and set-off the outstanding balances of
the Company with related parties. The net debts due to
approximately and owing by the Company to Ideal World
after set-off, amounted to RMB963,639,000, were settled by
the Company to allotting and issuing, credited as fully paid
1,000,000 new shares amounted to RMB80,000 to Ideal
World.

On 31 May 2014, the directors were authorised to capitalise
HK$126,700,000, equivalent to RMB100,825,000, by
using the exchange rate of that day, standing to the credit
of the capital reserve account of the Company, so that
1,267,000,000 Shares were allotted and issued, pursuant to
this resolution.

Deem contribution by the Controlling Shareholder represented
certain residual interests of residential business remained in
certain subsidiaries and was contributed by the Controlling
Shareholder to the Group.

Statutory reserve fund

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and
the respective articles of association of the PRC group
companies, each of the subsidiaries of the Group that is
domiciled in Mainland China is required to allocate 10% of its
profit after tax, as determined in accordance with the PRC
Accounting Regulations, to the statutory surplus reserve
(the “SSR”) until such reserve reaches 50% of its respective
registered capital.

Notes to Financial Statements

B ER R M

31 December 2014 2014412 A 31 B

33. fiti fil

A%

(a)

(b)

(c)

PRI REEERAR AT

MR AR 1E

AR BB EERRR N 2 BBk
SREBBEME -

NG

M201445 308 © A& KkEE
SRR E R - R MR HRE (5%
iR ) - ZRBHEE KIKHA L F)
RARG T BY M R BB A R o MR EHIE
AN BIES R R A Ideal World #IE 7
FREH) A AR 963,639,000 7T ¢ H
AR BB Ideal World Bit 2 K 317
1,000,000 A& A BR 51 YE 8 7 A% 17
B - £8EAR 80,0007 °

R201465 431 B - ESERERERT
& 7K 126,700,000 77T (2 & AE RS
BHEEN AR 100,825,0007T) © &f
ARR BB ARHER - MIRBARRZR
2R B K B4471,267,000,0008 B 1D

WERSERBERHERRE THEAR
BRTEEEBNE T - WhE
RIRREARER -

RIBFEARDERFEEERREB
HAEBEIZAA - AR E AR AR
KBS B R RARN ERBRENE
B10% (RIBEFE S ENEE) =
EEBBAB(DEERBATE]
HEZHANEREEER AEMERR
50% °

— T YFEFIR
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33. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

33. fitifi (¥8)

(c) Statutory reserve fund (continued) (c) EE#E<E (&)
In addition, certain of the PRC group companies are foreign AN - B ETFHRREERAN T AINE
investment enterprises which are not subject to the SSR ¥ WBABRNEEERGBATRE -
allocation. According to the relevant PRC regulations BIBEEARINELENE B BRE
applicable to foreign investment enterprises, each of these B ZSENBARSEREREE:T
subsidiaries is required to allocate a certain portion (not less ERFTEENBRTRZ MBS E T3S
than 10%) of its profit after tax, as determined in accordance (RDR10%) BEEZTHEES BE
with the PRC Accounting Regulations, to the statutory reserve ZIBEESES HTE AR 50%
fund until such reserve reaches 50% of its registered capital.
Company b N/NE]
Share Exchange
premium fluctuation Accumulated Capital
account reserve losses reserve Total
RIVEER ERRDRE REER BEXfGRE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT  ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR
At 1 January 2013 R2013F1A1R - - - - -
Total comprehensive AEEREBEASR
loss for the year - - (30) - (30)
At 31 December 2013 R20134%12 318
and 1 January 2014 &2014%1R18 = = (30) = (30)
Total comprehensive AEEEEBEEE
loss for the year - (24,506) (32,995) - (57,501)
Issue of shares G-l 445,433 - - - 445,433
Share issue expense BRI ETRE (12,900) - - - (12,900)
Shares capitalised standing to BAGREER
the credit of capital reserve CeNdin) - - - (100,825) (100,825)
Settlement of debts to equity IR AL S - - - 963,559 963,559
Deem contribution by the WRAERRELE
Controlling Shareholder - - - 373,138 373,138
At 31 December 2014 R2014%F12 431 H 432,533 (24,500) (33,025) 1,235,872 1,610,874
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Q)

Name and relationship

Name of related party
BAH S £

Notes to Financial Statements
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4.RMBMIE RS

(1) BEKEE

Relationship with the Group
HASMEER

Mr. Shi Zhongan

MRS

Zhong An Real Estate Limited
RREEARAR

Zhong An Group Co., Ltd.

REEEERAR

Ideal World Investments Limited

Ideal World Investments Limited

Qirui Enterprise Management Co., Ltd.

I EERER AR

Hong Kong Huiyuan Real Estate Limited
BBERMERRAR

Hangzhou Danube Real Estate Co., Ltd.
MR EXFRAA

Hong Kong Bo Kai Construction Design Limited
BB R AR AR

Esteem High Enterprises Limited
SECEERAR

Anhui Zhong An Real Estate Co., Ltd.
HRREXFRAA]

Anhui Zhong An Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
ZHRLZEMERERR AR

Zhejiang Anyuan Agriculture Development Co., Ltd.
MIZREEREBRAR

Yuyao Zhong An Property Co., Ltd.
AURLREERRAR

Ultimate controlling shareholder

BRASPERR AR

Company controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholders
AR AR AR SR AR A 2

Company controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholders
H R AR R AR AR SR A ) 2 )

Company controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholders
AR AR AR SR AR A 2

Company controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholders
R AR AR AR SR A% ) A )

Company controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholders
AR R AR SR AR O 2

Company controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholders
SR AR AR AR SR A ) A )

Company controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholders
AR AR AR SRR O

Company controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholders
H R AR AR AR SR A ) A )

Company controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholders
AR AR AR SR AR O A

Company controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholders
R AR R AR AR SR A ) A )

Company controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholders
B B AS R AR AR SR AR O 1

Company controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholders
H R AR R AR AR SR A ) A )
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

Q)

Name and relationship (continued)

Name of related party
B L 58

34. AL RS ()

(1) BEKEEE)

Relationship with the Group
BASERE

Yuyao Zhong An Property Development Co., Ltd.
AR LREHEREARRA

Zhejiang Zhong An Property Co., Ltd.
MIRZ M ERE SR LT

Hangzhou Anyuan Property Development Co., Ltd.
ML REEREBRAR

Hangzhou Zhong An Property Co., Ltd.
MNRLZEEBRAR]

Plenty Management Limited

EREEFRAA

Hangzhou Xiaoshan Property Management Co., Ltd.
MMRLEERERAA]

Cixi Zhong An Property Co., Ltd.
RERREZRRAA

Hangzhou Zhong An Construction Design Co., Ltd.
MMNR LR E R BRAT

Jiangsu Jiarun Real Estate Co., Ltd.
T#HRHEXRRAR

Company controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholders
BB A R AR AR R B A

Company controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholders
AR AR AR SR A O 2

Company controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholders
BB A R AR AR R B 1

Company controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholders
AR AR AR SR A O 2

Company controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholders
BB A R AR A R B 1

Company controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholders
AR AR AR SR A O 2 )

Company controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholders
BB A R AR AR SRR B

Company controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholders
AR R AR SR A O 1

A joint venture

—Fsﬁé\'.-%’AET
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  34.BABi 5% 5 (i#)
(CONTINUED)

(2)  Outstanding balances with related parties: () EEEFE S RRERER
() Amounts due from related companies (i) FEUkEREERIE
2014 2013
20145 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AREFTT
Zhong An Real Estate Limited REFEEBRRAH - 321,552
Zhong An Group Co., Ltd. REEERRAA - 635,374
Ideal World Investments Limited |deal World Investments Limited - 40,864
Hong Kong Huiyuan Real Estate Limited BEERMESR AR - 162,315
Hangzhou Danube Real Estate Co., Ltd. MMNZITEERR AR - 36
Hong Kong Bo Kai Construction Design Limited ~ &/&{E 258 BB A A - 94,898
Yuyao Zhong An Property Co., Ltd. FURLEEBRAH 112,359 -
Esteem High Enterprises Limited BECEERAT - 122,299
Anhui Zhong An Real Estate Co., Ltd. ZHRREEARAA - 5,114
Hangzhou Zhong An Property Co., Ltd. MMBLEZEBRAA - 306,170
Cixi Zhongan Property Co., Ltd. RERLREZFBRAA - 11,820
112,359 1,700,442
Amounts due from the related parties were interest- FENS BB T SRIB A AR - &
free, unsecured and have no fixed terms of repayment R B E F E S - iUk
except for the amount due from Zhong An Group Co., REEEERABRBRIN
Ltd., which bore interest at the rate of 6.0% for the year HE2013F12A31AIEFE -
ended 31 December 2013. 2B 6.0% MFEEHE o
(ii) Loans and interest receivables from a joint (i) ER—HAZATIEREFS
venture
2014 2013
2014 % 2013 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBT T
Jiangsu Jiarun Real Estate Co., Ltd. IHREEXEBRAR
(note 20) (FftE20) 420,700 -
The Group provided loans to Jiangsu Jiarun Real AEERMIG=ZHEXS
Estate Co., Ltd. with an amount of RMB390,931,000 RARIRHEEBEAARYK
for an annual interest rate of 9% in 2014 with no fixed 390,931,007t #) B = R
repayment terms (2013:nil). 2014 FIRFFIKI%AT B + Wi

BElE B H (20134 : &) o
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

34. AP A H (]8)

(CONTINUED)
(?)  Outstanding balances with related parties: (continued) (2 HEEEBAHRERER  (B)
(i) Amounts due to related companies (i) PESEEESRIE
2014 2013
2014 % 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTTT
Zhong An Real Estate Limited REFEEBRAF - 1,353,418
|deal World Investments Limited |deal World Investments Limited - 1,095,823
Hong Kong Bo Kai Construction BAEINRERTARAA
Design Limited - 4,656
Anhui Zhong An Real Estate Co., Ltd. ZRHRLEEARRAA - 200
Yuyao Zhong An Property Co., Ltd. RURLEEBRRA - 693
Yuyao Zhong An Property RRELEHERT
Development Co., Ltd. BRAF - 231,249
Qirui Enterprise Management Co., Ltd. HIGEEEEGR AR - 9,108
Hangzhou Xiaoshan Property MMNELIEER
Management Co., Ltd. BRAT - 541
Plenty Management Limited CHRERERAF - 41,625
- 2,737,313

EN@ER A REARS « &K
AR EEEEEBRR - EES
RKBLEHERZEERAF
ZFIERIN - REIE 2013412
AS1ALEFE - ZRIAIR6%H)
FIZFE -

Amounts due to the related parties were interest-
free, unsecured and have no fixed terms of repayment
except for the amounts due to Yuyao Zhong An
Property Development Co., Ltd., which bore interest
rate of 6% for the year ended 31 December 2013.
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 4. FABEES (8)
(CONTINUED)

(3) In addition to the transactions detailed else where in these (B) BREEZEVHHREREMIPIAR
financial statements, the Group had the following transactions SEEEIN - RE RN T #ITAR
with related parties during the year: SN :

() Car parks and retail shops management service () FEURZEFEEERKEW
income A
2014 2013
2014 % 2013 F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT
Anhui Zhong An Real Estate ZHRLEHMEREERAF
Development Co., Ltd. - 543
Anhui Zhong An Real Estate Co., Ltd. RRRREXARAT - 500
Hangzhou Danube Real Estate Co., Ltd. MMNEZH B EBRAR - 575
Hangzhou Anyuan Property TIN5 o b 2 R 3
Development Co., Ltd. ERAF - 500
- 2,118
(i) Property service fee (i) YERBEH
2014 2013
2014 F 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ETT AREET T

Zhejiang Zhong An Property Co., Ltd. AL RLE HE
HEERAA 5,685 6,855
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(CONTINUED)

8)  (continued)

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  34.FBEA X5 ()
@ (&
(iii) Design fee (iii) HRETEH
2014 2013
2014 F 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARETT
Hangzhou Zhong An Construction UM R R 5
Design Co., Ltd. BRAT 606 7,667
(iv) Purchase of plants and trees (ivy BEBREREE
2014 2013
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTIT
Zhejiang Anyuan Agriculture AT RIRE S
Development Co., Ltd. HEFRA A - 33
(v) Interestincome (v) FEWKA
2014 2013
2014 F 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARETT
Jiangsu Jiarun Real Estate Co., Ltd.  T#isHBEZAR A 29,769 =
Zhong An Group Co., Ltd. BRELEBEERAF - 1,199
29,769 1,199
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 4. FABEES (8)
(CONTINUED)

(3)  (continued) @ (&
(vi) Interest expense (i) FEFEX
2014 2013
2014 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT AREET T

Yuyao Zhong An Property RREZEHE
Development Co., Ltd. HBEERAR - 84,777
Total interest e - 84,777
Less: Interest capitalised in B R
properties under development BEAREFE - (84,777)
(viil Mortgage and guarantee (vii) RIBRER
2014 2013
2014 F 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBFIT
Provide guarantee R
Zhong An Group Co., Ltd. REEBEBR AT - 160,000
(vii) Compensation of key management personnel of (vii) AEBEXEEEAESHNFMH(E
the Group which comprises the remuneration of the HEREHM) DR :E8IKE o

directors is disclosed in note 8.
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35. COMMITMENTS

36

The Group had the following commitments for property development
expenditure at the end of the reporting period:

35. B&KiE

RBESR - AEEREHEREENE
AAESEIT

2014 2013
2014 2013
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T R ARBFIT
Contracted, but not provided for: EHEVEES I
Properties under development FERYE 1,303,094 888,605

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
As lessor

The Group leases out its investment properties under operating
lease arrangements on terms ranging from one to fifteen years and
with an option for renewal after the expiry dates, at which time all
terms will be renegotiated.

At 31 December 2014, the Group had total future minimum lease
receivables under non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants
falling due as follows:

36. IEEHERIE

EREBEA

AEERBLEHERHHHAERENE
BN F—Z+0F  WAEEREHE®E
EEFER 2GR TEEE -

R2014F 12 A31 H - AEERIFEERF
I Al R SEA S A E M A T3 B 2 HA
# B R RIREREEFBRENT ¢

2014 2013

2014 £ 20134

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT AREFTT

Within one year —FR 86,233 67,234
In the second to fifth years, inclusive ~ F-_ZFAF (HEEMFERIEEA) 228,021 144,378
After five years hF% 74,325 46,292
388,579 257,904
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36. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
(CONTINUED)

As lessee

The Group leases certain of its office premises under operating
lease arrangements, negotiated for terms of five years with an option
for renewal after the expiry dates, at which time all terms will be
renegotiated.

At 31 December 2014, the Group had total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling due as

36. EEHE&E (&)

EREBEA

AEERBREHERHHAREETHAE
W EHKERRAF  WANEERE
HARBESHER SRR T EHE -

2014512 A31 8 » ANEBIRE R
ZAETRE A TN HIR 2N HA A B 14 SR A

follows: MEFIELTEAT
2014 2013
2014 £ 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETTT
Within one year —&FR 4,053 2,671
In the second to fifth years, inclusive ~ F-ZFAF (HEEMFERIEEA) 10,695 10,935
After five years & 18,084 20,885
32,832 34,491
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37. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 37.XBAEE
2014 2013
20145 20134
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Htat ARETR ARETT
Guarantees given to banks for: FATIEB 45 TIRTTHIHELR ¢
Mortgage facilities granted to REEYHEERER
purchasers of the Group’s properties IRITIEIBER (@) 169,633 222,930
Guarantees given to banks in MEAER AEREE
connection with facilities i MR TVEH AR
granted to related companies (34(vii) - 160,000
169,633 382,930

(@  The Group provided guarantees in respect of the mortgage
facilities granted by certain banks to the purchasers of the
Group’s properties. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantee
arrangements, in case of default on mortgage payments
by the purchasers, the Group is responsible for repaying
the outstanding mortgage loans together with any accrued
interest and penalty owed by the defaulted purchasers to the
banks. The Group is then entitled to take over the legal titles
of the related properties. The Group’s guarantee periods
commence from the dates of grant of the relevant mortgage
loans and end after the execution of individual purchasers’
collateral agreements.

The Group did not incur any material losses during the
reporting period in respect of the guarantees provided for
mortgage facilities granted to purchasers of the Group’s
properties. The directors consider that in case of default on
payments, the net realisable value of the related properties
can cover the repayment of the outstanding mortgage
loans together with any accrued interest and penalty, and
therefore no provision has been made in connection with the
guarantees.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

38. LGB Sr&mIT R

FEHeRTARREHARNEEENT

2014 Group 2014 & AEH
Financial assets ERMEE
Available-
Loans and for-sale
receivables financial assets
EXR AftHE Total
WA SREE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBT T ARBT T
Avallable-for-sale investments AEHERE - 3,300 3,300
Long term deposit REBER 12,914 - 12,914
Loans and receivables from a joint venture ~ —F& &R BIFE 2 S FEUEUE 420,700 - 420,700
Trade receivables EWE FER 12,961 - 12,961
Financial assets included in prepayments, st ATBITFUE ~ &4 REAM
deposits and other receivables EYFER N REE 23,580 - 23,580
Amounts due from related companies il N E O 112,359 - 112,359
Restricted cash XB IR E 139,758 - 139,758
Cash and cash equivalents Re kA2 EEN 723,909 - 723,909
At 31 December 2014 R2014F12A31H 1,446,181 3,300 1,449,481
Financial liabilities ETHMEE

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

REBERR AT

TRIEE

RMB’000

ARET T

Trade payables JEE SRR 564,032

Financial liabilities included in ST AL T FRTE K

other payables and accruals ErrEATREmas 100,768
Interest-bearing bank AT EIRTTE R R EALE R

and other borrowings 3,878,529

4,543,329
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (CONTINUED)

38. IARBIBI &M IR

bi=1
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial ZHESHMTANREHRNOERERDT :
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: (&)
(continued)
2013 Group 2013 F AEH
Financial assets SREE
Available-
Loans and for-sale
receivables  financial assets
ERR A E Total
YRR PHEE @5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT AREFT
Available-for-sale investments HHERE - 3,300 3,300
Long term deposit REER 12,232 - 12,232
Trade and bills receivables G ES 9,270 - 9,270
Financial assets included in prepayments, STABMRE  Ze Rk
deposits and other receivables HihERFIER N SR & 42,648 - 42,648
Amounts due from related companies e B A AR 1,700,442 - 1,700,442
Restricted cash XBHRE 99,165 - 99,165
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEEN 223,993 - 223,993
At 31 December 2013 R2013F 12 A31H 2,087,750 3,300 2,091,050
Financial liabilities A== R

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

IREREAR AN EY

=N

RMB’000

ARBFIT

Trade payables JESE SRR 466,224

Financial liabilities included in ST AEL A AT IR K2

other payables and accruals EAERTHeREE 62,148

Amounts due to related companies FES BAE A R FIE 2,737,313
Interest-bearing bank FTERITER R A AR

and other borrowings 2,434,568

5,700,253
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

CATEGORY (CONTINUED)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

38. IARBIBIAmEm TR

=

SESMIARBEBROETENT :

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: (&)
(continued)
2014 Company 2014 & RATF
Financial assets SMEE
Loans and
receivables
BERRERRIE
RMB’000
AR®T T
Amounts due from subsidiaries JrE Y B BB A R 0B 1,315,840
Cash and cash equivalents Re MREEEY 8,632
1,324,472
Financial liabilities N =R

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

R
SHas
RMB’000
AR¥TT
Financial liabilities included in AT A EL At FE < FRE K
other payables and accruals EEtERARNERAE 6,284
Amounts due to subsidiaries NI NGIE R 895,934
902,218
mEFETEERRAR AR —E—nmggr 211
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (CONTINUED)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
(continued)

2013 Company
Financial liabilities

38. IARBIBI &M IR

FESRMIARNBRERARNEEENAT :
(%)

2013 F RATF
SREE

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

RER AR AN Y
SREE
RMB’000
ARETTT

Financial liabilities included in FTAEL At FE A FRIE B
other payables and accruals EAERTHEREE 30
30
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B ER R M

2014412 A31H

39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 9. eMTAMNAREBEERL
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL RIEERS
INSTRUMENTS
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s and the AEBMARAASHTEAMNEAERALE
Company’s financial instruments, other than those with carrying BT @ HEREEEAAEESEEEER
amounts that reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows: AN
Group NEE

Carrying amounts Fair values
REE AREE
2014 2013 2014 2013
2014 F 20134 2014 £ 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRT ARETT AR¥TR ARETT
Financial liabilities SRBE
Interest-bearing bank and FTERIT REMER
other borrowings 3,878,529 2,434,568 3,799,663 2,349,871
Company RATF
Fair values of the Company’s financial instruments approximate to Apale@mTAARBEEREERS °
the carrying amounts.
Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash ARReRFSFEY - XRHIHESHENE
equivalents, the current portion of restricted cash, trade receivables, 7o ERESER - —HeE R rERKk
loans and receivables from a joint venture, trade payables, financial FEW IR « FERTE SERSL « T ATBf A -
assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables, B REMEWRFEFNSREE  ;TAE
financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals, EMNZFEREFERTNCRAR - B
amounts due from/to related companies, amounts due from/to W, e RBHE A RIFB MBI TR B A
subsidiaries approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to AIREREHANRE - WEBERAZETL

the short term maturities of these instruments. The non-current AAnEEEERRERS - XREFREIE
portion of restricted cash, long term deposit and available-for-sale BVERER 5 ~ REMF SRR A i S A BLE AR
investments approximate to their carrying amounts, largely due to HEHRE  TZARZSSRTEHETA
the insignificant amount and short remaining maturities of these R FIARBAPR RE PTER -

instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included TREEREBBENAABENZIARBME
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a R5H(MIEREREEHE) BRI S N
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or AR SEEAR o NOHERBRIIARE
liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used HAREE-

to estimate the fair values.

PRI REEERAR AT
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214 China New City Commercial Development Limited

39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The fair values of the interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
have been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using rates currently available for instruments with similar terms,
credit risk and remaining maturities.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted
market prices. The fair values of unlisted available-for-sale equity
investments have been estimated using a discounted cash flow
valuation model based on assumptions that are not supported
by observable market prices or rates. The valuation requires the
directors to make estimates about the expected future cash flows
including expected future dividends and proceeds on subsequent
disposal of the shares. The directors believe that the estimated fair
values resulting from the valuation technique, which are recorded
in the consolidated statement of financial position, and the related
changes in fair values, which are recorded in other comprehensive
income, are reasonable, and that they were the most appropriate
values at the end of the reporting period.

Fair value hierarchy

All financial instruments for which fair value is recognised or
disclosed are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described
as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole:

39.

MIANARRERSD
[RiE%RE (&)

chHp

SRRITERMAMERN AR BETER
ERRBELUER - FERBR IS TIHAR
ERMTARKAMATREGERRKRSR
EFRMmAE -

EEERENAABERTSREETE
FEMAHHERERENIAEBEERA
PFrIRR SR EGHEELRRILE B
MSERKA RN EE - HERKREFHE
SFERBASRE (BREEF ARERERER
HERDWAMBFIR) (EL A - EFRA
HEXMEHN [T AR EE(REETH
RARARR) R AR BENEREZE) (R EMD
EHREAR) DBAEKARRERARSK
BERGLE -

DREERER

ERAKEARBENAESRIE - 9R
BHARBEAEERENSBEERHAZE
ZEBEERETRAABESRNETD
B

Level 1 — Quoted market prices in an active market (that F1HRR : FEEESBERERTSZH
are unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities WE (BIAREHENER)

Level2 — Valuation techniques (for which the lowest F2MR : HERN (B EESMHEER
level input that is significant to the fair value HARBEAEMEBEEZ
measurement is directly or indirectly observable) =K E HEm ABE)

Level 3 — Valuation techniques (for which the lowest FIMA - (HEFRMT (BT ERE AR

level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable)

2014 Annual Report
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

40

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

All the above financial assets and liabilities had Level 2 input other
than available-for-sale investments which had Level 3 input. The fair
value hierarchy of investment properties is disclosed in note 14 to
the financial information.

During the Relevant Periods, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or
out of Level 3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to
raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and
trade payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for
trading purposes. The board of directors review and agree policies
for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below:

(a) Interest rate risk

The Group has no significant interest-bearing assets. The
Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank and other
borrowings with floating interest rates. The Group has not
used any interest rate swaps to hedge its interest rate risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to change
in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group’s profit before tax (through the impact on floating rate
borrowings) and the Group’s equity, assuming all increase/
(decrease) are deal with in profit and loss account, without
consideration of interest capitalization.

N

N EERE (&)

=
5
o
T
i
R

/N

BRIt E4 & B 5 3 AR BIE A BB - LA
trREEREENBEDEFR 2HHEAR
- REMEN AR BESFRERYHER

BT RE 14 BEEE -

RABREIRE - 51 &R ERE 2 &5l 2 F &
ARBENERE  AYWESARERES

40. M RBEE B BRREE

AEENERTAIZEEASKREEE
% - RREIB MG RRITERREME

cBEUTHMTATIZANRAEEZES
%ﬁ% cAKEHEEMEREERAE
Bl E SR REN B SRR - =EEK

WEHEEESL -

AEESRTEREENTZERRZHER
b SNERRR - EERBRATEE SRR o
ZK%T\@T%EQZ%TT@TE@ BTAEEER
R - UTREZRBHAREEE Ll

TREBREOBRBE

(a) Mm@

AEBAES KA BEE - AEEH
MM EEE AT NER TR M

AEEWTRRITES

AR EAERE

B - NEERA EREA R R =%

HREM X -

TRIBFIREHT -

BEBFIF

BENTE - $‘$lf5ﬁﬁﬁ EINEDSEN
SEREMGURE (e EMBERRF
BAE)  BRABFEZM O R
BEARK - MASRAEERL

PRI REEERAR AT

T mEER
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. MEREEER HERBE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 5
(CONTINUED)
(a) Interest rate risk (continued) (a) FIEmEps (&)
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in profit (decrease)
basis points before tax in equity
=2 RRB4 A0 7 R
i, GRd) #hn G #hn, G
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR¥T T
2014 2014 F
RMB AR 50 (18,107) (13,581)
uss$ X 50 (1,285) (964)
RMB AR (50) 18,107 13,581
us$ ETT (50) 1,285 964
2013 20134
RMB AR 50 (7,392) (5,544)
uss$ =TT 50 (1,280) (960)
RMB AR (50) 7,392 5,544
uss$ E7T (50) 1,280 960
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

0. HERBEE MR RRE

bi=|
(CONTINUED)
(b) Foreign currency risk (b) INEEELBE
The Group’s businesses are located in Mainland China and REEBRMEREIEDEAMETT
all transactions are conducted in RMB. Most of the Group’s AR SHREB AR o A& B AE
assets and liabilities are denominated in RMB, except for DBENBEBEUAREZE BT
certain bank balances and bank loans denominated in US$ L RBTEHERRITERRIRITE
and HK$. FRERIN
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of NSRS B R AT AR R A R
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the BEENREAREETNBTERS
US$ and HK$ exchange rates, with all other variables hold B A RE B BN BURNE - MERT A Efh Al
constant, of the Group profit before tax and the Group’s BRERIFTAE -
equity.
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in profit (decrease)
foreign currency rate before tax in equity
SEE=R BRELATFIE R
#in,/ (i) #in,/ () #m,/ ORd)
% RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR®T T
2014 2014 £
If HK$ weakens against US$ B TR ETRE 5 (15,842) (11,882)
If HK$ strengthens against US$ W TR ETTAE (5) 15,842 11,882
If RMB weakens against the US$ i AR H TRz E 5 3 2
If RMB strengthens HWARERETHE
against the US$ () (3) 2
2013 2013F
If HK$ weakens against the US$ i L X R (E 5 (15,301) (11,476)
If HK$ strengthens against the US$ /& 7T =T HHE (5) 15,301 11,476
If RMB weakens against the US$ ~ f§ARBHETLEE 5 1,376 1,032
If RMB strengthens AR R ETHE
against the US$ ®) (1,376) (1,032)
hEFHTELERARAT —T—nmEFR 217
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

Credit risk

The Group has no concentration of credit risk. The Group’s
cash and cash equivalents are mainly deposited with
overseas banks and state-owned banks in Mainland China.
The carrying amounts of the other receivables, loans and
receivables from a joint venture, restricted cash and cash and
cash equivalents included in the consolidated statement of
financial position represent the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk in relation to its financial assets. The Group has
no other financial assets which carry significant exposure to
credit risk. The Group has arranged bank financing for certain
purchasers of its property units and has provided guarantees
to secure the obligations of such purchasers for repayments.
Detailed disclosures of these guarantees are made in note 37.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial assets
(e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows from
operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank and
other borrowings.

40.

&

Tk

(d)

ﬁﬂﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁ&&%

FERR

AEEVWEEFHEERR - AEE
WRERReEBYEERT RIS
HMRTT R B i B L SR 1TV TE AR ©
ER G B AR 2R A FITB1) ) L fth 8 LT3R
B REEEDRNERKERR
B SREBERFESRELSED
HEREE R AN B 5 K S g B E ATk
EORREERR o AEE WS
EXEERBROEMSREE - A&
BEAHETYREMMERTHER
TRVE W IRMERAMRBERNWER
BT - AEZSEROFEBERR
PisE37 o

RBEERER

AEERALEERPESHEITA
ERHESHEBRR ZTAZEH
TRTARSREE (MEWRESK
F)MEZBRERNRELEEBE 2T
FHRER °

AEENENTERMBRITERK
HER  #RESREEETE T
Z FEIE) 1
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. MR ER B ERBUE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES ($8)
(CONTINUED)
(d) Liquidity risk (continued) (d) REBELER (&)
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at BEETAORBIBENTG  XEESRE
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual BERREARNZ AT

undiscounted payments, is as follows:

Group REE
2014
20145
Less than 3 to less than 1to5 Over
On demand 3months 12 months years 5 years Total
REX  OR3ER  3Z12f8A 1255 5N E st

RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARE®TR ARBTR

Interest-bearing bank STERTREME

and other borrowings - 953,405 684,626 1,614,872 625,626 3,878,529
Interest payable in relation B EERTTREAL

to bank and other a2 RIS

borrowings - 69,506 273,501 302,302 104,546 749,855
Trade payables JERBRZ 564,032 - - - - 564,032
Guarantees given to FAEEMEER

banks in connection EREBETAT

with mortgage RIT 2R

facilities granted to

purchasers of the

Group's properties - 169,633 - - - 196,633
Other payables HitiENFER

and acoruals EtER 100,768 - - - - 100,768

664,800 1,192,544 958,127 1,917,174 730,172 5462817
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(d) Liquidity risk (continued)

40. HERREE H MR RRE
=R
(d) "REBEER ()

REBFTORFTANT > AEE DR
BERBEHROIMAL RO T

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual

undiscounted payments, is as follows (continued): (&) :
Group REE
2013
20134
Lessthan  3toless than 1105 Over
On demand 3 months 12 months years 5 years Total
2% JM3fEA  3E12fA 1255 5L F it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Interest-bearing bank STERITREME
and other borrowings - - 100,000 1,787,568 447,000 2,334,568
Interest payable in relation A EERTTREA
to bank and other fERZAE
borrowings = 47,276 140,278 255,151 97,491 540,196
Trade payables FEfTARR 466,224 - - - - 466,224
Guarantees given to FAEEMEER
banks in connection EREBERAT
with mortgage BT 2R
faciliies granted to
purchasers of the
Group's properties = 222,930 = = = 222,930
Guarantees given to REBRLAEREE
banks in connection TR ER
with facilities
granted to
related companies - - - - 160,000 160,000
Amounts due to FE(EER AR
related companies 2,737,313 - - - - 2,737,313
Other payables Hi AR
and accruals et &R 62,148 - - - - 62,148
3,265,685 270,206 240,278 2,042,719 704,491 6,523,379
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(d) Liquidity risk (continued)

40. B RMEE B MR BE

The maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities as
at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual

=

(d) RBESERE(F)

REBFTORFTANT > AEE DR
BERBEHROIBAL RO T

undiscounted payments, is as follows (continued): (&) :
Company RATH
2014
20145
Less than 3 to less than 1to5 Over
On demand 3months 12 months years 5years Total
3fEAE
REX  SR3ER  HR128A 1855 580 F @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT AR%Tn ARETR AR®TRT AR%®Tn AR%Tx
Due to subsidiaries ERHBARIFIE - - 895,934 - - 895,934
Other payables E b E(FE
and accruals LT ER 6,284 - - - - 6,284
6,284 - 895,934 - - 902,218
2013
20134
Lessthan 3toless than 1105 Over
On demand 3months 12 months years 5 years Total
3EAZE
BER  DPR3EA PR12{EA 1E5% 5 E st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARBTE ARETT ARETT ARETR
Other payables HitEN70E
and accruals REER 30 - - - - 30
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2. HERREEEBRREE

18

(e) Capital management (e) BEXERE

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the years ended 31 December 2014 and 2013.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
net debt divided by capital plus net debt. Net debt includes
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, trade payables
and other payables and the accruals, less cash and cash
equivalents. Capital represents equity attributable to owners
of the parent. The gearing ratios as at the end of each of the
reporting periods were as follows:

AEBEAEENTIEBNEERE
AREREAHELERERLEFNE
ALE  AXBEEBRERREE
RAE °

AEEEREERER  WREBLE
AT B9 & B) F AR B & EE M BB R
HWHELFE - AEFSAEREARE
o REEA AR TR
B BEARETREREITHR
3 REZE 20145 201345 12 A 31
BIEFE  EBEAMNERZ B
IEHEE T EE) -

AEBEREERBL XREEER
HZEERBLRAFEERABEAM
FEE - FERBREMBRITERK
HER - BN E SRR R E RN
IR EETER REREERREEE
) o BATIRIRRIRRELER - R
BEREHRNEERBLENAT ¢
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e) Capital management (continued)

40. M RMEE B HRKE

18

() EXEE (R

STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the board of directors on 24 March 2015.

Group rEE
2014 2013
2014 4 20134
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREBT T
Interest-bearing bank and FTRRTT R E ALK
other borrowings 3,878,529 2,434,568
Trade payables FETBRFR 564,032 466,224
Other payables and accruals H A I R IERTE A 119,752 84,976
Less: Cash and cash equivalents i : 3£ MIBEZEY) (723,909) (223,993)
Net debt E5FEE 3,838,404 2,761,775
Equity attributable to (SYNCIE RPNy T
owners of the parent 4,287,874 2,326,407
Capital and net debt PR K (575 558 8,126,278 5,088,182
Gearing ratio BEBELX 47% 54%
41. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 41 #ERM SR E

PFEBRREN2015F3A4BKEEER

B R IRAE T

PRI REEERAR AT
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Summary of Consolidated Financial Information

SLENBERBE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling 7<% B4 8 B A M Q& S B E 0z RN 2014
interests of the Group for the last four financial years, as extracted from 46,317 A FIZ R T3 IR =12 4 ST PO E B I
the published audited financial statements and the prospectus of the  FEFEREE - BEMIEEREROMEZE 7

Company dated 17 June 2014, is set out below. N

Results 4

Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31ALLFE

2014 2013 2012 2011
2014 % 20134 20124 20114
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARSTRT ARBTT ARETT ARETT
Revenue WA 208,853 875,842 164,323 197,765
Profit before tax S IRNE 655,779 608,016 115,173 311,131
Income Tax FriS i (193,275) (212,232) (28,713) (60,402)
Profit for the year FE A 462,504 395,784 86,460 250,729
Attributable to: LA FE(S
Owners of the parent [SYNCIEZEPN 476,504 364,623 79,118 234,070
Non-controlling interests EEaliiE (14,000) 31,161 7,342 16,659
462,504 395,784 86,460 250,729
Assets, Liabilities and Non-controlling Interests ¥%E - &R FZRER
31 December
12H31H
2014 2013 2012 2011
2014 5 20134 20124 2011 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBTT ARETT AREKETT
Total Assets BEE 10,043,821 9,000,465 8,618,526 7,772,943
Total Liabilities FEN=L (5,586,397)  (6,459,183)  (6,515,903)  (5,760,583)
Non-controlling Interests EEaliig (169,550) (214,875) (183,714) (173,631)
4,287,874 2,326,407 1,918,909 1,838,729
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